PACIFIC	COL	LEC	TION
RECEIVED	. 25	$ \mathcal{S} $	04

THE UNIVERSITY OF THE SOUTH PACIFIC LIBRARY

DIGITAL THESES PROJECT

Author Statement of Accessibility- Part 2- Permission for Internet Access

Name of Candidate	: Mr. Melchior Mataki
Degree	: M.Sc.
Department/School	: The University of the South Pacific
Institution/University	, , , ,
Thesis Title	: Online photochemical oxidation and flow injection conductivity determination of dissolved organic carbon in estuarine and coastal waters

Date of completion of requirements for award : Decleud

1. I authorise the University to make this thesis available on the Internet for access by USP authorised users.

2. I authorise the University to make this thesis available on the Internet under the International digital theses project

Signed: Date:

Contact Address

ALF-SD, USP P. DROCK 1168, SUNA

omail: nataki_no vop. ac.fr.

Permanent Address

Call QD 272, F 57 M27 10009.

2 Ata statham R INWELD

e-mail:

July 2004

EF

		THE UNIVERSITY OF THE SOUTH PACIFIC	
		LIBRARY Author Statement of Accessibility	
Nat	me of Candidate	MELCINCE MADALI	
Deg	gree	MSc	
Dep	artment/School	CHEMPTRY DEPT (SPAS)	
Inst	itution/University	UNIVERSITY OF THE SWATP PALIFIC	1
The	sis Title	ON LINE PHOTOLITEMICAL ICK, DATION & FLOW	<u></u>
Dat requ	e of completion of pirements for award	TH ESTUMENCE AND COASTAL WATERS	-GAMIL C.Ar
1.	This thesis may be c	consulted in the Library without the author's permission	Yes/No
2.	This thesis may be c acknowledged.	tited without the author's permission providing it is suitably	Yes/No-
3.	This thesis may be p	hotocopied in whole without the author's written permission	Yes/No
4.	This thesis may be p Part that may be cop	hotocopied in proportion without the author's written permission ied:	Yes/No
	Under 10%	40-60%	
•	10-20%	60-80%	
	20-40%	Over 80%	
5.	I authorise the University in the Library accord	ersity to produce a microfilm or microfiche copy for retention and use ling to rules 1-4 above (for security and preservation purposes mainly)	Yes/No
6.	I authorise the Librar preservation purpose	ry to retain a copy of this thesis in e-format for archival and 18.	Yes/No
7.	After a period of 5 y in whole or in part, i without first seeking	ears from the date of publication, the USP Library may issue the thesis n photostat or microfilm or e-format or other copying medium, the author's written permission.	Yes/No.
8.	I authorise the Unive	reity to make this thesis available on the Internet for access by	Yes/No
Sigr	red:		
Date	16 8 01	<u>+</u>	:
Con	itact Address		:
	CF- PACO	-54, K30	
(P-0 50x 11	<u>68, 54,04, 4)</u> (
Per	manent Address		I
(ST 2 ST	TANTAM RU	:
	VAMWAC	A	
			ļ
			-
			-

ONLINE PHOTOCHEMICAL OXIDATION AND FLOW INJECTION CONDUCTIVITY DETERMINATION OF DISSOLVED ORGANIC CARBON IN ESTUARINE AND COASTAL WATERS

By

Melchior Mataki Department of Chemistry School of Pure and Applied Science

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment for the degree of Master of Science at

The University of the South Pacific

November 1999

Contents

Dedication

Declaration

. -

٠,

Acknowledgement List of Tables List of Figures List of Plates List of Abbreviations

Abstract

CHAPTER

INTRODUCTION

- 1.1 Dissolved organic carbon (DOC)
- 1.2 DOC in the Ocean
- 1.2.1 Anthropogenic sources of DOC in the ocean
- 1.2.2 The major components of DOC
- 1.2.3 Humic substances
- 1.2.4 Carbohydrates
- 1.2.5 Hydrophilic acids
- 1.2.6 Other components of DOC in the ocean
- 1.2.7 The ecological role of DOC in estuarline and marine waters
- 1.2.8 The negative effects of DOC
- 1.3 DOC measurement: Current Methods
- 1.3.1 HTCO methods for DOC analysis
- 1.3.2 WCO methods for DOC analysis
- 1.3.3 Comparative work on DOC via HTCO and WCO
- 1.3.4 The reasons for the disparities between HTCO and WCO methods
- 1.3.4.1 Analytical blanks
- 1.3.4.2 Incomplete Oxidation
- 1.4 Flow injection analysis (FIA)
- 1.4.1 Optimization of an FIA system

1.4.2	Methods developed from the original FIA system	28
1.5	Determination of DOC using FIA	30
1.6	The background of the Project	33
1.7	Research Objectives of this Project	35

CHAPTER 2

EXPERIMENTAL

2.1	Chemicals	36
2.2	Reagents	37
2.2.1	Preparation of distilled deionized water (DDW) and the $35^{o}/_{\infty}$ NaCl solution	3
2.2.2	Preparation of carbon stock solution	37
2.2.3	Preparation of 1M Sulfuric acid	36
2.2.4	Preparation of the Oxidant	39
2.3	Instrumentation	40
2.3.1	Glassware	40
2,3.2	FIA manifold	40
2.3.2.1	The major components of the FIA manifold	43
2.4	Preliminary work on the FIA manifold	48
2.4.1	A typical run	48
2,4,2	Effect of temperature on FIA signals	49
2.4.3	Carbon recovery from model organic compounds	49
2.4.4	"Ghost peak"	50
2.4.5	Detection Limits	51
2.4.6	Calibration standards	52
2.4.7	Sample Collection and conditioning for analysis	5:
2.5	Sites monitored for the determination of DOC levels	5:
2.5.1	The elimination/measurement of inorganic carbon (IC) from natural water samples	5
2.6	Quantification of Chloride interference	5
2.7	Attempts to eliminate/minimize Chloride interference	5
2,7.1	Reduction of the oxident strength	59
2.7.2	50% oxidant strength solution plus catalyst (TiO ₂)	6
2.7.3	The effect of 50% oxidant strength solution + 0.0048g TiO ₂ on the chloride signal	6
2.7.4	Effect of Hydroxylaminehydrochloride (NH $_2$ OH.HCl) on the chloride signal	6

2.7.5	The effect of the micro-porous tubing (Accurel PP S6/2, 0.2µm pore size; Enka) on chloride interference	62
2.8	DOC analysis for the offshore and coastal sites	63
CHAPTE	R 3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS	6
3.1	Effect of temperature on the Carbon and the Chloride signal	64
3.2	Recovery experiments	6
3.2.1	Model organic compounds	6
3.2.1	Organic carbon recovery in the presence of high and low levels of inorganic carbon	70
3.3	"Ghost Peak" (GP) Analysis	7
3.4	Calibration curves	7
3.5	Detection Limits	81
3.6	Attempts to eliminate/measure inorganic carbon (IC)	8
3.6.1	Synthetically Prepared IC standards (25mg/L)	83
3.6.2	Removal of IC from seawater samples	86
3.7	The interference by Chloride on carbon measurement	88
3.7.1	The outcomes of Chloride Quantification	90
3.8	Attempts to eliminate/minimize Chloride interference	92
3.8.1	Reduction of Oxidant power	9,2
3.8.1.1	The use of the catalyst: Titanium dioxide	94
3.8,1,2	The effect of the 50% oxidant + 0.0048g catalyst on chloride interference	97
3,8.2	The effect of Hdroxylaminehydrochloride (NH $_2$ OH.HCl) on the chloride signal	10
3.8.2.1	Effect of 3000mg/L NH ₂ OH.HCl placed in the acid on chloride interference	102
3.8.3	The effect of the micro-porous tubing (Accural PP Type S6/2, 0.2µm pore size; Enka	a)
	on chloride interference	10
3. 9	Gas diffusion and Conductivity detection	10
3.10	DOC measurement	11'
3.10.1	Comparison of the DOC data obtained from the FIA manifold and the	
	Shimadzu 2000-UV HTCO unit	1 1 ·
3.10.2	DOC variation in the sites sampled as determined by the FIA system	118
3.10.2.1	Coastal sites	11 [,]
3.10.2.2	Offshore sites	12:
3.10,3	Average hydrographic parameters	12:
		:

3.10.4	General discussion on the samples analyzed	130
4	CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	134
REFERE	INCES	138

APPENDIX

DEDICATION

This thesis is dedicated to my parents for their consistent love and support throughout academic endeavors.

í

DECLARATION

I declare that this thesis is a result of my own work, except for those sections expliacknowledged herein. The main content of this thesis has not been previously submifor a higher degree at any other university.

Melchior.Mataki

Dr K C.Kosily (Supervisor)

i

i

ii

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This thesis is a culmination of a project that involved the modification of an FIA method and its subsequent application for the measurement of DOC in estuarine and marine samples. The two parts of the project involved numerous tasks that have been achieved through the advice, assistance and cooperation of a number of people.

It is an honor to acknowledge and to give my heart felt thanks to my one and only Supervisor, Dr K.C.Koshy whose great effort and encouragement has made this project a success.

I am also indebted to thank my Sponsors, the Solomon Island Government and the British USP scholarship for their financial assistance in terms of tuition fees, maintenance and research allowances. Furthermore, I would like to thank the USP Chemistry Department for the extension of my Graduate Assistant tenure. Am also thankful for the assistance and brilliant ideas from the following in the course of the project.

- The Technical staff of the USP Chemistry Department: William Peter, Vas Deo, Kamlesh, Sese, Vilikesa, Shareena, Thomas, Tala and Eva and the Technical staff of the USP Marine Studies Programme.
- Dr Culwick Togamana, for his suggestions regarding the format of the thesis and words of encouragement as a "wantok".

üi

- Dr K.Osei, for the assistance rendered on the statistical analysis of the DOC data obtained in this project.
- Br Varaghese of Monfort Boys Town, for allowing me to use their HTCO Shimadzu 2000-UV unit for my DOC comparative work.
- · Ernest Siota, for his unrelenting work on the graphics used in this thesis.

Lastly, but not the least I would like to express my sincere love and gratitude to "*MEDTS*" and my "*Wantok*" friends from the Solomon Islands and my Postgraduate colleagues for their support and friendship through out the course of my studies.

ίγ

LIST OF TABLES

Tables	Page
1. Some of the commercial and custom built HTCO instruments	16
2. Selected WCO instruments/methods	17
3. Comparison of DOC values for HTCO and WCO methods	19
4. Sites Descriptions	56
 Comparison of carbon signal in terms of peak area and chloride Interference at 58°C and 70°C 	64
6. Carbon recoveries of model organic compounds (5mg C/L)	68
7. Carbon recoveries at high and low levels of inorganic carbon (IC)	70
 Representation of Ghost peaks from selected sites under UV on & off as well as treatment with and without ultra pure Nitrogen gas + boiling 	72
9. Typical calibration equations used in the project	76
10. Analytical sensitivities for a range of carbon concentrations	80
11. The peak areas of 25mg C/L (DDW and 35% NaCl solution) and three	
water samples before and after acidification plus $N_2\mbox{-bubbling}$ and sonication	85
12. The interference by chloride on the measurement of carbon (iC) standards	88
 The carbon recovery of a 5mg C/L (DDW, KHP) standard using different oxidant strength solutions 	93
 Recovery tests of 50% oxidant and 50% oxidant + catalyst on varying organic carbon levels represented by KHP (DDW) standards 	96
15. Effect of 50% oxidant + 0.0048g TiO2 on chloride interference	98
16. %Clox obtained via two different oxidants	99
 The effect of varying concentrations of hydroxylaminehydrochioride (NH₂OH.HCl) on the chloride signal under 100% oxidant strength solution 	101

v

18. The effect of NH ₂ OH.HCI on the carbon signals for both IC and KHP	103
19. The effect of NH_2OH.HCl on chloride interference on standards prepared in $35^{9}/_{60}$ NaCl solution	104
 Effect of the micro-porous tubing on chloride interference on carbon standards prepared in DDW and 35⁹/₀₀ NaCI solution 	106
21. The average DOC values for the sites using the FIA manifold used in this project and the average DOC values obtained from a Shimadzu 2000-UV HTCO under the average DOC values obtained from a Shimadzu 2000-UV HTCO under the sites are sites as a site of the site of	nit 113
22. Hydrographic parameters of the sites monitored	129
23. DOC data obtained from estuarine and marine water samples	132

vi

LIST OF FIGURES

Figures	Page
1. Structure of a fulvic acid	8
2. Generalized FIA system	24
 Effect of diffusion and convection on the sample zone as it moves toward the detector 	27
4. The FIA manifold used by (Koshy <i>et al.,</i> 1992)	32
5. The schematic of the FIA system used in this work	42
6.Peristaltic pump	43
7. Reodyne six way valve	44
8. Diffusion manifold	46
9. Conductivity detector	46
10. The sites sampled for DOC	55
11. %Cl _{ex} at 58ºC and 70ºC versus carbon concentration	67
 Plots of Peak areas versus samples under different Treatments with the UV-source on 	73
 The calibration curves for the standards (DDW and 35‰ NaCl solution) prepared on 8/8/97 and 9/8/97 	79
14. %Cl $_{\rm ox}$ versus inorganic carbon concentration in the 35‰ NaCl solution	89
15. %Cl _{ox} using 100% oxidant & 50% oxidant + catalyst	100
 Plots of %Cl_{ex} versus concentration with (w) and without (wo) the micro-porous tubing 	107

vii

.....

17. Standard deviations versus DOC concentration for the raw DOC data	115
18. Standard deviations versus DOC concentrations for the transformed data	1 1 5
19. Average FIA DOC data versus Average Shimadzu 2000-UV DOC data	116
20. DOC data for the coastal sites	119
21. DOC data for the offshore sites	124

viij

LIST OF PLATES

Plates	Page
1. The FIA manifold used in this project	41
2. Diffusion manifold	47
3. Conductivity detector	47

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- 1. mg C/L..... milligram carbon per liter (ppm)
- 2. mg/L....milligram per liter
- 3. L.....Equivalent to decimeter cube (dm³)
- 4. %Clos.....Percentage chloride oxidized (A measure of chloride interference)
- 5. DDW,....., Distilled deionized water
- 6. 35% NaCl solution....35g of NaCl salt dissolved in one liter
- 7. DOC.....Dissolved organic carbon
- 8. KHP.....Potassium hydrogen phthalate
- 10. IC.....Inorganic carbon
- 11. µm...... Micrometer
- 13. ICm......Inorganic carbon measured in a natural water sample
- 14. SD......Standard deviation
- 15. MS.....millsiemens
- 16. UV.....Ultra violet
- 17. HTCO...... High temperature catalytic oxidation
- 18. WCO,...... Wet chemical oxidation
- 19. n.....Number of experimental trials
- 20. mm.....millimeter
- 21. R².....Correlation coefficient
- 22. ANOVA Analysis of variance
- 23. M......Moles per Liter

x

ABSTRACT

The determination of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) using flow injection analysis (FIA) was initially achieved through an FIA method described by (Koshy *et al.*, 1992). Their method involved the photochemical oxidation of DOC using persulfate and the gas diffusion of the carbon dioxide which was measured spectrophotometrically. The above method was reported to suffer from chloride interference when saline samples were analyzed.

This thesis presents the results of a research into the interference by chloride on the measurement of DOC using a modified FIA method based on the one described by (Koshy et al., 1992). The work began in the middle of 1997 after considering the importance of DOC as a water quality parameter and the lack of a cheap and reliable method for DOC determination in the South Pacific. Furthermore, it became apparent that there was a need for a baseline study of DOC in the Suva lagoon given the input of organic substances from land based sources via the rivers streams, creeks, storm water outlets and the Kinoya sewage outfall into the lagoon.

By preparing corresponding concentrations of inorganic carbon (IC) in distilled deionized water (DDW) and in the $35^{\circ}/_{00}$ NaCl solution (to simulate seawater) and analyzing them on the modified FIA method, it was established that chloride interfered with the measurement of DOC even with the modified FIA method. The interference by chloride (%Cl_{ox}) was found to be masked by IC to levels as low as 1% in the presence of IC concentrations greater than 8mg/L. The masking effect of IC on chloride interference was

xi

facilitated by the rapid decrease in the ratio of chloride to IC as the concentration of IC increased. Because of the generally high levels of IC (near 20mg/L) in estuarine and coastal waters (Manahan, 1994), the masking effect of IC on chloride interference was incorporated to the modified FIA method.

With respect to the specific objectives of this project, attempts were made to eliminate or minimize chloride Interference using a reduced oxidant (50% oxidant strength solution) boosted with а catalyst (TíÔ₂), а reducina agent (NH₂OH.HCi: Hydroxylaminehydrochloride) and a micro-porous tubing (Accure) PP Type S6/2 0.2um pore size; Enka). When the catalyst was used with the reduced oxidant (50% oxidant strength solution) it raised the DOC recovery back to 100%. Unfortunately, the interference by chloride was also increased in the range of 12% to 51% greater than the levels of chloride interference observed with the 100% oxidant strength solution alone. NH₂OH.HCl reduced the chloride signal by 81±3% on its own. In the presence of carbon (IC or DOC), the interference by chloride was reduced in the range of 80% to 98%. On the other hand, chloride interference was reduced by the micro-porous tubing by an average of 95%. It was apparent that the masking effect of IC on chloride interference was comparable to the minimization capacities of the reducing agent and the microporous tubing. Furthermore, the choice to utilize the masking effect of IC in the determination of DOC in estuarine and coastal waters did not alter the configuration of the modified FIA method.

xli

The FIA method was found suitable for the determination of DOC in estuarine and coastal waters because it has a reasonably high carbon recovery of 98±9%, sample throughput of 60 samples per hour and a method detection limit (MDL) of 0.8mg/L (DOC). The carbon recovery of the modified FIA method described in this work was comparable to the carbon recoveries of a similar FIA method for DOC determination and a Beckman high temperature combustion instrument reported by (Koshy *et al.*, 1992). The MDL (0.8mg/L) of this modified FIA method made it suitable for the measurement of DOC in most estuarine and coastal waters because of the organic input from the land and the level of productivity in these types of waters. Moreover the interference by chloride on the measurement of DOC could be controlled in the FIA method described in this work.

The baseline study of DOC indicated that the organic discharge from the greater Suva land mass through the rivers, creeks, storm water outlets and the Kinoya sewage outfall significantly contributed to the DOC present in the Suva lagoon. The assertion was substantiated by the wide variation of DOC in each site on each day of sampling. The detectable DOC levels in the Suva lagoon in the period of study varied from 0.8mg/L to 35mg/L. The trend observed in the short period of study was that the levels of DOC in the sites monitored could be doubled or tripled when the Suva area experienced an average rainfall as low as 0.1mm in the three days prior to sampling. The modified FIA method described in this work could be used for the long term monitoring of DOC in the Suva lagoon and predictions could be made on the lagoon's DOC budget.

xiji

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Dissolved Organic Carbon (DOC)

Carbon is the link between the inorganic environment and the living organisms. The carbon cycle basically illustrates the interchange of carbon between the atmosphere, hydrosphere, biosphere and the lithosphere (Stumm & Morgan, 1981). The focus of this thesis is the dissolved organic carbon (DOC) in natural waters, specifically marine and estuarine waters. In natural waters, the total organic carbon (TOC) is composed of particulate organic carbon (POC) and DOC. In most of these waters, the concentration of DOC is greater than the concentration of POC. For example, in the sea, the concentration of DOC surpasses POC by a factor of 50-100% (Robards *et al.*, 1994).

DOC in natural waters is usually made up of fatty acids, carbohydrates, amino acids, hydrocarbons, hydrophilic acids, fulvic acids, humic acids, viruses and clay-humic-metal complexes (Thurman, 1985, Libes, 1992 and Robards *et al.*, 1994). DOC is operationally defined by most analysts as the organic fraction that passes through a 0.45µm Millipore filter (Thurman, 1985) although DOC had been argued by (Jackson, 1988) to include POC. In this work, DOC would refer to the organic fraction that passes through a

0.45µm Millipore filter. The above argument probably arose from the difficulty in establishing the difference between particulate and dissolved organic carbon.

About 10% of DOC in most natural waters is made up of colloids. These colloids are basically large assemblages of humic acids with very large molecular weights of the order of 2,000 ~100,000 (Thurman, 1985 and Chen & Wangersky, 1993). The colloids can be separated from water by cross-flow ultrafiltration or other methods resulting in a number of sizes and molecular weights (Guo *et al.*, 1995).

In fresh water bodies, DOC levels can be a few mg/L or occasionally in bogs and swamps, it could be as high as 50mg/L (Stumm & Morgan, 1981). In oceanic waters, DOC levels vary around 0.5mg/L, but can also be as high as 20mg/L in coastal waters and at the continental shelf (Riley & Chester, 1971 and Stumm & Morgan, 1981). The thin layer at the interface of seawater and the air (microlayer, <1 μ m in thickness) has a concentration range of DOC from 1.4 to 18mg/L. The DOC in the microlayer results from the high level of biological activity prevalent in it and the microlayer behaves like a polysaccharlne – protein complex (Cauwet, 1976 and Ogura, 1976).

The actual concentration of DOC in an aquatic body will depend on the net productivity in terms of phytopiankton exudation and lysis, animal excretion and anthropogenic imports (rivers, industrial effluents, sewage outfalls etc.)

over outflow factors like uptake by organisms, biodegradation and sedimentation (Stumm & Morgan, 1981 and Libes, 1992). On the other hand, current movements and geochemical processes like sorption/partition, precipitation, volatilization, oxidation/reduction (both chemical and biochemical) and complexation within a water body will also affect the DOC concentration at a particular site (Thurman, 1985).

1.2 DOC in the Ocean

The total DOC in seawater is estimated at 10¹⁸g, which is equivalent to a concentration of 0.7mg C/L (Riley & Skirrow, 1975) and is a major reservoir of organic carbon (Robards *et al.*, 1994 and Strom *et al.*, 1997). In coastal waters, because of increased phytoplankton activity and the input from land, DOC values can be as high as 20mg/L (Riley & Chester 1971). However, in estuaries, the concentration of DOC is about 10mg/L in the absence of any obvicus input from the land (Head, 1976).

Terrestrial DOC can be transported to the ocean by wind, rivers or sediment pore run off and surface run off via storm water outlets and creeks. Rivers are by far the most prolific channels of DOC to the ocean, albeit the argument that the majority of DOC in the ocean is produced *in situ* (Thurman, 1985 and Libes, 1992). The above argument was based on the observation that rivers generally have low average annual DOC fluxes of 1.1×10⁸g C/year with DOC levels in the range of 1-20mg/L (Libes, 1992). However, in areas of tropical climate where black water rivers are found, DOC concentrations may

range from 10 to 30mg/L. Furthermore, the DOC concentrations of rivers are not significantly affected by changing river discharges (Thurman, 1985).

The *in situ* production of DOC is led by the phytoplanktons via exudation and cell lysis (Lancelot, 1984, Lee & Wakeham, 1988, Libes, 1992 and Lee & Henrichs, 1993). The role of phytoplanktons in DOC production is also *important in other natural water bodies like lakes, where such release is of* ecological significance because the DOC released provides a source of energy to heterotrophic consumers and decomposers (Stumm & Morgan, 1981). The release of DOC by phytoplanktons is also considered to be a functional response of individual cells to changes in environmental conditions (Sundh, 1991). In addition to phytoplanktons, planktonic grazers like copepods and protist grazers also contribute to DOC production via excretion (Strom *et al.*, 1997). Other marine organisms also excrete DOC via their wastes and the decomposition of their dead bodies by microorganisms like bacteria and fungi (Lee & Wakeham, 1988, Lee & Henrichs, 1993) and Jaffes *et al.*, 1996).

1.2.1 Anthropogenic sources of DOC in the ocean

DOC may be derived from degradation products of terrestrial plants and animals, alternatively from sewage and industrial effluent, and are generally transported to the ocean via rivers, streams, ocean sewage outfalls and sediment pore waters (Robards *et al.*, 1994). Sewage input is by far one of the major contributors of the organic load to coastal seawaters. Sewage

effluents will usually contain wastes from domestic, commercial and food processing sources (Manahan, 1994). The concentration of TOC in marine waters receiving domestic and industrial sewage wastes occasionally exceed 100mg/L (Kennish, 1997). This is an alarming concentration because normal marine waters will generally have low DOC concentrations of a few milligrams per litre (Stumm & Morgan, 1981).

The amount of DOC transported via rivers to the ocean will depend on the activities in the rivers and on their banks, for example, agriculture, raw sewage dumping, logging, soil erosion and dredging. The transport of the DOC originating from such activities to the sea can be accelerated by rain (Clair & Ehrman, 1996). Consequently, DOC from these anthropogenic sources can offset the natural balance resulting in a host of problems to the water body (see section 1.2.8).

1.2.2 The major components of DOC

Molecular weight distribution studies had shown that DOC has a number of different fractions (Guo *et al.*, 1995). However, not all the components/fractions of DOC can be identified and quantified easily in a routine laboratory procedure. The analytical difficulties associated with DOC identification and quantification in the sea are consequences of low DOC levels, interference by salt ions, complexities of some of the DOC components and their inherent chemical inertness (Libes, 1992). Because of the analytical difficulties associated with the measurement of individual

5

i

dissolved organic substances, bulk fractions like DOC and POC have been defined and measured. Humic acids, carbohydrates and hydrophilic acids have been identified as the major constituents of DOC (Stumm & Morgan, 1981, Thurman, 1985 and Rashid, 1985).

1.2.3 Humic substances

Humic substances account for 40-60% of the total DOC in seawater (Stumm & Morgan, 1981 and Thurman, 1985). Humic substances have been operationally identified as the colored polyelectrolytic organic acids, with carboxylic, hydroxyl and phenolic functional groups, which can be separated from water on XAD resins (nonionic macroporous resins) (Thurman, 1985 and Robards *et al.*, 1994). A similar distribution of DOC occurs in black stream waters and the major components of DOC identified are humic and fulvic acids, (Leff & Meyer, 1991). Figure 1 shows the typical structure of fulvic acid. The humic fraction consists of fulvic, humic and humin acids that can be separated at different pH levels. In aquatic bodies the humin fraction is insignificant compared to the fulvic and humin fractions. The humic acids can be precipitated from natural water samples by acidification to pH levels less than two (Stumm & Morgan, 1981 and Robards *et al.*, 1994). The remaining water after acidification should have the fulvic fraction.

Humic acids have very little carboxylic groups compared to fulvic acids and this is the main reason for the low solubility of humic acids (hydrophobic) in seawater. Furthermore, humic acid molecules are two to ten times larger

than fulvic acids and also have long chains of fatty acids ($C_{12} - C_{18}$) and these factors also contribute to the hydrophobic nature of humic acids. On the other hand, fulvic acids generally have abundant hydroxyl and phenolic groups (Thurman, 1985), which make them more soluble (hydrophilic) in seawater.

The aliphatic content of marine humic substances is greater than that of terrestrial humic substances and marine fulvic acids have very little or no phenolic hydroxyl functional groups, (Thurman, 1985 and Rashid, 1985). The aliphatic nature of marine humic substances make them less susceptible to coagulation than terrestrial humic substances. The coagulation of terrestrial humic substances is facilitated by the aromatic groups which have been said to be susceptible to flocculation when exposed to high concentration of electrolytes especially at a salinity range of 15 to 20psu (practical salinity unit) (Thurman, 1985 and Libes 1992).

Terrestrial humic substances also contribute indirectly to the formation of marine humic substances by biologically conditioning the seawater, which can result in the high production of phytoplanktons (Prakash *et al.*, 1973). Quinones, the aromatic constituents of terrestrial humic substances are responsible for the growth of phytoplankton (Prakash *et al.*, 1973). Researches by a number of workers have confirmed the positive effect of terrestrial humic substances on the productivity/growth of coastal phytoplankton communities (Fernandez, 1968, Lee & Bartlett, 1976 and Carlsson, 1999). Consequently, a larger number of phytoplankton will

increase the amount of DOC they release to the surrounding water. Unfortunately increased productivity by phytoplankton can sometimes result in red tide blooms (Carlsson, 1999).



Apart from the DOC exuded by phytoplankton and from the decomposition of organic matter by microorganisms, humic substances are also produced from organic compounds by polymerization resulting from photochemical reactions of the marine DOC (Moran & Zepp 1997). The UV radiation absorbed by the chromophores present in the organic compounds assist in the polymerization reactions (Morris & Hagreaves 1997). The organic compounds involved in the polymerization reactions have been confirmed through chemical and isotopic studies to be degradation products of phytoplanktons (Nissenbaum & Kaplan, 1972 and Libes 1992). Photochemical reactions also result in the production of low molecular weight DOC and inorganic products like inorganic carbon (IC) and carbon monoxide (Zepp *et al.*, 1995). Humic substances are resistant to oxidation by bacteria,

1.2.4 Carbohydrates

Carbohydrates account for 5-10% of the DOC, in seawater (Thurman, 1985). All forms of planktonic cells (phytoplankton and zooplankton) consist of 10-70% carbohydrate and the DOC they release to the water column has a 30% component as carbohydrate (Heliebust, 1965, Burney *et al.*, 1981, litekot *et al.*, 1981, Mopper *et al.*, 1995 and Strom *et al.*, 1997). The contribution by carbohydrates to DOC has not been considered significant in the past because of the insensitive analytical techniques used for their measurement. The carbohydrates identified were predominantly polysaccharides (Thurman, 1985 and Strom *et al.*, 1997). Carbohydrates are highly reactive substrates and they support heterotrophic metabolism (Skoog & Benner, 1997).

1.2.5 Hydrophilic acids

Apart from fulvic and humic acids, there is another subclass of humic substances known as hydrophilic acids. Hydrophilic acids are organic acids that cannot be retained by the XAD resins at pH 2 (Thurman, 1985). The hydrophilic acid component of humic substances is a mixture of simple and complex acids. The range of acids could be from simple fatty acids to complex polyelectrolytic acids with numerous hydroxyl and carboxyl functional groups (Thurman, 1985). In seawater hydrophilic acids, constitute 50% of the DOC (Thurman, 1985). However, since the hydrophilic acids have been isolated only recently, very little is known about their structures and chemistry.

1.2.6 Other components of DOC in the ocean

The metabolic activities of marine organisms also results in the production of a range of biomolecules that form part of DOC in the ocean. These compounds (biomolecules) include, hydrocarbons, lipids, carboxylic acids and amino acids (Thurman, 1985, Stumm & Morgan, 1981, Rashid, 1985 and Libes, 1992). These compounds usually constitute 10 to 20% of the total DOC in most natural water bodies (Thurman, 1985 and Stumm & Morgan, 1981). The quantification and identification of these biomolecules are quits difficult because of their very low concentrations in seawater. These biomolecules can undergo biochemical and chemical condensation reactions to form complex assemblages and eventually polymerize to form humic substances (Rashid, 1985). Apart from these, there are other trace compounds like aldehydes, sterols, organic bases, organic sulfur compounds, alcohols, ketones, ethers, chlorophyll and other pigments, and organic contaminants (Thurman, 1985) that are present as DOC in estuarine and marine coastal waters.

1.2.7 The ecological role of DOC in estuarine and marine waters

DOC plays an important role in the biogeochemistry of any aquatic system because it is a component of the total carbon which is cycled through organisms, the water body, sediments and plants (Stumm & Morgan, 1981). Therefore the bulk analysis of water for DOC is essential for the overall

understanding of the production-decomposition cycle and the spatlal temporal variability of DOC in an aquatic system (Robards et al., 1994).

The tissue of all the plants and animals in the marine and estuarine waters have significant amounts of carbon. The carbon is taken in by the organisms primarily in the dissolved state. In other words, DOC in aquatic ecosystems provides energy and carbon for the metabolism of heterotrophic bacteria plus some species of phytoplankton which can subsist heterotrophically on dissolved organic substrates (Riley & Chester, 1971 and Volk *et al.*, 1997). Marine organisms also release DOC compounds to control some aspects of their environment. The released compounds can function as toxins to repel predators and competitors, neutralize toxins and to function as attractants for mating (Sundh, 1991 and Libes, 1992).

DOC in the form of humic substances have phenolic, hydroxyl and carboxylic groups that can chelate with toxic metal ions like Hg²⁺, Al³⁺ and Pb²⁺ (Manahan, 1994). When toxic metals bind to DOC, their toxicity is reduced. This is because dissolved metal ions (free metal ions) are more toxic compared to their complexed form (Barber & Ryther, 1969, Campbell & Meadows, 1988 and Chin & Benoit, 1997). For example, it has been shown that the molecular weight, functional group chemistry and the lability of organic compounds have a controlling effect on the mercury cycling processes such as methylation and volatilization (Chin & Benoit, 1997). In aquatic systems, the complexation processes of metal ions by DOC also results in the transport of the metal ions through the up take of the

complexed DOC by organisms and the aggregation of DOC on particulate matter which eventually sink to the ocean bed (Stumm & Morgan, 1981).

The chelation of essential ions like Mg²⁺, Ca²⁺ and Fe²⁺ is another important role of humic substances with respect to living systems in aquatic bodies like the sea. In the chelated form, the essential ions can be taken in by living organisms and furthermore, chelation prevents the essential ions from precipitating.

DOC, primarily in the form of humic and fulvic acids, binds organic pollutants such as phthalates and pesticides as in the case of heavy metals (Stumm & Morgan, 1981). Humic acids have a greater affinity for hydrophobic compounds than fulvic acids. In addition, unlike fulvic acids, humic acid's binding ability is not affected by large changes in pH. This is because fulvic acids are soluble throughout the entire pH range; therefore they are available for binding with suitable metal centers and organic pollutants (Fabrizo & Jussi, 1997). The storage of DOC by marine plants also assist in moderating the atmospheric concentration of the greenhouse gas carbon dioxide, because DOC acts as a sink for carbon dioxide (Hanseli, 1995). Thus the longer the ocean retains CO_2 in terms of DOC the better it is for minimizing the greenhouse effect.

The ultimate fate of DOC in an aquatic system is its exidation to carbon dioxide by bacteria, fungi, protozoan and animals present in water (Libes, 1992). Consequently, an excess of DOC might impose considerable demand on the exygen budget of the water bodies (Jackson, 1988 and Robards *et al.*, 1994), seriously affecting water quality.

At 25°C and 1 atmosphere pressure, a water body will have an oxygen content of 8.32mg/L, and this can be consumed by 7.8mg of organic matter (Manahan, 1994). The above estimates are based on this equation, CH_2O + $O_2 \rightarrow CO_2 + H_2O$, which is a representation of the DOC degradation (Manahan, 1994). DOC concentration correlates positively with apparent oxygen utilization (Hung & Chang, 1992), further reiterating the detrimental effect an excessive amount of DOC can have on the oxygen budget in any aquatic system.

Oxygen depletion is also related to eutrophication (the enrichment of aquatic bodies with nutrients like phosphate ($PO_4^{3^\circ}$), nitrite (NO_2°) and nitrate (NO_3°)) (Manahan, 1994 and Kennish, 1997). Apart from the inorganic forms of the nutrients, the dissolved organic forms of the nutrients in marine waters may also be valuable sources for autotrophic growth (Kennish, 1997). The input of nutrients to estuaries and coastal waters tend to accelerate primary production (in phytoplanktons), when one of the nutrients become limited, the

phytoplankton (essentially DOC) perish and their decomposition can lead to extensive oxygen consumption as a result of increased rates of animal respiration and the decomposition activity of microorganisms (Blackmore *et al.*, *1987* and Clark, 1992). However, at the initial stages of eutrophication oxygen is also produced by the phytoplankton through photosynthesis (Kennish, 1997). Anoxic (lack of oxygen) conditions initiated through eutrophication have been reported in a number of coastal marine waters (Pokryfki & Randall, 1987, Portnoy, 1991, Doi & Nitta, 1991, Seiki *et al.*, 1991 and D' Avanzo & Kremer, 1994).

1.3 DOC measurement: Current Methods

The accurate measurement of DOC has not received much attention for most of the past two decades (Sharp *et al.*, 1993b) mostly because of the difficulties associated with experimental DOC determination (Hung & Chang, 1992). Renewed Interest in DOC measurement was prompted by its importance in global ocean fluxes (Legendre & Goseiin, 1989) and in the microbial cycles (Kirchman *et al.*, 1991).

DOC in natural waters is normally measured by high temperature catalytic oxidation (HTCO) or wet chemical oxidation (WCO) methods. The two methods have different variations depending on the instrument specification. The basis of all the methods of measuring DOC has been the oxidation of DOC, followed by separation and the measurement of the resultant carbon dioxide (Wangersky, 1993 and Robards *et al.*, 1994). Neither HTCO nor

WCO is perfect, yet most analysts consider the HTCO techniques to be more reliable, since complete combustion of DOC is usually achieved during oxidation (Mackinon, 1978 and Hung & Chang, 1992).

1.3.1 HTCO methods for DOC analysis

The HTCO techniques employ high temperatures of the order of 600°C or more for the oxidation of DOC to carbon dioxide (Perdue *et al.*, 1993). The quantification of the carbon dioxide can be achieved through a variety of procedures like gas chromatography, capacitance manometry and nondispersive infra red spectrometry (Aleprin & Martens, 1993 and Robards *et al.*, 1994). Suitable catalysts like platinum, silica and alumina also assist the oxidation process. There are various commercial HTCO units available in the market along with their locally built or modified versions. In Table 1 are given examples of such commercially available HTCO instruments for the routine DOC determination in seawater. The major setbacks of HTCO methods are contamination and poor reproducibility (Hung & Chang, 1992).

All the instruments in Table 1 have detection limits, which can range from one part per billion to several parts per million. The instruments also have their own limitations that can be specific to a particular instrument or generic to a range of instruments especially when the mode of detection of carbon dioxide is the same. The limitations are usually associated with the interference from chloride that is present in large amounts in seawater,

although most of these instruments have halogen scrubbers to eliminate chloride interference.

Table 1

Some of the commercial and custom built HTCO instruments

Type of Instrument	Reference	year
Shimadzu TOC 500	Sharp et al.	1993b
Shimadzu TOC 5000	Sharp et al.	1993b
Dohrman DC-190	Sharp et al.	1993b
Sumigraph TOC 90	Hedges <i>et al</i> .	1993
Beckman 915-C analyzer	Koshy et al.	1992
Ionics TC-TOC 555	Sharp et al.	1993b
Mackinon HTCO unit	Mackinon	1978
Columetrics 5020-TC	Hedges et al.	1993
Sugimura &Şuzuki HTCO unit	Sugimura & Suzuki	1988

1.3.2 WCO methods for DOC analysis

WCO methods utilize oxidants like persulfate and mercury (II) chloride to oxidize DOC to carbon dioxide. WCO methods and instruments are usually operated at temperatures in the range of 50°C to 120°C (Aleprin & Martens, 1993 and Hedges *et al.,* 1993). WCO methods can also be used in combination with an UV source and a catalyst. A strong UV source on its own
can be used as an oxidant to oxidize DOC (Robards *et al.*, 1994). Nowadays, UV sources and oxidants have been combined for enhanced oxidation and these combined units are more popular than the other conventional methods, see table 2. The combined units have been classified here as the WCO methods.

Table 2

Selected WCO instruments/methods

Instrument/Method	Reference	Year
Duursma-WCO	Duursma	1961
UV-Persulfate (Technicon Instrument)		1978
UV-Photo-oxidation	Gershey of al.	1979
Technicon A11-UV-Persulfate	Hedges et al.	1993
HM Automatic- UV-Persulfate	*	u
01 700-TOC Persulfate	•	-
UV-Persulfate	Mantoura & Woodward	1983
UV-Persulfate	Williams & Druffell	1988
Ampoulated UV-Persulate	Sharp et al.	1993c

Different analysts sometimes use their own variations of the commercially available WCO instruments. Some of the instruments listed in table 2 were custom built.

1.3.3 Comparative work on DOC via HTCO and WCO

Comparative studies between HTCO and WCO methods have been done by a number of workers (Gershey et al., 1979, Riley & Skirrow, 1975, Sugimura & Suzuki, 1988, Wangersky, 1993, Tugrul, 1993, Hedges et al., 1993, Chen & Wangersky, 1993, Miller et al., 1993, Sharp et al., 1993b&c and Tupas et al., 1994). In all such studies it was found that the DOC values obtained from HTCO methods were generally higher than the DOC data for the same seawater samples obtained from WCO methods. The comparative work by Sugimura and Suzuki in 1988 recorded the largest difference between HTCO and WCO. On the other hand, attempts to reproduce the work by Sugimura and Suzuki have not been successful (Chen & Wangersky, 1993, Sharp et al., 1993b). Nevertheless that did not diminish the concern for the disparity between WCO and HTCO methods. It was also reported in other works that seawater samples initially oxidized by WCO methods and subsequently reoxidized by HTCO methods recorded a significant amount of residual DOC (Druffel et al., 1989 and Suzuki & Tanoue, 1991). Furthermore, the amount of residual DOC was equivalent to the difference in the DOC values obtained from WCO and HTCO methods (William et al., 1993).

Comparison of DOC values for HTCO and WCO methods	

Authors	% Difference
	[HTCO - WCO] x [100/WCO]
(Riley and Skirrow, 1975)	50-60
(Gershey et al., 1979)	5-10
(Wangersky, 1993)	10
(Tugrul, 1993)	32-33
(Hedges <i>et al.</i> , 1993)	2-4
(Sugimura and Suzuki,	50-400
1988)	
(Sharp et al., 1993b)	10-15
(Chen & Wangersky, 1993)	5-60
(Miller <i>et al.,</i> 1993)	50

Note: The above sources did not indicate the levels of uncertainty

In some comparative studies, differences between HTCO and WCO have been statistically found to be insignificant (Hedges *et al.*, 1993, DeBaar *et al.*, 1993, Kaplan, 1992 and Aleprin & Martens, 1993). It is apparent from the debate for and against the significant difference between HTCO and WCO data, that there is still a controversy over the methods for the accurate measurement of DOC (Tupas *et al.*, 1994). A compromise between HTCO and WCO and WCO methods is out of reach at the moment, because there is no comprehensive description of the DOC pool in seawater and none of the

methods available at the moment fulfil all the criteria set for accuracy (William et al., 1993).

1.3.4 The reasons for the disparities between HTCO and WCO methods

The reported differences between HTCO and WCO methods discussed previously and reported elsewhere compelled DOC analysts to search for possible explanations to account for the differences. Generally, the HTCO methods were elucidating DOC values greater than the DOC values registered by the classical WCO methods for the same estuarine and marine samples. The generally higher DOC data obtained through HTCO methods undermined the fact that most model organic compounds and known DOC substances in seawater were oxidized efficiently by WCO methods (Perdue *et al.*, 1993 and Chen & Wangersky, 1993). Furthermore, the WCO methods have at that stage been accepted as standard techniques and the new data via HTCO had put into question the established data on marine DOC via WCO methods (Sugimura & Suzuki, 1988 and Lee & Henrichs, 1993).

1.3.4.1 Analytical blanks

The under estimation or total disregard of the analytical blank of DOC analysis with HTCO methods was one of the major factors (Miller *et al.*, 1993, Chen & Wangersky, 1993, Sharp *et al.*, 1993b, Hedges *et al.*, 1993 and Cauwet, 1994) for the high DOC values reported. For example, a rigorous assessment of DOC data obtained from twenty different WCO and HTCO

instruments/methods showed that the variability in the DOC data was caused by unaccounted blanks (Hedges *et al.,* 1993).

HTCO methods will have a reagent, water and system blanks. The blanks associated with HTCO methods arise from the possible DOC contributions from the chemicals used to prepare the reagents, the water used to prepare the reagents and from spurious signals inherent with that particular instrument. The reagent and water blanks can be controlled, because reagents of high purity (carbon free) can be obtained as well as (ow carbon water (William *et al.*, 1993). However, the system blank is difficult to establish, despite it being dependent on the type of catalyst, the support system and the carbon carried over from the previous injection (Perdue *et al.*, 1993). In most cases the system blanks DOC contributions will be less than the detection limits of the instruments (Miller *et al.*, 1993).

1.3.4.2 Incomplete Oxidation

Since WCO methods recorded the lower DOC values it is appropriate to consider the possibility of incomplete oxidation in this context. The oxidation of DOC via WCO methods can produce organic intermediates that are more refractory than the starting material (Peyton, 1993). As a consequence these organic intermediates would not contribute to the total DOC recorded. Humic substances and proteins are major components of DOC in marine waters. These substances are capable of reacting with chloride in sea water to produce organochlorines which have been demonstrated to be amongst the

most refractory substances to WCO and HTCO methods (Rook, 1977 and Lee & Henrichs, 1993). Furthermore, incomplete oxidation can also be caused by decreased availability of hydroxyl radicals as a consequence of chloride scavenging, (Peyton, 1993). The reaction between the persulfate radical and chloride ion is illustrated by the following equation.

 $SO_4^* + C\Gamma \rightarrow SO_4^{2*} + CI$ (Minisci *et al.*, 1983).

Algal species, phytoplankton and bacteria are capable of releasing high molecular weight DOC fractions, especially at the surface of the sea and at estuaries. The high molecular weight DOC fractions have been speculated to be colloidal and can only be measured by HTCO methods (Sugimura & Suzuki, 1988 and Lee & Henrichs, 1993). Furthermore, these macromolecules could also contain sulfur and other constituents that inhibit oxidation (Lee & Henrichs, 1993).

The matching of the differences in the DOC data obtained through HTCO and WCO methods is still debatable, although factors like unaccounted blanks, refractory intermediates and colloidal DOC have been identified as the basis for the differences. Consequently, it is appropriate at this stage that both methods (HTCO and WCO) are used for DOC determination until a compromise is reached. Furthermore, as discussed earlier on, in some comparative studies the differences between HTCO and WCO methods in terms of the DOC determined for the same seawater samples were not significantly different.

1.4 Flow injection analysis (FIA)

In this project, we have used FIA principles for the modification of a method to measure DOC in estuarine and coastal waters. The Danish scientists Ruzicka and Hansen first proposed FIA in 1974. It involves the injection of a liquid sample into a moving non- segmented carrier solution coupled with suitable reagents, whereby a reaction or a series of reactions take place. The injected sample forms a reaction zone which is then transported toward a detector that continuously measures an appropriate physical parameter like absorbance or conductance as a function of time (Ruzicka & Hansen 1981 and Koshy et al., 1992). It has application in diverse areas such as oceanography, clinical chemistry, agricultural, pharmaceutical and environmental analysis (Ruzicka & Hansen, 1975). Flow injection instrumentation for small systems are simple to construct. As of 1996, 6000 papers have been published concerning flow injection mainly in the field of instrumental analysis (Ruzicka *et al.*, 1996).

Flow injection was developed, with a view to automate serial assays. In the mid 1970s Ruzicka and Hansen began experimenting with their model FIA system to determine methyl orange, using spectrometry for detection. The methyl orange was selected because of its red color change and it was chosen to investigate their FIA system's ability to reproduce data and maximize sample throughput (Rucizka & Hansen, 1975). The determination of ammonia was by potentiometry, where an ion-selective electrode was used as the detector and this was to illustrate the versatility of FIA to any

form of detector. It was obvious that FIA at its infant stages has already shown versatility as an analytical tool.

In figure 2 is a generalized schematic of a FIA system. The common propelling unit is a peristaltic pump that comes in a number of models on the market. The pressure mounted between a set of rolling pins and the pump tubes facilitates the pumping action. The pumping can be achieved in both directions by means of a switch. The draw back of peristaltic pumps is the fact that they cannot be completely pulse free (Ruzicka & Hansen, 1981).



The sample can be injected using a hypodermic syringe or as in modern instruments through the use of valve systems. The valves will have an injection and loading position and a switch is used to change from one to the other. The reaction zone is basically a certain length of Teflon tubing in which the desired reaction(s) take(s) place. The length of the tubing is dependent

on the kinetics of the reaction; a fast reaction will need a shorter tube than a slower reaction.

The sensing system depends on the physical parameter being measured which is (e.g. conductivity, absorbance, and pH) proportional to the concentration of the analyte of interest. The detectors that have been used include, conductivity detector, spectrophotometer (UV, IR and FTIR) and ion selective electrodes. For example, in the FIA determination of chloride, the detector used is a spectrophotometer (Ruzicka & Hansen, 1981). The monitor can be a simple flat bed chart recorder, an integrator or a computer.

FIA is a continuous flow method. The only difference it has with other flow methods like chromatography which aims at high resolution obtained through megarepetitive interactions by modulating the migration velocities of analytes through the system is that it exploits chemical reactions to transform analytes into species that can be selectively quantified by a detector (Ruzicka, 1992). FIA also allows for a dramatic reduction of reagents and solvents used. Since its development a series of reactors and detectors have been designed to accommodate solvent extraction, gas diffusion, photodegradation, colorimetric reagent regeneration, immobilized enzyme and ion exchange to name a few.

In any flow injection instrument, two processes explain the mechanism of analysis and detection that take place. First, the sample zone disperses within the carrier line and second the reaction(s) which occur(s) between the

analyte and the appropriate reagent(s). Initially the sample zone in the carrier stream form a rectangular concentration profile as shown in figure 3a. As it moves toward the detector, band broadening or dispersion via convection and diffusion occurs (Ruzicka & Hansen 1981 and Skoog *et al.*, 1998). Convection results from laminar flow, in which the center of the sample zone moves faster than the liquid adjacent to the walls of the tube, see figure 3b. Dispersion via diffusion occurs by radial mixing and not axial mixing because of the narrow tubes used in FIA. The combined effects of convection and diffusion result in the attainment of the sample concentration profiles shown in figure 3c and 3d.



1.4.1 Optimization of an FIA system

The optimization of FIA parameters is crucial for the improvement of sensitivity and the maximization of sample throughput. The parameters that can be optimized are flow rates, lengths and diameters of tubes, injection volumes, operating temperature and reagent composition. Optimization is achieved by trying different flow rates, lengths and diameters of tubes and injection volumes until the optimum results are obtained. However, a more

systematic way would be to use numerical methods like Powel and Simplex, which can enhance the optimization process (Ribeiro *et al.*, 1993). The point to note here is that different FIA systems will have different optimum conditions. Thus, it is the duty of the analyst to check and test for the best operating conditions despite its tedious nature. For example, two groups of investigators were only able to fix the length of the reaction coil after a series of optimization exercises for the measurement of iron and thanium (Andrade *et al.*, 1992 and Castanares & Mundo, 1995).

Interference with signal output, from species other than the analyte can affect the sensitivity, accuracy and precision of the output. Thus, the optimization of an FIA system is also necessary to minimize interference. It might also be possible to have incompatible optimum conditions for the different variables; as such a compromise has to be reached.

1.4.2 Methods developed from the original FIA system

The main consideration behind the first generation of flow injection systems was the speed at which sample solutions should be processed. FIA had evolved into other forms of systems, like stopped flow technique, reverse flow and sequential injection because of the need to enhance performance and achieve kinetic discrimination, titration ability and for its introduction to industrial applications.

The stopped flow technique exploits a concentration gradient from a dispersed sample zone. Methods based on stopped flow can eliminate background signals, provide kinetic discrimination and increase sensitivity (Christian & Ruzicka, 1992). The method itself is conservative in terms of reagent usage. However, this method has not found much application apart from its application in enzymatic measurement for monitoring bio-processes, enzyme reactions on solid surfaces and the determination of rate constants.

Sequential injection evolved from stopped flow injection. The sample and the reagent zones are stacked in tubular conduit, merged by means of flow reversal of the carrier stream and then transported into the detector (Ivaska & Rucizka, 1993). Sequential injection is applicable in process lines given its rapid and robust methodology. Sequential systems are preferred over FIA systems due to fewer requirements for maintenance in process environments (Ruls *et al.*, 1997).

Reverse flow injection has resemblance to stopped flow and sequential injection methodologies. Generally, the reagent is injected into a sample stream or a monitor was formed in the bolus (the segment of the injected sample in the carrier stream) by the dispersion of a concentration-limiting reagent contained in the carrier stream (Fogg *et al.*, 1990). In normal FIA the product is formed in the extremities of the sample bolus whilst in this method the product is formed at the center of the bolus. Any further dispersion will result in the dilution of the product. Reverse flow injection can allow a variable amount of mixing between the sample and carrier stream, increase

the efficiency of solvent extraction, leading to multiple detection capabilities and allow sampling and preconcentration of gaseous analytes (Clark *et al.*, 1991). The ability of this method for variable mixing allows for the construction of a capillary-based titration system. The above method has also found wide application in the determination of cations and anions (Esmadi *et al.*, 1990). The principles of reverse flow injection have been applied in reverse dual phase gas diffusion in which a liquid donor stream is coupled to a gas acceptor stream for the determination of metal hydrides (Smith & Pacey, 1993).

1.5 Determination of DOC using FIA

An innovative WCO method involving FIA for the determination of DOC was described by (Koshy *et al.*, 1992). The manifold used in this method is shown in figure 4 where, the organic carbon was oxidized by an alkaline solution of peroxoydisulfate (persulfate) under UV and the resulting carbonate was acidified and heated for conversion to carbon dioxide. The CO₂ generated is allowed to diffuse across a Teflon membrane into a weakly buffered (pH 9.75) phenoiphthalein acceptor stream. The acceptor stream was directed to a flow through cell and the absorbance was measured by using a spectrophotometer (Hitachi U-2000). This method has an average recovery of 98% with a sample throughput of 45 samples/hour and a detection limit of 0.5mg C/L. From an analytical point of view, the FIA technique for DOC determination is of considerable practical value as it is efficient, fast and

above all considerably cheaper, making it suitable for laboratories in developing countries.

However, the above method suffers from chloride interference. A similar wet chemical method by Sakamoto & Miyasaka, for the determination of total organic carbon, showed considerable interference by chloride at concentrations greater than 250mg/L because of the simultaneous oxidation of chloride to chlorine gas (Sakamoto & Miyasaka, 1987). FIA is not the first flow method for the measurement of DOC. A similar flow method was developed by Schreurs to measure DOC in seawater. The organic materials were oxidized photochemically to carbon dioxide. The method had a linear range of 0.1-10mg/L DOC (Schreurs, 1978). However, the method has also suffered from chloride interference. Consequently, hydroxylaminehydrochloride was used to reduce the chlorine back to chloride. Generally, the oxidation of chloride to chlorine (Schreurs, 1978, Sakamota & Miyasaka, 1987, Koshy *et al.*, 1992, and Peyton, 1993) has been identified as the major interfering process to the determination of DOC in estuarine and coastal waters,





1.6 The background of the project

DOC is an important determinant of organic matter in aquatic bodies apart from the chemical oxygen demand (COD) and the biochemical oxygen demand (BOD). The latter parameters estimate the quantity of oxidant required for the oxidation of organic constituents and measure the oxygen uptake in the microbiological mediated oxidation of organic matter respectively (Kennish, 1997). However, BOD and COD do not indicate the total dissolved organic matter in estuarine and seawater (Stumm & Morgan, 1981). Consequently, parameters like TOC and DOC are preferred over BOD and COD as indicators of organic matter.

DOC is also an indicator of water quality. Excess DOC could result in the depletion of oxygen, when DOC oxidizes and the water body is not able to replenish itself with oxygen. Consequently, the quantification of DOC in estuarine and marine coastal waters is important because in the Pacific Island countries the wastes generated are predominantly organic in nature and in most cases the wastes are not treated, but are directly discharged into the estuaries and coastal waters.

Automated instruments are favored for most types of analytical work these days. Most of these automated instruments are expensive to buy and maintain in the context of laboratories in developing countries. With the added emphasis on environmental monitoring throughout the world, the demand for cheaper field instruments and inexpensive methods of

automation are constantly increasing. Against this background FIA seems to be making a promising break through because the methodology is cheap, robust and portable (Koshy, 1989).

The main problem with the FIA method for DOC developed by (Koshy *et al.*, 1992) was the enhancement of the measured DOC levels in saline natural water samples by chlorine. Consequently, both carbon dioxide and chlorine diffuse across the Teflon membrane to the acceptor stream and changed the pH of the acceptor stream since both gases were acidic. Therefore, the interference by chlorine must be eliminated or minimized so that estuarine and seawater samples can also be analyzed for their DOC levels using the above FIA method. Moreover, in the modified FIA method used in this work a custom built conductivity detector was used instead of the spectrophotometer. The change of the detector to the custom built conductivity detector was necessary, given the high cost of buying and maintaining a UV-spectrophotometer in the South Pacific.

1.7 Research Objectives of this Project

The main objective of this project was to investigate the involvement of chloride in the determination of DOC using a modified FIA method developed from the FIA method described by (Koshy *et al.*, 1992). The minor objective was to use the modified method to do a baseline study of DOC in the Suva fagoon and correlate the DOC values with the possible terrestrial sources of organic matter in the landmass of Suva. To this effect, the following specific objectives were established.

- Quantify the chloride interference on carbon signals
- Reduce the power of the persulfate/borax oxidant and enhance it with titanium dioxide, so that chloride does not get oxidized.
- Use hydroxylaminehydrochloride (NH₂OH,HCI) to keep chlorine in the chloride form by means of reduction.
- To use a micro-porous tubing (Accure) PP Type S6/2, 0.2µm, Enka) after the UV chamber to remove gases formed in the UV chamber which included chlorine.
- To use the modified method to measure DOC on selected sites around Suva harbor and Laucala bay.

CHAPTER 2

EXPERIMENTAL

2.1 Chemicals

The major chemicals used in this work are listed below:

Borax (UNIVAR, Ajax Chemicals), Potassium persulfate (UNIVAR, Ajax Chemicals), Anhydrous sodium bicarbonate (UNIVAR, Ajax Chemicals) Concentrated Sulfuric acid (UNIVAR, Ajax Chemicals), Anatase titanium dioxide, Potassium hydrogen phthalate (UNIVAR, Ajax Chemicals), Citric acid (UNIVAR, Ajax Chemicals), Nicotinic acid (UNIVAR, Ajax Chemicals), Citric acid (UNIVAR, Ajax Chemicals), Nicotinic acid (UNIVAR, Ajax Chemicals), Urea (UNIVAR, Ajax Chemicals), Thiourea (UNIVAR, Ajax Chemicals), Sodium acetate (UNIVAR, Ajax Chemicals), D-Glucose (UNIVAR, Ajax Chemicals), Sodium chloride (UNIVAR, Ajax Chemicals), D-Glucose (UNIVAR, Ajax Chemicals), Sodium chloride (UNIVAR, Ajax Chemicals). The purities of these chemicals as stated by the manufacturers varied from 99% to 99.9% with the exception of the Sulfuric acid (UNIVAR, Ajax Chemicals) and Phosphoric acid (UNIVAR, Ajax Chemicals) which were of 98% and 84% purity respectively. The consideration of the above chemicals with 99% and 99.9% purity levels as having 100% purity did not cause significant changes to the concentrations of the solutions prepared from the chemicals.

2.2.1 Preparation of distilled deionised water (DDW) and the $35^{0}/_{00}$ NaCl solution

DDW is distilled water that has been passed through four columns of universal ion exchanger (Cole-Palmer Instrument Company). These four columns removed all ionic substances. DDW has a low carbon content. DDW was used as the final rinsing solvent for all glassware.

The $35^{9}/_{00}$ NaCl solution was prepared by dissolving 35g of NaCl in 1 liter of DDW. Aleprin and Martens (1993) also used the above solution as a substitute for synthetic seawater on a similar work on DOC determination. Moreover, Hung and Chang (1992) used 3% NaCl solution as a substitute for synthetic seawater. The other major components of seawater like MgCO₃, MgCl₂ and Na₂SO₄ were not included because, the Mg⁺² combined with the carbonate ions of the inorganic carbon standards to form a precipitate. Furthermore, the effect of chloride on carbon signals has to be isolated.

2.2.2 Preparation of carbon stock solution

The inorganic carbonate (IC) carbon stock solution of 1000mg C/L was prepared by dissolving 7.0008g of NaHCO₃ in 1litre of DDW. Depending on the range of standards required a working stock solution of 100mg/L or 500mg/L were prepared from the original stock solution. The pH of the IC

standards prepared in DDW was pH 7.8 and the IC standards prepared in the $35^{0}/_{00}$ NaCl solution had similar pH as those standards prepared in DDW. On the other hand, the KHP standards (DOC) prepared in both DDW and the $35^{0}/_{00}$ NaCl solution registered pH of 4. The slight acidity in the DOC standards is attributed to the acidic nature of KHP with a pKa of 5.4 (Aylward & Findlay, 1974). Preliminary work on the effect of the DOC standards on the pH of the oxidant showed that the acidic nature of the DOC standards did not change the pH of the oxidant (pH 9) consequently, the photochemical oxidation of DOC was not affected.

An accurately weighed amount of each organic model compound equivalent to 0.5000g carbon was dissolved in 1 liter of DDW (500mg/L). A 5mg C/L standard for each model compound was prepared from the respective stock solutions for the recovery analysis of carbon.

2.2.3 Preparation of 1M Sulfuric acid

The 1M H_2SO_4 was prepared by diluting 56ml of concentrated H_2SO_4 with DDW to one liter. The diluted acid was used for the acidification of the carbonate (from DOC oxidation) produced in the alkaline oxidation chamber. Furthermore, it was used to evolve the measured inorganic carbon in natural water samples and IC standards.

The oxidant was prepared by dissolving accurately weighed amounts of borax (17g) and potassium persulfate (20g) in 500ml DDW. This solution was freshly prepared each day for analysis and will be henceforth referred to as *100% oxidant strength*. The borax was added to buffer the oxidant at pH 9. The alkaline pH was necessary for the efficient oxidation of DOC.

2.3 Instrumentation

2.3.1 Glassware

All glassware used in the project were soaked in 30% Nitric acid overnight and then washed with distilled water and rinsed twice with DDW.

2.3.2 FIA manifold

The flow injection system used here consisted of the following components.

The schematic representation of the manifold is given in figure 5 and plate 1.

- Two Peristaltic pumps (model: Ismatec 5A)
- Reodyne six port valve
- PTFE tubes with 0.3mm internal diameter used throughout the FIA system except the pump tubes (0.60mm internal diameter)
- Custom built conductivity detector
- Conductance meter (YSI Model 32)
- UV lamp at 360nm
- Gas diffusion manifold
- Hot water bath regulated at 58°C
- Micro-porous tubing (Accurel PP Type S6/2, 0.2µm pore size; Enka)
- Hewlett Packard HP3395 Integrator



Plate 1 The FIA manifold used in this project



Type of line	Flow rate (mi/minutes)
Carrier (DDW)	1.0
Sample	1.0
Oxidant (Alkaline Persulfate)	1.0
Sulfuric acid (1M H ₂ SO ₄)	1.1
Acceptor (DDW)	1.1

2.3.2.1 The major components of the FIA manifold

Peristaltic pump: The pump consisted of two Ismatec 5A commercial models from EXTECH EQUIPMENT PTY Ltd. The pumping is facilitated by the pressure made by the pump gadgets on the pump tubes and eight rolling pins, (see figure 6).



The pumping unit of this FIA system consisted of two Ismatec pumps, where as in the original method by Koshy and his co-workers, a Gilson Minipuls 2 pump

was utilized. The change in the type of pump used resulted in the use of larger pump tubes with internal diameters of 0.6mm. The change in pump tubes (0.3mm internal diameter) and pumping rates eased the problem of leaks that were prevalent when the pump tubes and rates specified by Koshy and his coworkers were used in the early stages. The pump rates for the FIA system developed by Koshy and his co-workers are given in figure 4.

Reodyne six way value: This is a six port value that changes in configuration when the switch is toggled between the load and inject positions, (see figure 7). At the load position, the sample line flows to fill a loop with a volume of 600µL. At the same time the carrier line is pumped continuously through the manifold. At the inject position, the internal configurations are changed and the carrier line is connected to the loop and it takes the sample for analysis.



Reaction Zone: The major reaction zone was a 2-metre PTFE tube (0.3mm internal diameter) wound in a figure of eight around the UV lamp (360nm).

Water Bath: This is an ordinary laboratory water bath from Grants Instruments (Cambridge) Ltd. The temperature of the water bath was maintained at 58°C. This temperature was sufficient to enhance the acidification of bicarbonate to carbon dioxide.

Micro-porous tubing: This is a micro-porous tubing (Acurell PP Type S6/2, 0.2µm pore size; Enka). It was placed immediately after the reaction zone (UV chamber) when it was used. The purpose of this accurel was to eliminate gaseous substances like chlorine and oxygen formed in the UV chamber.

Diffusion manifold: Gas diffusion was achieved using a Tecator chemifold V with a TBA permatite GT gas plumbing tape (membrane, thickness 0.2mm). The membrane was replaced twice a week. Figure 8 is a lateral cross section of the chemifold, also see plate 2.



Conductivity detector: The detector was custom built and it consisted of two square perspex blocks, separated by a Teflon separator, see figure 9 and plate 3. Each of the blocks had two cylindrical platinum electrodes. The two sets of electrodes detected the change in conductivity as the acceptor solution passed between them.



46



Plate 2 Diffusion manifold



Plate 3 Conductivity Detector

Recorder: The change in conductivity was displayed digitally by a conductivity meter. This meter was connected to an integrator that transformed the change in conductivity to a graphical representation in the form of a peak. The integrator calculates the peak areas. In the initial work on this project, a flat bed potentiometric recorder was used to give the graphical representation of the change in conductivity of the acceptor stream.

2.4 Preliminary work on the FIA manifold

2.4.1 A typical run

All the lines of the FIA manifold (see figure 5) were pumping on any typical run. The sample loop (600µL) that was attached to the valve was filled by turning the knob on the valve to the loading mode. After 30 seconds, the knob was switched to the injection mode and the sample was subsequently introduced to the carrier stream, which was already flowing. The oxidant line was merged with the carrier and the carrier line passed through the UV chamber. At the UV chamber the DOC was oxidized to carbon dioxide. However, because of the alkaline condition in the UV chamber, carbon dioxide exists as carbonate and hydrogen-carbonate (Koshy *et al.*, 1992). The carrier line emerged from the UV chamber and the acid line merged with it to convert carbonate and hydrogen-carbonate to carbon dioxide. The heat provided by the water bath as the carrier line passed through it facilitated the conversion of carbonate to carbon dioxide. The carbon dioxide in the carrier stream passed through the semi-permeable

membrane and changed the conductivity of the acceptor stream, which was DDW. The acceptor stream flowed through the custom-built conductivity detector and the change in conductivity was measured. A single run took approximately 40 to 45 seconds to complete,

2.4.2 Effect of temperature on FIA signals

The following carbon (IC) standards 2, 4 and 6mg/L were prepared in the $35^{0}/_{00}$ NaCl solution and DDW. The standards were analyzed at 58° C and 70° C. The purpose of this exercise was to elucidate the effect of temperature on chloride interference (see section 3.1 and table 5 for the results).

2.4.3 Carbon recovery from model organic compounds

A 5mg C/L standard of the following organic compounds, Potassium hydrogen phthalate (KHP), Citric acid, Nicotinic acid, Urea, Thiourea, Sodium acetate and D-Glucose were prepared in DDW. In addition, a (IC) carbon standard of the same concentration was prepared and the recoveries of the organic compounds were compared with the recovery of the 5mg/L (IC) standard in terms of peak area (see section 3.2.1 and tables 6 and 7 for the results). The model organic compounds used are amongst the standard organic substances used for carbon recovery experiments of methods/instruments used to determine DOC (Koshy et al., 1992).

The recoveries of the above compounds using this FIA manifold were compared with their recoveries utilizing the FIA manifold described by Koshy and his coworkers in 1992 because their method was similar to the one used in this work. Furthermore, the FIA method described by Koshy and others in 1992 is a recognized method for DOC determination using FIA (Robards *et al.*, 1994). The recovery experiment was necessary to establish the credibility of this method to measure DOC.

2.4.4 "Ghost peak"

It has been observed incidentally with seawater samples that peaks were obtained under no oxidant and acid conditions. Theoretically, these peaks were not expected. To investigate their cause and their nature, the following set of experiments were carried out. The peaks were termed as *ghost peaks* (*GP*) to differentiate them from the normal peaks obtained under photochemical oxidation and acidification. Initially, the "ghost peaks" were speculated to be caused by dissolved gases in the natural water samples. As a consequence, the samples were analyzed for *GP* before (Untreated) and after nitrogen bubbling and boiling. Nitrogen bubbling and boiling of the samples was almed at eliminating any dissolved gases present in the samples. Furthermore, the effect of the UV source on *GP* was investigated, since it has the capacity to oxidize DOC on its own (Robards *et al.*, 1994). The independence of the donor stream from the acceptor stream was investigated in terms of its pH. DDW was also injected as a sample because of the need to eliminate the possibility of it, contributing to *GP* (see section 3.3 and table 8 for the results).

Attempts to Isolate and quantify GP

- 3 x 50ml samples from the following sites, Tamavua river, Nabukalou creek, and Lighthouse were analyzed under no oxidant and no acid conditions in the following manner.
- The first 50ml portion (untreated) was injected directly.
- The second 50ml sample was bubbled with Ultra- pure N₂ for 15 minutes; then injected.
- The third 50ml sample was bubbled with Ultra- pure N₂ for 15 minutes + boiled and then Injected.
- Untreated 50ml samples were also injected when the UV was on and off.
- The pH of the donor line of the FIA manifold was also tested.
- DDW was also injected as a sample

2.4.5 Detection Limits

The instrument detection limit (IDL) was determined by repeatedly injecting DDW over a period of three days. From the instrument detection limit, the method detection limit (MDL) was calculated (see section 3.5 for the calculation of IDL and MDL). The above procedure of determining the detection limits was based on the procedure specified by Skoog and others in 1998.

The objective of this part of the procedure was to elucidate the ability of the FIA manifold to differentiate between a carbon signal and the instrument noise.

2.4.6 Calibration standards

On each day of analysis for DOC in seawater and estuarine samples and for the carbon recoveries of model organic compounds, calibration standards in the range of 1mg C/L to 25mg C/L were prepared in DDW or in the $35^{9}/_{00}$ NaCl solution (see section 3.4, tables 9 and 10, figure 13 and the appendix 2 for the typical FIA plots for calibration standards). The (IC) standards in the range of 8-25mg/L were prepared from a 1000mg/L stock solution and the standards below the above range were prepared from stock solution of 100mg/L (this method of standard preparation minimized the dilution of the $35^{9}/_{00}$ NaCl solution). The standards were prepared in 100ml volumetric flasks. The pH of the IC standards prepared in DDW and the $35^{9}/_{00}$ NaCl solution was pH 7.8. The seawater samples exhibited a range of pH from pH 7.0 to pH 8.2. Therefore, the pH of the IC standards and the estuards was close to median of the pH range of the seawater samples. In other words there is a strong correlation between the pH of the IC standards and the estuarine and seawater samples.

From these calibration standards, a calibration curve was obtained and a regression equation calculated (table 9, figure 13). Furthermore, the sensitivity of the FIA system was investigated in terms of its analytical sensitivity with respect to the standards prepared (see table 10).
2.4.7 Sample Collection and conditioning for analysis

The seawater and estuarine samples were collected from the sites (see figure 10) monitored in 750mł PVC containers that were acid washed and rinsed a day before sampling. Sample collection usually lasted 1-2 hours and the samples were conditioned for analysis soon afterwards in the following way.

On arrival at the laboratory, the samples were immediately filtered using starilized 0.45µm Millipore (Type HA) ashless filter papers via suction filtration. The samples were analyzed on the same day or frozen for analysis the next day. The samples were not acid preserved because freezing was recommended to be sufficient (Peltzer & Brewer, 1993).

2.5 Sites monitored for the determination of DOC levels

The main area of study is the Suva lagoon, which is composed of the Suva harbor and Laucala bay. It is located on the southeastern portion of Viti-levu and forms the coastal sea adjacent to Suva City. Suva City is one of the largest populated cities in the South Pacific. The influx of people to Suva and the subsequent growth of industries might possibly increase the level of organic input into the lagoon, because organic input to coastal waters have been found to be partially influenced by the growth of population and industrialization (Stumm & Morgan, 1981). The major sources of freshwater input (usually has terrestrial organic input) to the Suva lagoon are the rivers, Navesi, Tamavua,

Vatuwaqa, Rewa and other smaller tributaries that open up to the lagoon. There were also sources like the Kinoya sewage outfall, the medium sized industrial sites along the coast, the Suva City sewer lines and in the older Suva area the direct sewage input into the Nabukalou creek.

The sites selected either receive direct organic discharge (rivers and a sewage outfall) or are located close to discharge points like storm water outlets and creeks. The site at Nukulau passage was the furthest site from the landmass of Suva and it was taken as the control site. The first sub group composed of sites at the interface of the land (coastal) and the sea. These included Tradewinds (11), Vugalei (10), Tamavua river (9), Nabukalou creek (8), Nasese (5), Lighthouse (13), and Suva point (4). The other sub group consisted of sites further out into the lagoon (offshore). A transect was taken from the Kinoya outfall (1), 200m from the outfall (2) and the Nukulau passage (3) which has a constant interchange with the ocean. The other sites were situated approximately 200m from the Centra (6), 200m from Nabukalou creek (7) and near Mosquito Island (12). The locations of the sites are on the map in figure 10.



Table 4

Sites Descriptions

Sites	Sites	Description
#	Names	
1	Kinoya Sewage outfall	The area in which the sewage outfall is situated.
2	200m away from Kinoya Sewage outfall	The site is 200m away from the outlet and it is in front of the Vunivadra tributary.
3	Nukulau Passage	This is the furthest site from the Viti-Levu landmass and it is on an opening of the Laucala harbor to the ocean.
4	Suva Point	It is adjacent to a playground and two-storm water outlets that discharge into the area.
5	Nasese	The seafront of a residential area and two-storm water outlets discharge into the area.
6	Centra Hotel	The site is situated about 150m out in the sea from the hotel.
7	200m Nabukalou Creek	It is 200m from the Nabukalou opening to the sea and adjacent to the Suva Kings wharf.
8	Nabukalou Cr ee k	The creek is in the Suva business center with numerous sewage lines discharging into it. It is always murky and emits foul smell.
9	Tamavua River	The site is located at about 60m from the Suva municipal dump and is in the Tamavua river,
10	Vugalei Bridge	The site is under this bridge that runs over a creek. There is a constant exchange between the fresh and seawater.
11	Tradewinds Hotel	The site is about 20m from the hotel and is adjacent to an opening of a creek inland to the sea.
12	Mosquito Island	The site is within the bay of islands close to the Mosquito island.
13	Lighthouse Bar	It is adjacent to a restaurant and 10m away from a storm water outlet.

2.5.1 The elimination/measurement of inorganic carbon (IC) from natural water samples

Part 1 A 25mg C/L standard was prepared in DDW. A 40ml aliquot required 0.04ml of 84% phosphoric acid for the complete evolvement of IC. The amount of acid added was calculated on the basis of the amount of IC present in the standard. Phosphoric acid is a common acid used to eliminate IC from natural water samples (Koshy *et al.*, 1992, DeBaar *et al.*, 1993 and Robards *et al.*, 1994). The 40ml aliquot of the standard plus the acid was vigorously stirred and moderately heated to evolve all the carbon dioxide. Another standard (IC) with a carbon concentration of 25mg/L was prepared in the 35⁰/₀₀ NaCl solution. A 40ml aliquot of the standard was acidified with 0.04ml of 84% phosphoric acid, bubbled with nitrogen gas for five minutes and sonicated for a further five minutes. Two sets of analyses were done with the two types of standards before and after acidification, (see section 3.6 and table 11 for the results).

This was necessary since it would elucidate the approximate amount of acid needed to evolve all the IC in the water samples.

Part 2 Natural seawater and estuarine samples were collected from three selected sites Suva point (4), Nukulau passage (3), and Nabukalou creek (7), (see figure 10 and table 11). The samples (40ml) were filtered (see section 2.4.7) and analyzed for their measured inorganic carbon (IC_m). The determination of IC_m was achieved by pumping all lines of the FIA system with their respective solutions (see figure 5) except for the oxidant line which had

DDW instead of the oxidant. The above procedure is an acidification process [Note: IC_m is not equivalent to the total IC (Alkalinity in the water sample)]. After that, the same samples (40ml) were acidified with 0.04ml of 84% phosphoric acid and nitrogen gas was bubbled through them for 5-6 minutes, the samples were then sonicated for a further 5 minutes before they were analyzed for their IC levels.

2.6 Quantification of Chioride Interference

A series of (IC) carbon standards (1, 1.2, 1.8, 2, 3, 4, 6, 8,16, 24mg/L) were prepared in DDW and the $35^{0}/_{00}$ NaCl solution. The DDW standards were analyzed first to avoid contamination from the $35^{0}/_{00}$ NaCl solution. Before switching to the $35^{0}/_{00}$ NaCl solution standards, the whole FIA system was flushed for 5 minutes with DDW.

The purpose of this part of procedure was to quantify the nature of chloride interference in the signals produced by the carbon in the standards prepared in the $35^{\circ}/_{\infty}$ NaCl solution. (see section 3.7 and table 12 for the results). The series of standards mentioned in paragraph 1 were analyzed 5 times on different occasions for their carbon and chloride signals. The differences in the corresponding pairs of standards prepared in DDW and the $35^{\circ}/_{\infty}$ NaCl solution were calculated as percentages (%Clox; percentage of chloride oxidized) of the respective standards prepared in DDW. The %Cl_{ox} was equivalent to the amount of chloride interference on each of the IC standards prepared in the $35^{\circ}/_{\infty}$ NaCl solution.

2.7. Attempts to eliminate/minimize Chloride interference

The following sub sections describe investigations relating to ways of eliminating or minimizing chloride interference on DOC measurements. This included reducing oxidant strength by 50% and adding a catalyst on the assumption that a reduced oxidant would not oxidize chloride, using NH₂OH.HCI to reduce the chlorine formed in the UV chamber and the placement of micro-porous tubing after the UV chamber to eliminate the gaseous chlorine.

2.7.1 Reduction of the oxidant strength

A 5mg C/L potassium hydrogen phthalate (KHP) standard, prepared in DDW was arbitrarily chosen as the base concentration, to demonstrate the effect of reducing the oxidant strength on carbon recovery. To this end, the *100% oxidant solution* was diluted to 90, 70, 60, 50, 30, 10% oxidant strength solutions. The 5mg C/L KHP was oxidized using the diluted oxidants. The recoveries of the standard using the diluted oxidant solutions were compared with its recovery using the100% oxidant strength solution.

The objective of this part of the procedure was to reduce the power of the oxidant to a level that was low but would still be able to carry out oxidation (see section 3.8.1 and table 13 for the results). Prior to this, there was an uncertainty over the choice of the diluted oxidant to be used with the catalyst.

2.7.2 50% oxidant strength solution plus catalyst (TiO₂)

From the previous trials, the 50% oxidant strength solution was selected as the optimum for oxidation. The following carbon standards 2, 5, 15, 25mg C/L of KHP were prepared in DDW and subjected to DOC determination using the 50% oxidant strength solution and the 50% oxidant strength solution plus the catalyst. About 0.0048g TiO₂ was used as higher amounts were found to clog the FIA manifold (see section 3.8.1.1 and table 14 for the results). The carbon recoveries of the carbon standards using the "new" oxidant were compared with their carbon recoveries with 100% oxidant strength solution.

The objective of this part of the procedure was to elucidate the effect of the catalyst on carbon recovery.

2.7.3 The Effect of 50% Oxidant strength solution + 0.0048g TiO₂ on the Chloride signal

The following standards 2, 4, 16, 24mg C/L (IC) were prepared in the $35^{\circ}/_{00}$ NaCl solution. The standards were analyzed and their peak areas were compared to corresponding standards made in DDW. The data obtained were further compared with corresponding data of the same standards prepared in the $35^{\circ}/_{00}$ NaCl solution, but had been oxidized using the 100% oxidant solution.

The aim was to see if this "new" oxidant has any negative or positive effect on the chloride signal (see section 3.8.1.2 and tables 15 and 16 for the results). Although, TiO_2 had been used to catalyze the oxidation of DOC (Matthews *et al.*, 1990), the possible effects of the catalyst on the chloride present in estuarine and coastal water samples had not been fully investigated.

2.7.4 Effect of Hydroxylaminehydrochloride (NH₂OH.HCI) on the chloride signal

The first part of this section was carried out before the integrator was used, as a consequence peak heights were measured instead of peak areas. $NH_2OH.HCI$ has been demonstrated by Schreurs (1978) to be a viable suppressor of chloride interference effect, by reducing the chlorine gas formed in the UV chamber to chloride, (see section 3.8.2 and tables 17,18 & 19 for the results).

This part of the procedure was designed to determine the amount of $NH_2OH.HCI$ required to reduce the chlorine produced by the oxidation of chloride in the $35^{\circ}/_{00}$ NaCl solution and to use the optimized amount of $NH_2OH.HCI$ to reduce chloride interference on carbon signals.

Part 1. The following concentrations of the reducing agent 100, 300, 900, 1000, 3000, 12,000, 15,000 and 21,000mg/L were prepared in the $35^{9}/_{00}$ NaCl solution. The work by Schreurs (1978) did not indicate the amount of the reducing agent to be used, consequently, a large range of the reducing agent was tested. A stock solution was prepared by dissolving 250g (NH₂OH.HCl) in

250ml DDW in a volumetric flask. The concentrated stock solution alleviated the dilution of the $35^{9}/_{00}$ NaCl solution because small volumes of the stock solution were used to prepare the NH₂OH.HCl in the $35^{9}/_{00}$ NaCl solution in 100ml volumetric flasks.

Part 2. The optimized amount of the reducing agent (3000mg/L) was placed with the 1M sulfuric acid as recommended by Schreurs (1978).

The effect of the reducing agent was tested on the following standards 5,10,15,20 and 25mg C/L (IC & KHP) prepared in the $35^{9}/_{00}$ NaCl solution (see section 3.8.2 and tables 18 and 19 for the results)

2.7.5 The effect of a micro-porous tubing (Accurel PP type S6/2, 0.2μm pore size; Enka) on chloride interference

The micro-porous tubing allow gases to permeate as they pass through it. In this project this micro-porous tubing (20cm) was fitted immediately after the UV chamber to eliminate any chlorine and oxygen gases that might be formed during photo-oxidation (see figure 4). To test its effect on chloride interference, the following standards 5, 10 and 15mg C/L were prepared in the $35^{\circ}/_{00}$ NaCl solution and analyzed under *100% oxidant strength solution* with and without the micro-porous tubing (see section 3.8.3 and table 20 for the results). For comparative purposes, a similar range of standards was also prepared in DDW and analyzed under the same conditions.

2.8 DOC analysis for the offshore and coastal sites

The samples were prepared for DOC analysis as specified in section 2.4.7. The analysis for DOC was based on a numerical method whereby components like the IC, chloride interference effect and ghost peak (peak areas) were subtracted from sample peak area with the analysis carried out with the 100% oxidant strength solution, UV on and the acid line on (see sections 3.10.1 and 3.10.2).

- · The carbon signals were measured in terms of peak areas
- The samples were injected 4 times without any oxidant, but with the acid line on. This gave peak areas, proportional to the measured inorganic carbon (IC_m) in the water sample (Note: it is not equivalent to the total IC in the sample)
- Another 4 injections of the samples were made with the acid and oxidant lines on. The UV source was switched on as well.

Total Carbon measured: [TC_m] = IC_m + DOC

- Based on the level of IC_m, a correction for the chloride interference (%Cl_{ox}) was calculated from the equation in figure 14 and subtracted from the average peak area of TC_m to give a corrected peak area for the total measured carbon (TC_{m corr})
- The IC_m and TC_{mcorr} concentrations were calculated from calibration equations generated from IC standards prepared in the $35^{\circ}/_{00}$ NaCl solution, typical equations are given in table 9.

• [DOC] = [TC_{m con}] - [IC_m]

CHAPTER 3

RESULTS & DISCUSSION

3.1 Effect of temperature on the Carbon and the Chloride signal

A set of standards (IC) with the following concentrations 2, 4, 6mg C/L were prepared in DDW and the $35^{\circ}/_{00}$ NaCl solution and were analyzed using the 100% oxidant strength solution. For this purpose two temperatures, 58° C and 70° C were used,

Таыю 5

Comparison of carbon signals in terms of peak area and chloride interference at 58°C and 70°C (Peak area x 10⁷)

[C] mg/L	DDW (±1SD) 	35 ¹ / ₀₀ NaCl solution (±1SD) n=4	%Cl₀x 58ºC (±1\$D)	DDW (±1SD) n=4	35 ⁷ / ₀₀ NaCl solution (±1SD) n=4	%CJ _{ax} 70°C (±1\$D)
Regression	Y=0.3x +0.4	<u>68°C</u> Y=0.3x+0.9	···	Y=0.3x +0.4	70°C Y=0.4x + 1.9	
equations 2	R ² =0.97 0.96(0.02)	R ² =0.82 1.36(0.04)	42(4)	R ² =0.99 1.1(0.2)	R ² ≈0.99 2.7(0.2)	145(44)
4	1.78(0.08)	2.38(0.05)	33(5)	1.8(0.2)	3.6(0.1)	112(17)
6	2.23(0.08)	2.49(0.05)	11(3)	2.4(0.1)	4.3 (0.2)	78(9)

% Clox = % chloride oxidized

= [(35⁰/₀₀ NaCl solution -- DDW)] X [100/DDW]

≈ A measure of chioride interference

The operating temperature of the water bath used throughout the project was 58° C. The above temperature was chosen as the optimum because it was the optimum temperature used by Hansen and Lausten (1995) with a similar FIA method. The carbon recoveries of the DDW standards were quantitatively close to 100% irrespective of the operating temperature of the water bath, because the DDW standards exhibited similar regression equations with correlation coefficients of 0.97 and 0.99 at 58° C and 70° C respectively. The $35^{\circ}/_{00}$ NaCl solution standards at both temperatures were also quantitatively exhibiting 100% carbon recovery, although the interference by chloride was present. The chloride signal was added to the carbon signal and the peak areas tabulated for the $35^{\circ}/_{00}$ NaCl solution standards were a combination of the carbon and chloride signals.

The interference by chloride on the carbon signals was more pronounced at 70°C than at 58°C (see figure 11) with each of the IC standard. The above result indicated that it would not be a positive option to use a higher temperature than 58°C because such increase would lead to the enhancement of chloride interference. Furthermore, the interference by chloride was more varied given the larger standard deviations calculated for the %Cl_{ox} at 70°C. The carrier stream registered 39°C just before diffusion when the water bath was operated at 58°C. By changing the temperature of the water bath to 70°C, the carrier stream registered a temperature of 43°C just before diffusion. The increase of temperature to 70°C resulted in a warmer (43°C) carrier stream arriving at the membrane, consequently both carbon dioxide and chlorine diffused but the chlorine diffused to a greater extent than previously when the

water bath was operated at 58°C. Consequently, the level of chloride interference on the carbon signal in each standard increased. Diffusion was expected to increase when the temperature of the carrier stream was elevated to 70°C (Schulze *et al.*, 1988). On the other hand, the standards prepared in DDW did not indicate significant changes to their carbon recoveries when the temperature was increased to 70°C (see table 5) implying that 39°C was sufficient for the complete diffusion of carbon dioxide. The sensitivity of the instrument (slope of the regression equations) remained fairly constant despite the change in temperature of the carrier stream (just before diffusion) from 39°C to 43°C. It was vital to understand that the sensitivity of the FIA system was not necessarily improved by increasing the temperature at which diffusion took place, although Su and others (1998) alluded to the possible increase in sensitivity when the temperature of the donor stream was increased.

The interference by chloride decreased as the ratio of chloride to inorganic carbon ([CI]/[IC]) decreased and this was evident from the rapid decrease in chloride interference as the inorganic carbon level increased to 6mg/L (see section 3.7). The ratio of chloride to inorganic carbon decreased because the amount of inorganic carbon increased but the amount of chloride remained fairly constant in the standards although the disparity in the concentration of chloride and inorganic carbon in each standard was substantial. The oxidation of chloride to chlorine (Schreurs, 1978 and Koshy *et al.*, 1992) was not enhanced at 70°C, but rather the increase in the diffusion of chlorine to the acceptor stream was responsible for the subsequent increase in chloride interference.



3.2 Recovery experiments

3.2.1 Model organic compounds

The efficiency of the 100% oxidant solution or the FIA system (manifold) as a whole was tested on seven model organic compounds to illustrate its ability to oxidize organic substances. The average carbon recovery was $98(\pm 9)$ %, see table 6. The recoveries were estimated by comparing the carbon recoveries of 5mg C/L of each organic compound with the recovery of a 5mg C/L inorganic carbon standard. Complete conversion of inorganic carbonate to carbon dioxide after acidification was assumed for the IC standard because when this standard was acidified with 1M H₂SO₄ and reanalyzed, it did not register any carbon signal implying that all the IC in the standard had been evolved after the addition of the acid.

Table 6

Carbon recoveries of model organic compounds (5mg C/L)

(Peak area x 107)

Model Organic Compounds	Peak area	%Recovery, FIA manifold, this work	%Recovery FIA, (Koshy et al., 1992)	% Recovery Beckman HTCO (Koshy et al., 1992)
5mg/L	(±1\$D) n≂8	(±1\$D) n=8	(±1SD) n≖5	(±18D) n=7
Citric acid	1.9(0.2)	105(12)	106.0(4.1)	108.0(1.0)
Thiourea	1.9(0.1)	100(5)	101.0(0.9)	100.0(0.8)
Sodium acetate	1.8(0.1)	95(5)	102.0(2.8)	106,0(1.0)
KHP	2.0(0.1)	105(3)	103.0(1.4)	
Urea	2.0(0.1)	105(8)	104.0(0.4)	102.0(1.6)
D-Glucose	1.8(0.1)	95(7)	96.0(1.8)	102.0(0.3)
Nicotinic acid	1.5(0.2)	7 9 (11)	92.0(2.6)	100.0(0.8)
5mg/L (IC)	1.9 (0 ,1)	1 00		
Average		98(9)	100.6(4.9)	103(3.3)

The oxidation efficiency of the FIA manifold used in this project was comparable to the oxidation efficiencies of the FIA manifold and the Beckman HTCO unit used by (Koshy *et al.*, 1992). This was substantiated by a statistical F test (95% confidence interval, F_{test} value = 3.4, $F_{ortilcal}$ 6,6 =4.2, see appendix 6) performed on the recoveries of the model compounds using the FIA manifold used in this work and the FIA manifold described by (Koshy *et al.*, 1992). The above test showed an insignificant difference in the two sets of carbon recoveries. Unlike the recovery experiments by Chen & Wangersky (1993) with another WCO method, the nitrogen and sulfur containing compounds (Nicotinic acid, Thiourea, Urea and Citric acid) tested with this FIA manifold did not show complete refractory behavior. The oxidation capacity of this FIA manifold was also

comparable to a similar photo-oxidation method that had an average recovery of the model compounds in excess of 98% (Collins & Williams, 1977). In another measurement of DOC in lake water via photochemical oxidation, the average oxidation efficiency was 97% (Brooksbank & Goulden, 1975). The recovery exercise on the model compounds was deemed sufficient to demonstrate the oxidation capacity of the FIA system described in this work. The DOC data obtained in this project through the FIA system was compared with corresponding DOC data obtained from a HTCO Shimadzu 2000-UV carbon analyzer, (see section 3.10.1). The comparison would further substantiate the oxidation capacity of the FIA system described in this work.

Citric acid, Potassium hydrogen phthalate (KHP) and Urea recorded carbon recoveries slightly greater than 100% (see table 6). Though these compounds have recoveries above 100% they were still within an error of one standard deviation of their average recoveries. All the other compounds had recoveries equal to or greater than 90% with the exception of Nicotinic acid which had a low carbon recovery of 79%. Nicotinic acid was one of the most resistant materials to persulfate UV oxidation because of the slow degradation of the nitrogen components of the organic substances to the inorganic forms like nitrate and ammonia (Goulden & Anthony, 1978, Chen & Wangersky, 1993 and Guardia *et al.*, 1995). This compound seemed to be the only refractory compound among the range of model compounds analyzed. However, the situation might not be the same in a marine water body, given the complexity of the substances present. The FIA system described in this work generally had a high average carbon recovery (98±9%). However, the variation in terms of the

standard deviation (9%) alluded to the fact that like all other WCO and HTCO methods complete oxidation of DOC in seawater is not always possible. This is a reality analysts have to bear in mind when obtaining results from instruments, be it from complex instruments or laboratory constructed instruments like this FIA system.

3.2.2 Organic carbon recovery in the presence of high and low levels of inorganic carbon

Table 7

Carbon recoveries at a high and low levels of inorganic carbon (IC)

(Peak	area	х	10')	ł
-------	------	---	------	---

#	Sample	Peak area	% Recovery (±1SD)	-
1	4mg C/L (KHP, DDW)	1.8(0.1)	100	
2	20mg C/L (IC, 35º/ ₀₀ NaCl solution)	9. 0(0.1)		
3	20mg C/L + 4mg C/L (IC + KHP, 35% NaCl solution)	10 .8(0.1)	100(8)	
4	4mg C/L (IC, 35 ⁰ / ₀₀ NaCI solution)	2.4(0.1)		
5	4mg C/L + 4mg C/L (IC + KHP, 35% NaCl solution)	4.1(0.1)	94(9)	

Note: The 4mg C/L (KHP) had a 100% carbon recovery.

The oxidation efficiency of the 100% oxidant strength solution did not appear to be affected by the presence of high or low levels of IC. This was evident from the results of samples 3 and 5 which were made in the $35^{\circ}/_{\circ\circ}$ NaCl solution to simulate the situation in the natural marine and estuarine environment (see table 7). When the 4mg/L DOC (KHP) was placed with 20mg C/L (IC in $35^{\circ}/_{\circ\circ}$ NaCl solution), the 4mg C/L (KHP) standard's carbon recovery was 100%, with

the 4mg C/L (IC in $35^{\circ}/_{00}$ NaCl solution), the 4mg C/L KHP standard had a recovery of 94%. However, the 94% carbon recovery of the organic standard in the low level of IC was within the interval (98±9%) provided for by the average recovery for the model compounds. The above results had also demonstrated the additive nature of the carbon signals. For example, the signal in terms of peak area of sample 3 was equivalent to the sum of samples 1 and 2.

3.3 "Ghost Peak" (GP) Analysis

Natural marine water samples were capable of producing peaks without the presence of the acid and the oxidant (see table 8). These peaks have been operationally defined as ghost peaks, because theoretically these peaks should not have appeared (see appendix 4.0).

Representation of Ghost peaks from selected sites, under UV on & off as well as Treatment with and without ultrapure Nitrogen gas + boiling

Sample/standard	Untreated	N ₂ -bubbled	N ₂ -bubbled + boiled
	Peak area (±18D)	Peak area (±180)	Peak area (±15D)
	<u>110</u>	<u>n=10</u>	11=10
	UV OFF		
Light house	4.3(0.4)	4,6(0.4)	1.6(0.2)
Tamavua River	3.8(0.2)	4.4(0.3)	2.1(0.2)
Nabukalou	7.0(0.3)	4,2(0,4)	2.6(0.2)
			,
	UV ON		
Light house	3.7(0.4)	4.1(0.4)	2,2(0,3)
			()
Tamavua River	3.8(0.2)	4.2(0.2)	2.3(0.5)
Nabukalou	4.4(0.4)	4.1(0.1)	3.4(0.5)
			- (000)
img C/L (IC)	3.8(0.3)		

(Peak area x 10⁶)

Note: Untreated: Samples were analyzed without degassing or boiling N_2 -bubbled: Samples were degassed with Ultra pure nitrogen gas for 15 minutes N_2 -bubbled + boiled: The samples were degassed then boiled

We speculated that dissolved gases caused the ghost peaks. To investigate further the above speculation, a selected number of sites were repeatedly analyzed for their GP and their magnitude in terms of peak areas were comparable to that of a 1mg/L (IC) standard prepared in DDW (see table 8). When the samples were degassed with ultra pure nitrogen gas for 15 minutes and subjected to the analyses, there were no major changes observed in the GP. Generally speaking, the peak areas of the degassed samples were greater than their peak areas before degassing, see table 8 and figure 12. This result suggests that dissolved gases were not responsible for the GP. The influence of

72

ł

the UV source on the GP was also investigated but found to be generally insignificant for the degassed and untreated seawater samples. Further treatment such as degassing and boiling the samples were carried out and moderate reductions were observed in the GP. However, there would be technical problems if this approach was taken. First there is a great tendency that volatile organic materials will be lost in the boiling process. Secondly the boiling of the samples can increase the salt concentration which might increase chloride interference. When DDW and the $35^{\circ}/_{00}$ NaCl solution were injected without the oxidant no GP signals were visible recorded indicating that the amount of possible carbon impurities in the DDW and the $35^{\circ}/_{00}$ NaCl solution were not sufficient to cause the GP.



Note: Refer to figure 10 and table 5 for the locations indicated by the numbers. Series 1: Untreated Series 2: N₂-bubbled

Series 3: N2-bubbled + boiled

There were suggestions that the GP phenomena might be eliminated if all reagents were degassed, but as evident from figure 12 the degassed samples registered "ghost peaks" with areas greater than their counterparts that were untreated. It is recommended that the reagent bottles (containing the reagents pumped through the FIA system) be covered with parafilms to minimize the possible dissolution of gases in the reagents. Air bubbles have been observed in the FIA system described in this work to cause spurious changes to the conductivity of the acceptor stream (DDW) when air bubbles diffused across the semi permeable membrane. The effectiveness of the membrane in keeping the donor stream separate from the acceptor stream was also studied. This was investigated in terms of the pH of donor line (acidic) and the acceptor line (neutral). The pH of the donor line was 3 and the pH of the acceptor line prior diffusion varied between 6.5 and 7.0. The results were observed to be consistent with theoretical expectations. In other words, the change in conductivity in the acceptor stream resulting in the GP was not caused by the seepage of the carrier stream through the membrane.

The ghost peak data for the untreated sub samples required special attention, since the samples analyzed were not degassed. The ghost peaks under such conditions, had average peak areas of 5.0×10^6 (untreated, UV off) and 3.9×10^6 (untreated UV on) respectively, see table 8. The data showed that the GP could nearly doubled in some cases when the UV was off. This was not a problem in this project since the analyses for DOC was carried out with the UV source on. Nevertheless GP's will still be present. Their effect will be crucial when considering the measured inorganic carbon (IC_m) levels for the different

samples. Consequently, the average "ghost peak" area was subtracted from the IC_m peak areas before the % Cl_{ox} was calculated. A mean peak area for the GP (3.9×10^6) was subtracted from the IC_m peak areas of the seawater samples.

The ghost peak phenomenon has not been addressed in the literature therefore it is difficult at this stage to fully establish its cause. However, GP could have been caused by semi-volatile substances (DOC) that diffused across the semi permeable membrane under the pressure initiated by the flow in the thin (0.3mm, i.d) tubes. The preceding assertion was based on the facts that degassing the seawater samples could not remove the GP and more vigorous treatment like boiling resulted in a slight reduction in the GP. Dissolved gases were not responsible for the GP because the standard procedures of degassing with nitrogen gas and sonication have failed to eliminate GP. The GP phenomenon should be investigated in detail in any future work involving this FIA system.

3.4 Calibration curves

In analytical work unknown parameters are derived from a standard curve or a calibration curve. A calibration curve has an important impact on the accuracy and reliability of the data on the unknown parameter. In this project, calibration standards were freshly prepared on the day of analysis for DOC. The carbon standards were prepared from anhydrous sodium bicarbonate in DDW as well as in the 35°/₀₀ NaCl solution. Table 9 below gives the equations for typical calibration curves for standards prepared in DDW and the 35°/₀₀ NaCl solution.

over a period of time (see appendix 2 for the FIA peaks of a typical set of calibration standards prepared in DDW).

Table 9

Typical calibration equations (equation for a straight line) used in the project

Date	(C) range	Slope	Y-intercept	R ²
	mg/L	Peak area	Peak area	
8/8/97(DDW)	1-24	0.4	0.2	0.99
9/8/97(35º/00 NaCl solution)	1-24	0.3	0.9	0.99
7/7/98(DDW)	5-25	0.4	0.3	0.99
7/7/98(35% NaCl solution)	5-25	0.3	1.9	0.99
8/7/98(DDW)	5-25	0.4	0.5	0.99
8/7/98(35 ⁰ / ₀₀ NaCl solution)	5-25	0.4	1,5	0.99

(Peak area x 10⁷)

The mean slope or calibration sensitivity was $0.4(\pm 0.1)$. The slope varied slightly irrespective of the solvent (DDW and $35^{0}/_{00}$ NaCl solution), used to prepare the standards (see table 9). The slight variation in the calibration sensitivity could have been caused by the variations in the conductivity of the acceptor stream (DDW) (Koshy *et al.*, 1992 and Kuban & Dasgupta, 1993) since the acceptor stream was not buffered. On the other hand, buffering the acceptor stream will increase its baseline conductivity and such increase will further reduce the calibration sensitivity of the FIA system used in this work (Koshy *et al.*, 1992). The variations in the calibration sensitivity of the standards (both in DDW and the $35^{0}/_{00}$ NaCl solution) tabulated in table 9 were not significantly different in contrast to the work by DeBaar and others (1993) that recorded large

over a period of time (see appendix 2 for the FIA peaks of a typical set of calibration standards prepared in DDW).

Table 9

Typical calibration equations (equation for a straight line) used in the project

Date	[C] range	Slope	Y-Intercept	R ²
	mg/L	Peak area	Peak area	
8/8/97(DDW)	1-24	0.4	0.2	0,99
9/8/97(35º/00 NaCl solution)	1-24	0.3	0.9	0.99
7/7/98(DDW)	5-25	0.4	0.3	0,99
7/7/98(35 ⁹ / ₀₀ NaCl solution)	5-25	0.3	1.9	0.99
8/7/98(DDW)	5-25	0.4	0.5	0.99
8/7/98(35 ⁰ /00 NaCl solution)	5-25	0.4	1.5	0.99

(Peak area x 10⁷)

The mean slope or calibration sensitivity was $0.4(\pm 0.1)$. The slope varied slightly irrespective of the solvent (DDW and $35^{0}/_{00}$ NaCl solution), used to prepare the standards (see table 9). The slight variation in the calibration sensitivity could have been caused by the variations in the conductivity of the acceptor stream (DDW) (Koshy *et al.*, 1992 and Kuban & Dasgupta, 1993) since the acceptor stream was not buffered. On the other hand, buffering the acceptor stream will increase its baseline conductivity and such increase will further reduce the calibration sensitivity of the FIA system used in this work (Koshy *et al.*, 1992). The variations in the calibration sensitivity of the standards (both in DDW and the $35^{0}/_{00}$ NaCl solution) tabulated in table 9 were not significantly different in contrast to the work by DeBaar and others (1993) that recorded large

differences in the calibration sensitivities of standards made in distilled water and synthetic seawater.

The FIA system used in this work has a 40% sensitivity of the most sensitive method/instrument for DOC determination, because the most sensitive method/instrument will have calibration sensitivity close to 1 (Skoog & Leary, 1992). The low calibration sensitivity of this FIA system was also reflected in the detection limit of this FIA method (see section 3.5) which was generally lower than other WCO methods like the method described by Koshy and others (1992). However, this method could be applied to estuarine and coastal waters that generally have DOC levels in the range of 1-20mg/L (Riley & Chester, 1971 and Head, 1976).

The Y-intercepts varied with the media of standard preparation, but not so much within calibration standards made from the same solvent. The calibration curves made from $35^{0}/_{00}$ NaCl solution standards showed higher values for the Y-intercept than the curves from standards prepared in DDW. The Y-intercept is the instrumental signal for a blank. The high instrumental signal for a blank in the $35^{0}/_{00}$ NaCl solution was a result of the oxidation of chloride to chlorine gas (Schreurs, 1978, Koshy *et al.*, 1992 and Perdue *et al.*, 1993). The average peak area equivalent to the mean Y intercept for the $35^{0}/_{00}$ NaCl solution was injected as a sample, an average peak area of 1.3 units was recorded, this was 93% of the mean peak area of the Y-intercept for the standards prepared in the

35% NaCl solution. The difference of 7% was probably caused by carbon impurities in the DDW and NaCl salt used, albeit the use of analytical grade NaCl. The mean Y-intercept for the DDW standards was 0.3±0.1. When DDW was injected as a sample, the "bumps" it caused could not be distinguished from the instrument noise implying that the DDW might have carbon residues less than the detection limit (see section 3.5) of the FIA system used in this work. Thus the intercept for the standards prepared in DDW could be caused by the presence of carbon residues in the solvent (DDW) or contributions from carbon from the previous injections and the contamination of the glassware although the DDW used did not register recognizable signals when injected and the glassware were soaked in 30% nitric acid.

The calibration curves registered correlation coefficients (\mathbb{R}^2) of one. The high \mathbb{R}^2 values indicated a strong association between the peak areas and the standard's concentrations. As a consequence the calibration curves were reliable and were elucidating quantitative carbon contents of the samples.



Since, the calibration sensitivity does not consider the precision of an individual datum in the calibration curves, the analytical sensitivity [(slope/standard deviation) at each point of the curve] was devised (Skoog & Leary, 1992). It was thought to be appropriate to include the precision of the data into sensitivity measurements. Table 10 exhibits the analytical sensitivity for a number of carbon concentrations. The analytical sensitivity was high at the low levels of carbon concentration. It decreased rapidly as the carbon concentration approached 5mg/L irrespective of the media of standard preparation. The analytical sensitivity observed for this method at the concentrations studied were consistent with those observed by (Koshy *et al.*, 1992). The only difference was that they considered carbon concentrations below 1mg/L. Analytical sensitivity is not subjective to data amplification and units of measurements (Skoog & Leary, 1992). It is however, dependent on the concentration of the standards as observed in table 10. The decrease in

analytical sensitivity was caused by low precision usually inherent with high concentrations and the departure from linearity as the concentrations of the standards increased.

Table 10

Analytical sensitivities (slope/standard deviation) for a range of carbon concentrations

[C] mg/L	Analytical Sensitivity 8/8/97	Analytical Sensitivity 9/8/97	Analytical Sensitivity 7/7/98	Analytical Sensitivity 7/7/98	Analytical Sensitivity 8/7/98	Analytical Sensitivity 8/7/98
	(DDW)	(SSW)	(DDW)	(8SW)	(DDW)	(SSW)
1	16	17	2	2	4	3
2	9	4	•	-	-	-
3	6	7	-	-	-	-
5	-	-	2	2	4	3
10	•	-	0.5	2	0.7	2
15	•	-	0.6	0.6	0.8	0.5

In general, FIA methods usually have lower sensitivities than their manual and air segmented counterparts, because the measurements in FIA are performed under non-steady conditions. Sensitivity can be enhanced by on line preconcentration and the introduction of solid interfaces to the system (Esmadi *et al.*, 1990 and Luque De Castro & Tena, 1993).

3.5 Detection Limits

Detection limits discern the ability of an instrument or method to differentiate between small amounts of the analyte of interest and the noise due to the instrument and other substances present in the solution. We are concerned with the instrument detection limit (IDL) and the method detection limit (MDL). The former limit gives the minimum distinguishable analytical signal (S_m) and is based on the sum of the mean blank value (S_{bl}) and three times the standard deviation of the blank value (SD_{bl}) (Skoog & Leary, 1992 and Skoog *et al.*, 1998). The MDL is the constituent concentration when processed through the complete method produces a signal with 99% probability that it is different from the blank. It can be calculated by taking the difference between IDL and SD_{bl} and divide it by the slope of the calibration curve.

In this project, the IDL was experimentally determined by repeated injection of DDW as the sample over a period of three days. In the process of injecting DDW, the other reagents were continuously pumped thus were simultaneously injected. It had a magnitude of 0.3 peak area units. The method detection limit was calculated based on the mean calibration curve of the DDW standards in table 9, MDL had a magnitude of 0.8 mg/L or approximately 1part per million. In the method described by (Koshy *et al.*, 1992), the detection limit was 0.1 mg/L, it was a better method in that sense. The difference could have been a result of the difference in modes of detection and the nature of the acceptor stream. Furthermore, the operating temperature of the water bath was different in both cases. In this project, the operating temperature was 58°C, this was essential,

as increasing the temperature to 98°C as in the original method by (Koshy et al., 1992) would also result in enhanced chloride interference (see section 3.1).

IDL and MDL calculation

IDL= Σmean blank (S_{bi}) + 3(standard deviation of blank, SD_{bi})

= 0.3 + 3(0.1)

=0.6 peak area units MEAN DDW EQUATION FROM TABLE 10: Y = 0.4X + 0.3 X = [C]= (0.6 - 0.3)/0.4

= 0.75mg C/L

=0.8mg C/L

MDL = 0.8mg C/L

Detection limits depend on the replicability of the baseline reading. Thus to achieve a low detection limit, the baseline has to be constant. The FIA system used in this work had a baseline conductivity that varied from 1 to 4 μ S/cm. An increase in baseline conductivity has been observed to increase the carbon signal for that particular standard or sample in terms of peak area; the same was true for a decrease in baseline conductivity reading. The baseline in this method was based on the conductivity of DDW. It was not buffered and so it was subjected to variations caused by carry over effects, solutes adsorbed on the PTFE tubes, surface of the Pt - electrodes and possible slow diffusion of the previous injection caused by transfer kinetics at the membrane interface (Su *et al.*, 1998). The set back was that conductimetry is a non-selective method of

detection thus a high and variable baseline conductivity could cause unacceptable noise (Su *et al.*, 1998). If the DDW was buffered to avoid variations in the baseline, it could have been possible to achieve a better detection limit than that observed for this method. Although the flow of the acceptor stream was observed not to be obstructed by the detector, the retention of the DDW with ions cannot be disregarded. This was substantiated by the fact that when the detector was opened and washed with DDW, the baseline dropped. A change in the DDW passing through as the acceptor can also bring the baseline down. If the DDW was buffered it could have been possible to achieve a better detection limit than 0.8mg/L.

3.6 Attempts to eliminate/measure inorganic carbon (IC)

3.6.1 Synthetically Prepared IC standards (25mg/L)

The acidification of the standards and samples was done without the presence of the oxidant. In the development of the FIA method used in this project, IC elimination was also considered despite the positive contribution it has on dealing with chloride interference, see section 3.7. IC elimination depended on a number of factors like pH, sample volume, the operating temperature and the rate of degassing with nitrogen or oxygen (Sharp *et al.*, 1993b).

IC removal was initially tested with a 25mg C/L standard made in DDW. From numerical calculations based on the amount of carbonate in 40ml of the standard, 0.04ml of 84% phosphoric acid was added for the complete removal

of IC. The average peak area for the standard before acidification was 13.1 peak area units, after acidification plus moderate heating and vigorous stirring, the same standard had a peak area of 1.1 units, see table 11. Since a concentrated solution of the acid was used, further addition of the acid to remove all IC in the standards will dilute the standard subsequently requiring the readjustment of the pH of the standard or sample for that matter with 1M NaOH to neutrality (pH 7). The readjustment of the pH of the standard or sample with 1M NaOH would further dilute the standard or sample. Nitrogen bubbling was not initially undertaken, in view of the fact that IC removal should utilize materials and options that are readily available in developing laboratories. The preceding reason might seem to be trivial in modern and developed laboratories, the same cannot be said for laboratories in third world countries. The significant reduction in peak area justified the above procedure. Furthermore, the 25mg C/L standard (DDW) which was vigorously stirred without degassing had almost the same recovery of IC after acidification as the standard that was degassed with nitrogen (see table 11).

Type of sample	Prior Acidification	After Acidification	% reduction
	(±1 SD) n≂4	(±1 SD) n≖4	(±1 SD)
25mg C/L (DDW)+	13.1(0.1)	1.1(0.2)	92(9)
25mg C/L (35 ⁹ / ₀₀ NaCl solution)	15.4(0.1)	1.4(0.1)	91(7)
Nabukalou creek	6.3(0.1)	0.4(0.1)	93.9(6)
Nukulau passage	4.8(0.6)	1,4(0.1)	71(7)
Suva point	6.7(0.2)	2.2(0.2)	67(7)

The peak areas of 25mg C/L standard (DDW and 35% on NaCl solution) and three seawater samples before and after acidification plus N₂ bubbling and sonication (Peak area $\times 10^7$)

Note: • This standard was only moderately heated and vigorously stirred

Another 25mg C/L (IC) standard was prepared in 35⁰/₄₀ NaCl solution and was analyzed as the previous standard but with nitrogen bubbling and sonication.

The carbon signal for the 25mg/L standard prepared in the $35^{9}/_{00}$ NaCl solution (peak area) was reduced by 91%, (see table 11) after acidification, and the subsequent nitrogen bubbling and sonication. The high percentage reductions of the IC signal in both types of standards mean that the amount of acid added was not completely adequate. However, we are not concerned with eliminating all the IC in the seawater samples but to just measure the portion (IC_m) that can be determined by the FIA system described in this work. In circumstances where nitrogen gas and a sonicator are not available, vigorous stirring and moderate heating could be undertaken.

The measured inorganic carbon (IC_m) in the seawater samples was not equivalent to the total inorganic carbon in the seawater samples (Alkalinity: buffering capacity of the seawater sample). This stemmed from the comparison of the peak areas of the 25mg/L (IC) DDW standard and the seawater samples before acidification in which the seawater samples registered about 50% of the peak area of the standard.

3.6.2 Removal of IC from seawater samples

Natural water samples from three selected sites (Suva point, Nukulau passage and Nabukalou creek) were collected and filtered before analyses as in section 2.4.7. To each 40ml of the different seawater samples 0.04ml of phosphoric acid was added. The water samples were analyzed for their IC levels before and after acidification. The peak areas of the marine water samples after acidification plus nitrogen bubbling and sonication were smaller in magnitude than their peak areas prior to acidification. Complete removal of IC was not possible with the amount of acid added. The IC in these three samples was reduced by 67, 71 and 94% respectively after acidification. The immediate point to note here is that the standard procedure of adding a fixed amount of acid to seawater samples and purging with nitrogen or oxygen gas to eliminate all IC will not be successful in all cases. This is because different water samples will tend to require different amounts of acid for the complete removal of IC. The residual IC signals in all the samples after acidification were contributions from unconverted IC and from the individual GP in each water sample.

The complete removal of IC was not pursued any further because it has the ability to mask chloride interference (see section 3.7). Furthermore, acidification of seawater samples had been observed to change the composition of the DOC present in the seawater samples, as demonstrated by fluorescence studies of their spectra after acidification (Sharp et al., 1993a). Another scenario of sample acidification is the fact that, acidification and the subsequent purging of the water samples can result in the removal of acid volatile DOC (Perdue et al., 1993). It was not the intention of this work that the inorganic carbon in the seawater and coastal samples was to be completely measured. The preceding notion stemmed from the method of determining DOC in this FIA system which was by taking the difference between the IC_m and the IC_m plus the IC (TC_m) resulting from the oxidation of DOC (see section 2.8). Consequently, a high IC_m will obstruct the FIA system to elucidate the small differences to its value with the addition of IC from the oxidation of DOC (Aleprin & Martens, 1993). In the overall assessment of IC removal, it should be appreciated that complete removal of IC is not easy. Furthermore, the method of DOC determination utilized in this work did not require the measurement of the total IC in the sample.
3.7 The interference by Chloride on carbon measurement

The enhancement of carbon signals by chlorine gas has been observed with saline samples (Koshy *et al.*, 1992). In this part of the project, the interference by chloride had been quantified and shown to be present, see the following table and appendix 1 for the actual plots of selected standards prepared in DDW and the $35^{\circ}/_{\infty}$ NaCl solution.

Table 12

The Interference by Chloride on the measurement of carbon (IC) standards

[C] mg/L	DDW Peak area (±1SD) n=10	35 ⁹ /₀ NaCl solution Peak area (±18D) n=10	%Cl _{ox} (±2SD)	[C[]/[C] x10 ³
0		1.30(0.01)		
1	0.38(0.03)	1.02(0.04)	168(16)	21
1.2	0.59(0.02)	1.21(0.01)	105(5)	18
1.8	0.95(0.03)	1.64(0.02)	73(8)	12
2	0.96(0.02)	1.38(0.02)	42(3)	10
3	1.27(0.04)	1.70(0.08)	34(7)	7
4	1.78(0.07)	2.38(0.05)	34(7)	5
8	3.46(0.02)	3.63(0.06)	5(2)	3
16	6.32(0.09)	6.60(0.03)	4(1)	1
24	8.84(0.09)	8.94(0.01)	1 (1)	1

(Peak area X 10⁷)

Note: %Cl_{ex} =% difference in carbon signal caused by chloride = [(35⁰/₁₀₀ NaCl solution – DDW)] x (DDW /100) = A measure of chloride interference

[CI]/[IC] = The concentration ratio between chloride and inorganic carbon in a standard

Significant enhancements of the carbon signals occur at the low levels of inorganic carbon (IC) (<8mg/L). The overall differences caused by the chloride

in the 35% NaCl solution standards were significant according to a ANOVA test (see appendix 6.0) on the data in table 12. However, as the concentration of IC increased, the level of interference by chloride decreased rapidly (see figure 14). A natural coastal marine water sample with an IC level as low as 8mg/L, would show approximately 5% chloride interference (%Clox).



Figure 14 %Cl_{α} versus inorganic carbon concentration in the 35^{0} /_{∞} NaC) solution

The decrease in chloride interference is a result of the rapid decrease in the ratio of chloride to inorganic carbon as the level of IC increased. The amount of chloride in each sample remained constant $(35^{0}/_{00})$ relative to the increasing IC in each consecutive standard. Carbon dioxide is a larger molecule than chlorine gas consequently, at the surface of the semi-permeable membrane carbon dioxide could have prevented the diffusion of chlorine. The prevention mode of

carbon dioxide on chlorine diffusion must have been more prominent as the level of IC increased (implying more carbon dioxide). The minimum amount of chloride in all the standards prepared in the $35^{\circ}/_{00}$ NaCl solution was $33^{\circ}/_{00}$. The doubling of carbon signals observed by Koshy and others (1992) must have been a consequence of the removal of IC prior to DOC determination.

On the other hand, the amount of chloride oxidized per standard was not equivalent to the amount of chloride oxidized when the $35^{\circ}/_{00}$ NaCl solution was injected as a sample without IC (see table 12, row 1). To assume that chloride was oxidized consistently on all the standards prepared in the $35^{\circ}/_{00}$ NaCl solution would be contradictory to the above results. For example, the 1mg C/L standard ($35^{\circ}/_{00}$ NaCl solution) had a peak area that was not equivalent to the sum of the oxidized chloride in the $35^{\circ}/_{00}$ NaCl solution (1.30 X10⁷ peak area unit) and the 1mg C/L DDW standard (0.38×10^7 peak area unit). The rest of the standards ($35^{\circ}/_{00}$ NaCl solution) exhibited similar results as the above example. The preceding results alluded to the possible suppression of the oxidation of chloride by the inorganic carbon (Miller *et al.*, 1993) present in the standard.

3.7.1 The outcomes of Chloride Quantification

This part of the work had strongly demonstrated that the IC present in a sample could be used to the advantage of this method of DOC determination. The major objective of the project was to affirm the applicability of the flow injection method developed by Koshy and his co-workers in 1992 for the measurement

of DOC in marine and estuarine samples. From this chloride interference quantification exercise, one would realize that DOC from such sites could be quantified without too much interference from chloride. This is because natural marine waters have IC concentrations near 20mg C/L (Manahan, 1994), and for such levels of IC, the %Cl_{ox} will be quantitatively small when calculated from the equation in figure 14 ($Y=166X^{-7.5}$, Y=%Cl_{ox}, X= IC_m). There need not be concern about whether all seawater or estuarine water samples will have an IC level near 20mg/L as an IC level as low as 8mg/L would only register chloride interference near 5%. Such low levels of chloride interference could be easily accounted for in the determination of DOC (see section 2.8).

Brackish and estuarine samples can have their IC_m quantified or enhanced with synthetically prepared IC and necessary numerical corrections can be made for any residual chloride interference using the above equation. The numerical approach for correcting the chloride effect is appropriate for this system since we do not want to introduce any more chemicals that may change the pH of the reaction media in any chemical method used for the elimination of chloride. In addition, the system should be kept as simple as possible for ease of operation, while at the same time provide accurate results.

3.8 Attempts to eliminate/minimize Chloride interference

3.8.1 Reduction of Oxidant power

One of the approaches suggested in the objectives of the project was to reduce the power of the oxidant with the hope of not oxidizing chloride. The amount of oxidant used in this work was based on the amount of oxidant used by (Koshy *et al.*, 1992) and it was initially thought to be excessive (Personal comm., Koshy). Therefore, reducing the oxidant strength could have reduced the possibility of oxidizing chloride given its high positive reduction potential at 25°C (Alyward & Findlay, 1974). Consequently, the interference by chloride on the DOC signal will be eliminated or minimized. The proposed oxidation scheme for organic compounds by persulfate is given below. The oxidation ability of the persulfate is a result of its ability to produce hydroxyl radicals upon photodecomposition. The radicals are highly oxidizing in nature, most forms of organic carbon are converted to carbon dioxide (Koshy *et al.*, 1992).

Oxidation scheme of organic carbon by persuifate (Stumm & Morgan, 1981 and Minisci et al., 1983)

 $S_2O_8^{2^-} \rightarrow 2SO_4^-$ (0-0 bond scission) $SO_4^- + H_2O \rightarrow HSO_4^+ + OH^-$ (hydroxyl radical production) $2OH^+ + DOC + 1/2O_2 \rightarrow CO_2 + H_2O$ (oxidation of DOC) $2OH^- \rightarrow H_2O + 1/2O_2$ (removal of the hydroxyl radicals)

The objective behind this part of the work was to reduce the oxidant strength to a level that would have a carbon recovery near 80% with a view to boost carbon recovery to 100% using TiO_2 catalyst. The data in table 13 clearly demonstrated

the reduction in the oxidation efficiencies of the diluted oxidants compared with the oxidation efficiency of the 100% oxidant strength solution. The recovery of the standard did not drop below 80% even with 50% reduction of the oxidant strength. The results tabulated in table 13 confirmed the assertion by Koshy and his co-workers that the oxidant used in their work was excessive (Koshy *et al.*, 1992).

Table 13

The carbon recovery of a 5mg C/L (DDW, KHP) standard using different oxidant strength solutions

% Oxidant level	% Carbon recovery (±1\$D) n=4
100	100
90	93(2)
70	87(4)
60	86(5)
50	86(3)
30	72(1)
10	62 (4)

As evident from the table above, the recovery of the 5mg C/L standard (KHP) using the different oxidant levels ranged from 62% to 93%. Even with substantial reduction of the oxidant strength the recoveries were still above 50%. Because of the moderate carbon recovery with the 50% oxidant solution, it was decided at that stage that this diluted oxidant solution would be used with a heterogeneous catalyst to compensate for the loss of oxidant strength. The carbon recovery of the 5mg C/L (KHP) standard at 50% oxidant strength level was 86%, which was reasonably high.

3.8.1.1 The use of the catalyst: Titanium dioxide

In section 3.8.1, the 50% oxidant strength solution was chosen as the new oxidant to be used in conjunction with the catalyst. The photocatalytic activity of titanium dioxide is well known especially amongst those in the paint industry, where it causes the problem of flaking. The catalyst has been found to oxidize most organic compounds including methane gas (Matthews *et al.*, 1990). TiO₂ has been widely used in the decontamination of effluents from industries and laboratories containing substances like dyes, nitroamines and other organic substances (Heller, 1995, Yu-Chuanming & Jiang, 1995, Harada, 1994, Martin *et al.*, 1995, Guittonneau *et al.*, 1995, Rao & Sangeeta, 1995, Tang & Huren, 1995, Tabata *et al.*, 1995 and Giglio *et al.*, 1995). The OH radicals were produced from titanium dioxide in the following sequence (Pramauro *et al.*, 1995)

 $TiO_2 + h\nu \{E \ge E_{bg} \rightarrow e_{(CB)}\} + h^+ \dots \dots (i)$

 $O_{2(adsorbed)} + \Theta_{(CB)} \rightarrow O_{2}^{*}_{(adsorbed)}$(ii)

'Ti^{lv}-OH^{*} + h^{*}→Ti^{lv}/.OH..........(iii)

 $Ti^{Iv}-OH_2 + h^* \rightarrow Ti^{Iv}/OH + H^*....(iv)$

CB - Conduction band, E_{bff} - Band gap energy, h⁺ - Valence band holes, hv - UV Note: The production of hydroxyl radicals occur at the surface of the catalyst particles On the incident of about 3% UV radiation the TiO₂ particles absorb the radiation and promote electrons to the conduction band leaving corresponding valence band holes. The charge carriers (holes) can be lost through recombination or rapidly migrate to the surface of the particles to get trapped as radicals (holes:

 $[Ti^{V}-O^{-}-Ti^{V}]-OH^{-}$). At the surface of the TiO₂ particles the surface radicals (holes) give rise to reactions (iii) and (iv).

The catalyst could be utilized as a suspension or it can be embedded on glass, without affecting its catalytic activity. The catalyst was used in this project as a suspension because of its simplicity in application.

Organic carbon standards (KHP) used in the recovery experiments were of the following concentrations: 2, 5, 15 and 25mg C/L (see table 14). The FIA system described by (Guardia *et al.*, 1995) required a specific amount of TiO₂ (0.5g/L) to be used for oxidation. However, the recommended amount was not applicable to the FIA system described in this work because Guardia and others (1995) used reaction tubes with larger internal diameters (0.8mm). Unfortunately, reaction tubes with internal diameters of 0.8mm were not available. Consequently, new amounts of the catalyst had to be tried on this FIA system and it was established that 0.0048g of titanium dioxide was the optimum amount required per 40ml of the standard. The suspension was made with the mixture of 50% oxidant solution and the catalyst by using a magnetic stirrer. This was to avoid the oxidant pump tube from taking in the large granules of the catalyst.

The information in table 14 was obtained using the 50% oxidant strength solution on KHP standards with and without the catalyst. With the 50% oxidant

strength solution alone, the carbon standard registered carbon recoveries that

ranged from 81% to 92%.

Table 14

Recovery tests of 50% oxidant and 50% oxidant + catalyst on varying organic carbon levels represented by KHP (DDW) standards

[C] KHP mg/L	Recovery with 50% Oxidant (±1SD) n=4	Recovery with 50% Oxidant + catalyst (±1SD) n=4	Quantity of catalyst/g
25	92(2)	96 (2)	0.0048
15	81(2)	70(2)	0.0109
15	84(2)	87(2)	0.0048
5	89 (2)	103(2)	0.0048
2	89(2)	102(2)	0.0048

When 0.0048g TiO₂ was added to the 50% oxidant solution, the 2 and 5mg C/L standards registered recoveries just above 100%. The above result indicated that the amount of catalyst used was sufficient to compensate for the reduction in oxidant strength. The recoveries were 102% and 103% for the 2 and 5mg C/L standards respectively. However, the higher levels of DOC, 15mg C/L and 25mg C/L exhibited carbon recoveries less than 100%, at 87% and 96% respectively. The registration of lower recoveries by the 15mg/L and 25mg/L standards suggests that the amount of catalyst used was not sufficient to effectively compensate the reduction in oxidant strength. The next step taken was to increase the amount of catalyst for the high range of DOC, and so the 15mg C/L was analyzed with the 50% oxidant level plus 0.0110g of the catalyst.

The carbon recovery for this standard was less than its recovery with the 50% oxidant strength solution alone. The low carbon recovery for the 15mg C/L standard was the consequence of the irregular flow of the oxidant to the oxidation chamber. In the preceding experiment with the 15mg C/L standard and the 50% oxidant strength solution plus 0.0110g of titanium dioxide, leaks caused by blockages were frequent. To further substantiate the observation (blockage/leakage) that increasing the amount of catalyst was detrimental to the operation of the FIA system, a 2mg C/L and 15mg C/L (KHP) standards were oxidized with 50% oxidant strength solution plus 0.1000g TiO₂. The standards did not register any carbon signal at all because severe blockage of the tubes by TiO₂ made the FIA system operations very difficult.

Another possibility is to have this catalyst immobilized on the inside wall of the tube wounded around the UV source as was used by (Matthews *et al.*, 1990). However, this approach was not feasible for this method since the tubes are very small and the packing of the catalyst will mean that FIA parameters like pumping tubes and pumping rates etc., will have to be optimized again.

3.8.1.2 The effect of 50% oxidant+0.0048g catalyst on chloride interference

The "new" oxidant combination (50% oxidant strength solution + catalyst) was tested for its effect on chloride interference. The following standards, 2, 4, 16 and 24mg C/L (IC) were made in DDW and the $35^{0}/_{00}$ NaCl solution and subjected to the "new" oxidant. The data showed a positive enhancement of the chloride signal (see tables 15 & 16). The use of IC standards instead of organic

standards was purposely done to check for the possible enhancement of the carbon signal brought by the catalysis of the oxidation of chloride. It is an established fact that TiO_2 can quantitatively oxidize DOC to carbon dioxide (Matthews *et al.*, 1990). On the other hand TiO_2 is also a known oxidizing agent for compounds containing halogens like chlorine (Minisci *et al.*, 1983). Consequently, the objective of this part of the work was to elucidate the positive or negative effect of the catalyst on the oxidation of chloride before the new oxidant combination could be accepted for the oxidation of DOC in estuarine and coastal waters.

Table 15

Effect of 50% Oxidant + 0.0048g TiO₂ on Chloride Interference

DDW (±1SD)	35% NaCl solution (±1SD)	%Cl _{ox} (±1\$D)
n=4	n=4	
1.0(0.1)	1.6(0.1)	60(4)
1,8(0.1)	2.8 (0.1)	56(2)
6.3(0.1)	9.2(0.1)	46(1)
8.9(0.1)	10.1 (0.1)	13(1)
	DDW (±15D) n=4 1.0(0.1) 1.8(0.1) 6.3(0.1) 8.9(0.1)	DDW 35% or NaCJ (±1SD) solution n=4 n=4 1.0(0.1) 1.6(0.1) 1.8(0.1) 2.8 (0.1) 6.3(0.1) 9.2(0.1) 8.9(0.1) 10.1 (0.1)

(Peak area x 10⁷)

The results of this set of experiment were similar to the results in table 12. That is, as the concentration of IC increased the level of chloride interference decreased. However, the percentage difference in carbon signals caused by chloride in this set of data were larger than the corresponding %Cl_{ox} obtained in section 3.7, see table 16 and figure 15.

98

No. 2 Mary

ŝ.

Table 16

[C] mg/L	%Cl _{ox} (100% oxidant) (±1SD) n=4	%Cl _{ox} (50% oxidant + catalyst) (±1SD) n=4	Increase in %Cl _{ox} (±18D)
2	42(3)	60(4)	18(5)
4	34(7)	56(3)	22(8)
16	5(2)	56(1)	51(3)
24	1(1)	13(1)	12(1)

%Clox obtained via two different oxidants

Note: increase in %Clox #%Clox (50% oxidant + catalyst) - %Clox (100% oxidant)

The enhancement of the oxidizing power of the 50% oxidant solution with the catalyst did not alleviate the interference by chloride. This could be a consequence of the fact that the catalytic property of TiO_2 is based on its ability to produce hydroxyl radicals which are also the oxidizing species in persulfate (Matthews *et al.*, 1990 and Praumauro *et al.*, 1995). The work on the catalyst was tried albeit its catalytic similarity to persulfate oxidation because the catalyst has an internal mechanism of removing excess OH radicals (Praumauro *et al.*, 1995). Another setback regarding the catalyst is that there is a possibility of it dogging the oxidant line. Effectively, there is little control on the blockage since the catalyst was used as a suspension. Clogging of the tubes will not be easy to deal with since the lines are very thin and long, thus purging them would be very difficult. On the other hand, fresh water samples with DOC *levels ranging from 1-5mg C/L could be analyzed with this "new"* oxidant combination.



3.8.2 The effect of Hydroxylaminehydrochloride (NH2OH.HCI) on the chloride signal

NH₂OH.HCl had been suggested to suppress the signal caused by chloride (Schreurs, 1978 and Tugrul, 1993) by reducing the chlorine gas produced in the oxidation chamber back to chloride ions. However, the appropriate concentration of the reducing agent to be used was not specified in the above articles. Consequently, various amounts of the reducing agent were added to the $35^{0}/_{00}$ NaCl solution and analyzed for the effect of the reducing agent on chlorine. The result is presented in Table 17. The dilution of the $35^{0}/_{00}$ NaCl solution was taken care of by using a concentrated stock solution of the reducing agent (see section 2.7.4), consequently small volumes of the reducing agent were added to the $35^{0}/_{00}$ NaCl solution in 100ml volumetric flasks.

The effect of varying concentrations of Hydroxytaminehydrochloride ($NH_2OH.HCI$) on the chloride signal under 100% oxidant strength solution

35 ⁹ / ₀₆ NaCl solution + NH ₂ OH.HCl [mg/L]	Peak height /mm (±1SD) n=3
35% NaCl solution	200(1)
35 ⁰ / ₀₀ NaCl solution+21,000	37(1)
35º/00 NaCt solution+15,000	37(1)
35º/00 NaCt solution+12,000	36(1)
350/00 NaCl solution+9,000	39(1)
35 ⁰ /00 NaCl solution+3,000	33(1)
35 ⁰ /00 NaCl solution+900	41(1)
35 ⁰ /00 NaCt solution+1000	36(1)
35 ⁰ / ₆₀ NaCl solution+300	46(1)
35º/ ₀₀ NaCl solution+100	41(1)
Mean peak height	38(3)

Note: Peak heights were measured instead of peak areas because a flat bed chart recorder was used instead of an integrator

The $35^{\circ}/_{\infty}$ NaCl solution with 3000 mg/L NH₂OH,HCl had the maximum suppressing effect on the chloride signal. On average, the chloride signal was reduced by $81\pm3\%$ upon the addition of the reducing agent. The ability of the different concentrations of NH₂OH.HCl to reduce chlorine was relatively constant, despite the large changes in their concentrations. However, the reducing agent was not able to completely eliminate the chloride signal. NH₂OH.HCl has been suggested to work as reductant or oxidant (Sharp, 1990).

Since the NH₂OH.HCI was placed in the $35^{0}/_{00}$ NaCI solution, in the oxidation chamber there was an oxidant and a reducing agent present simultaneously. However, from the above results it was obvious that its mode of operation was the reduction of any chlorine gas formed during oxidation. It was decided after this part of the work that the reducing agent with a concentration of 3000mg/L would be used to reduce the chlorine produced in the oxidation chamber back to chloride ions.

3.8.2.1 Effect of 3000mg/L NH₂OH.HCl placed in the acid on chloride interference

The optimized concentration (3000mg/L) of the reducing agent was prepared and placed with the acid used for carbonate and bicarbonate conversion to carbon dioxide (see figure 5). This was undertaken to eliminate any possible counter action between the reducing agent and the oxidizing agent in the UV chamber.

102

ĺ

[C] mg/L	DDW +(IC)	35% NaCl solution + (IC)	35 ⁹⁷ 90 NaCl solution + (IC) NH ₂ OH.HCl	35 ⁷ / ₀₀ NaCl solution + (KHP) NH ₂ OH.HCl
	(±1 SD) n=4	(±1 SD) n=4	(±1 SD) n=4	(±1 SD <u>n=4)</u>
5	2.4(0.2)	2.9(0.2)	2.8(0.4)	2.9(0.1)
10	5.1 (0.5)	5.6 (0.3)	5.3 (0.1)	5.5 (0.2)
15	6.8 (0.4)	7.0 (0.0)	7.0 (0.3)	6.9 (0.4)
20	8.7(0.4)	8.9(0.4)	8.9 (0.4)	8.8 (0.4)
25	9.7 (0.5)	9.8 (0.1)	9.9 (0.2)	9.9(0.2)

The effect	of NH ₂ OH.HCl o	n carbon	signalis	for	both	IC.	and	KHP
	(F	eak area	x 10 ⁷)					

In general, peak areas for the standards under the different conditions specified in table 18 varied from each other, the Cl_{0x} are given in table 19. The variation caused by residual chloride interference after the addition of NH₂OH.HCl, made the two types of standards (IC & KHP) prepared in $35^{0}/_{00}$ NaCl solution to be slightly different from the corresponding standards prepared in DDW. The above observation has been substantiated by an ANOVA test (see appendix 6.0), performed on the peak areas for all the conditions specified in table 18. The outcome of the test signified the presence of chloride interference on the standards without NH₂OH.HCl.

In table 19, the interference by chloride on the carbon signal decreased as the concentration of IC increased even in the presence of $NH_2OH.HCI$. In other words, the interference by chloride on the standards after the addition of the reducing agent was not significantly different from the interference by chloride in the standards without the reducing agent (see section 3.7). In other words, the

choices to use the reducing agent or not depend on the analyst because the masking effect of IC on chloride interference was equivalent to the reducing capacity of NH₂OH.HCI on chlorine gas. In this project we have decided to adapt the masking effect of IC on chloride interference because of the above reason and the fact that it was simpler than the use of the reducing agent.

Table 19

The effect of NH₂OH.HCI on chloride interference on standards prepared in $35^{9}\!/_{00}$ NaCI solution

35 ⁰ / ₀₀ NaCl solution + (IC)	35 ⁰ / ₁₀ NaCl solution + (KHP) + NH ₂ OH.HCl	35 [%] / ₀₀ NaCl solution + (IC) + NH ₂ OH,HCl	
%Clax	%Cl _{ox}	%Clox	
20	16.6	19.1	
4.4	3.9	7.6	
3.2	3.1	2.1	
2.1	2.9	1.3	
1.4	2.2	1.7	
	35 ¹⁷ / ₀₀ NaCl solution + (IC) %Cl _{ax} 20 4.4 3.2 2.1 1.4	35%/∞ NaCl solution + (IC) 35%/∞ NaCl solution + (KHP) + NH₂OH.HCl %Cl _{ax} 20 16.6 4.4 3.9 3.2 3.1 2.1 2.9 1.4 2.2	

3.8.3 The effect of the micro-porous tubing (Accurel PP Type S6/2, 0.2μm pore size; Enka) on chloride interference

One of the methods suggested in this project to deal with chloride interference was the use of micro-porous tubing, see figure 5. The 20cm porous tubing was placed after the UV chamber to eliminate gases like chlorine and oxygen that were formed in the UV chamber. The objective here is to demonstrate the

micro-porous tubing's capacity to eliminate chloride interference. The tubing was porous therefore gases like chlorine and oxygen produced in the oxidation chamber (Koshy *et al.*, 1992) should pass through the pores.

When the micro-porous tubing was attached to the line after the UV chamber the carbon standards (5-15mg/L) made in the $35^{0}/_{00}$ NaCl solution exhibited chloride interference (%Cl_{ox}) less than 10%. The average %Cl_{ox} was 5% for that range of carbon standards. The trend was that at 5 and 10mg C/L (IC), the %Cl_{ox} was less than the %Cl_{ox} at 15mg C/L. When the accurel was removed the %Cl_{ox} observed was similar to that obtained in section 3.7. That is as the concentration of inorganic carbon (IC) increased the %Cl_{ox} decreased, see figure 16. The micro-porous tubing had the capacity to eliminate most of the chlorine produced in the oxidation chamber. The results in table 20 showed that when the micro-porous tubing was placed after the UV chamber the %Cl_{ox} was reduced in all the 35⁰/₀₀ NaCl solution standards (IC).

Table 20

[C] mg/L	DDW mm (w/o) (±1SD) n=10	35 ⁷ / ₄₀ NaCl solution mm (w/o) (±1SD) n=10	DDW mm (w) (±1SD) n=10	35 ⁹ / ₀₀ NaCl solution mm (w) (±1SD) n=10	%Cl _{ox} (w) (±1SD) n≈10	%Cl _{ox} (wo) (±13D)
5	40.0(0.2)	48.4(0.3)	42.5(0.2)	44.4(0.2)	5(2)	21 (2)
10	73.7(0.1)	87.5(0.1)	71.6(0.1)	73.3(0.2)	2(1)	19(1)
15	126.9(0.1)	140.6(0.1)	118.4(0.2)	128.5(0.1)	9(4)	11(2)

Effect of the micro-porous tubing on chloride interference on carbon standards prepared in DDW and $35^{9}\!{}_{00}$ NaCl solution

(wo)- without micro-porous tubing, (w)-with micro-porous tubing

Note: Peak heights were measured instead of peak areas because a flat bed chart recorder was used instead of an integrator.

However, the important point to note is that as the level of IC increased to 15mg/L the difference between the %Cl_{ox} obtained with and without the microporous tubing dropped dramatically to 2%. This difference of 2% was not significant when compared to the difference in %Cl_{ox} at 5 and 10mg/L (IC) with and without the micro-porous tubing.

The above results implied that when dealing with water samples that have low levels of IC, it would be advisable to use the micro-porous tubing to minimize the chloride interference. At the higher range of IC the choice to utilize, the micro-porous tubing or numerical correction as used in this project depends on the analyst. However, in developing countries as in the case of the South Pacific the numerical correction for chloride interference is appropriate, because the micro-porous tubing is very expensive and is not readily available. However,

when the micro-porous tubing is available it can be used with the numerical method in the following manner. For the range of carbon standards investigated in this project, the mean Cl_{ox} was 5%. This could be translated using the equation in figure 14 and it would be equivalent to 11 mg/L of inorganic carbon (IC). The IC (11 mg/L) value could be added to the experimentally determined IC_m of any particular saline water sample and the final IC_m value could be used to determine the experimental Cl_{ox} . If the combination is taken, chloride interference would be small, since an increase in IC would result in a decrease in chloride interference as explained in section 3.7.



Figure 16 Plot of $\&Cl_{w}$ versus carbon concentration with (w) and without (wo) the micro-porous tubing

3.9 Gas diffusion and Conductivity detection

A gas diffusion membrane was used to separate the donor and acceptor streams (see figure 5). A number of different methods of separation were used in other applications (Ruzicka and Hansen, 1981). Gas diffusion was considered to be highly selective because few species could be generated as gases at room temperature (Motomizu *et al.*, 1987). Various types of membranes had been used. These included silicon, rubber and micro porous tetrafluoroethylene (PTFE) which was the most versatile of them all and was used in this project.

The carbon dioxide diffused across the membrane to the acceptor stream (DDW) and changed its conductivity. The acceptor stream was directed to a custom-built conductivity cell, that detected the change in conductivity. The change in conductivity was proportional to the quantity of analyte present in the sample or standard. The use of DDW as the receptor for CO₂ resulted in a negligible background conductance but baseline fluctuations were still observed because of ions adsorbed on to the surface of the electrodes and minute impurities in the DDW. Unlike a similar method by (Kuban & Dasgupta, 1993), where DDW was used as the receptor in the acceptor stream the FIA method used in this project did not have any serious problem with its baseline. Factors like the type of membrane, the temperature of the water bath and length of the reaction coil could affect diffusion in general. However, of all the factors mentioned, the temperature of the donor stream (which is dependent on the temperature of the water bath) was the most effective in enhancing diffusion

(see section 3.1). The enhancement of diffusion was due to the acceleration in the production of volatile compounds and increment of the partial pressure of the donor stream and the diffusion coefficient (Cardwell *et al.*, 1994). In a study where volatile acids were separated from wines, the use of a diffusion membrane resulted in the excellent separation of the volatile acids (Barros & Tubino, 1992).

The main disadvantage of a diffusion membrane is that the different species of interest have to be gaseous, consequently, all other gases had to be removed because gases (not necessarily acidic) have been observed to cause positive changes to the conductivity of the acceptor stream in this FIA system. The preceding observation was made possible by deliberately introducing air bubbles into the carrier stream. In a method developed for total carbon dioxide and ammonia, hydrogen sulfide was removed by the addition of zinc ions, since hydrogen sulfide was also capable of diffusing across the membrane (Hall and Aller, 1992). It might not be possible to remove all interfering gases.

In the FIA manifold used in this work, diffusion and conductivity detection occurred at two different places. Diffusion and detection can be combined to enhance signal sensitivity (Johnson *et al.*, 1992). When these processes occur at two different places, there will be a loss of kinetic information and dilution of the sample's analyte signal (Pavon *et al.*, 1992). The dilution process also contributed to moderate detection limit exhibited by this FIA system. The minimization of this dilution process would improve the limit of detection (Johnson *et al.*, 1992). It is not quite clear whether less soluble gases like

carbon dioxide would dissolve in the acceptor stream in time for detection, if the two processes are to be combined.

Conductimetric detection of the carbon signal in this project had some advantages over other forms of detection like spectrophotometry and potentiometry. First, the detector was simple and was constructed of Perspex glass with four platinum electrodes. This conductivity detector was far cheaper than the average detectors for spectrophotometry, coulometry and potentiometry. The above advantages might not be of any significance in welldeveloped laboratories, but the impact they have on this FIA method's application in a developing laboratory could not be ignored. Perhaps the most important advantage of conductimetric detection was that it had better day to day reproducibility, sensitivity and detection limits than the other forms of detection like spectrometry and potentiometry (Kuban & Dasgupta, 1993). The data in terms of peak area reported in this work were actually conductivity changes in the acceptor stream that were initially detected by the custom built conductivity detector.

3.10 DOC measurement

The prime objective of this part of the project was to do a baseline study of DOC in the Suva lagoon. The period of sampling was not adequate to make future predictions on the DOC levels in the Suva lagoon. In addition, a minor comparison was made between the DOC data obtained from this FIA system and the Shimadzu 2000-UV HTCO unit.

The modified method was used to analyze for DOC levels on selected sites in and around the Suva harbor and Laucala bay that received organic substances from in shore sources. The sampling of the sites was carried out over a period of fourteen weeks (April – August, 1998). In this time frame, sampling was alternated between coastal sites and offshore sites within Laucala bay and Suva harbor (see figure 10). The coastal sites were sampled for eight weeks and the offshore sites were sampled for six weeks.

3.10.1 Comparison of the DOC data obtained from the FIA manifold and the Shimadzu 2000-UV HTCO unit

The discussion in this part of the work on DOC will be based on the average DOC values obtained for each individual method of DOC determination. The above approach was suitable because of the standardizing effect of using averages as opposed to the use of raw data for comparative work (Damond & Harvey, 1987 and Skoog & Leary, 1992). Furthermore, the use of averages for comparative work between WCO and HTCO methods on DOC data were done

by a number of research workers (Gershey *et al.*, 1979, Riley & Skirrow, 1975, Sugimura & Suzuki, 1988, Wangersky, 1993, Tugrul, 1993, Hedges *et al.*, 1993, Chen & Wangersky, 1993, Miller *et al.*, 1993, Sharp *et al.*, 1993b&c and Tupas *et al.*, 1994). The reported averages of the data obtained for the F1A method used in this work were transformed by a statistical procedure (square root transformation, see appendix A 6.0).

The average DOC values for the Sites using the FIA manifold used in	n this project and the
average DOC values obtained from a Shimadzu 2000-UV HTCO unit	

Sites	FIA Method Raw data	FIA Method Transformed	Shimadzu 2000-UV HTCO unit data	IFIA - HTCO1x100 HTCO
	[DOC] mg/L (±1SD) n=32	[DOC] mg/L (±1SD) n=32	[DOC] mg/L (±1SD) n=20	(±1SD) n=10
Kinoya outfall	15(11)	13(4)	12(1)	8(4)
200m Kinoya outfall	18(14)	16(4)	11(1)	31(8)
Nukulau passage	10(11)	9(3)	9(1)	٥
Centra hotel	0.8(0,2)	0,8(0,1)	0. 8(0. 1)	0
200m Nabukalou creek	19(10)	18(3)	1.0(0.4)	1700(6)
Mosquito island	19(13)	18(3)		
Tradewinds	9(11)	8(2)	3(1)	167(4)
Vugalei bridge	6(6)	5(1)	3(1)	67(2)
Tamavua river	8(5)	8(1)	2(1)	300(2)
Nabukalou creek	7(7)	7(1)	11(2)	-36(4)
Nasese	5(6)	4(1)		
Suva point	8(9)	7(2)	1 .0(0.1)	600(5)

Note: With the Shimadzu 2000-UV HTCO unit DOC data reported were averages of two sets by 5 replicate analyses.

The Shimadzu 2000-UV HTCO unit belonged to a Japanese Aid programme based at Monfort boys Town.

The raw average DOC data obtained from the FIA system was transformed so that the large variations in terms of the standard deviations quoted for the raw averages could be reduced, consequently making the data statistically acceptable for comparison (Damond & Harvey, 1987). The large variations in the raw averages indicated the large influence of land based sources of DOC

on the DOC present in the Suva lagoon (this would be discussed in the next section). The transformed DOC data was essentially the same as the raw average data according to an F-test performed on the two sets of data (see appendix 6). The only marked difference in the raw and transformed data was the generally low standard deviations quoted for the transformed data. The similarity between the above sets of data was also evident from the similar correlation coefficients (R^2 =0.7) calculated for the individual plots of raw and transformed averages against their standard deviations (figures 17 & 18). Because of the demonstrable similarity between the raw and the transformed data, it was acceptable to compare the two sets of data (FIA system & Shimadzu 2000-UV) using the FIA transformed averages and the average DOC data from the Shimadzu 2000-UV HTCO unit.

The variation of the DOC data with respect to the individual methods of (FIA & Shimadzu 2000-UV) of DOC determination used in this work was statistically insignificant (ANOVA, see appendix 6). However, there were some disparities between the data from the FIA system and the Shimadzu 2000-UV HTCO unit mainly with the coastal sites (Suva point [4], 200m Nabukalou [7], Nabukalou creek [8], Tamavua river [9] and Tradewinds [11]). The coastal sites are essentially estuaries and the above sites reflected their estuarine nature by registering generally low salinity in the range of 23 to 34psu. Estuaries generally have higher concentrations of colloidal DOC than pure marine waters and colloidal DOC have sparing susceptibility to all forms of oxidation (Miller *et al.*, 1993 and Lee & Henrichs, 1993). Apart from the negative difference registered

by the HTCO unit for site 11(see table 21) all the other sites with positive differences indicated that for those sites the FIA system was



Figure 17 Standard deviations versus DOC concentration for the DOC raw data



Figure 18 Standard deviations versus DOC concentration for the DOC transformed data

measuring more DOC than the HTCO unit. The coastal sites were expected to have high levels of DOC (Stumm & Morgan, 1981 and Libes, 1992) and the DOC measurement by the FIA system was supporting the preceding assertion. The above results indicated that colloidal DOC might have been oxidized by the FIA system. On the other hand, the Shimadzu 2000-UV HTCO unit might have been partially oxidizing the DOC in the seawater and estuarine water samples because of the frequent instrument "breakdowns" when the seawater and estuarine samples were analyzed. Furthermore, there was a weak but positive correlation between the average DOC data obtained through the FIA system and the Shimadzu 2000-UV HTCO unit (see figure 19).



Figure 19 Average FIA DOC data versus Average Shimadzu 2000-UV DOC data

The oxidation efficiency of the Shimadzu 2000-UV HTCO unit was comparable to that of the FIA system when the samples from offshore sites were analyzed. Two sites (Nukulau passage & Centra hotel) registered similar DOC values

irrespective of the method. The oxidation efficiency of the HTCO unit was observed to be negatively affected when the estuarine and coastal waters were injected as samples. It was later found that the platinum catalyst used in the Shimadzu 2000-UV HTCO unit was usually clogged with salt residues and this caused the incomplete DOC oxidation and the poor maintenance of the HTCO unit's baseline. The above problem became so frequent that only two sets of random DOC analyses were done. The clogging of the platinum catalyst was persistent albeit the presence of an in-built halogen scrubber. On the other hand, both methods generally showed high DOC values for the sites receiving direct organic discharge (Kinoya outfall, 200m Kinoya outfall and Nabukalou creek) and lower DOC values for those sites perceived to be far from the organic discharge (Centra hotel and Nukulau passage). The preceding observation showed that the FIA system was suitable for the quantitative determination of DOC in coastal and estuarine waters.

The disparity of the DOC values obtained from the HTCO unit and the FIA system described in this work was probably caused by the incomplete oxidation of DOC by HTCO unit. The other reason for incomparable DOC values between HTCO and WCO methods is the effect of unaccounted blanks (Hedges et al., 1993). In this work the effect of blanks was negligible because the differences tabulated in table 20 were not constant as expected of circumstances where the disparities between WCO and HTCO methods were caused by blanks (Miller et al., 1993). Furthermore, the data from both methods (FIA system & Shimadzu 2000-UV HTCO unit) were corrected for the blanks (reagent, water and instrument) in terms of the Y intercepts of the calibration

standard curves used. The Y intercepts of the calibration curves are reliable estimates of the total blank value (Skocg & Leary, 1992).

3.10.2 DOC variation in the sites sampled as determined by the FIA system

It is essential to note here that this was a baseline DOC study of selected sites in the Suva lagoon and not a comprehensive study of the temporal and spatial variation of DOC in the Suva lagoon. The discussion had been categorized into coastal and offshore sites to ensure clarity. The coastal sites referred to were those sites at the interface of the land and the sea and the offshore sites referred to were those sites further out of the coastal waters. The sites were intentionally sampled on fine days although it did not matter if it rained a few days before sampling. It has been argued that the DOC present in coastal waters originated from terrestrial sources like sewage outfalls, rivers, streams, creeks and industrial effluents (Stumm & Morgan, 1981, Riley & Chester, 1971 and Libes, 1992). On the other hand DOC could also be produced *in situ* by phytoplankton and the degradation of organic matter by microorganisms (Thurman, 1985 and Libes, 1992).

The results of this work in figures 19 and 20 demonstrated a wide variation of DOC on each site at each time of sampling. The large variation of DOC indicated that the input from land based sources like creeks, rivers and storm waters run off significantly influenced the DOC levels present at each site. The

above observation was expected because the sites were at the interface of the Suva landmass and the coastal waters.

3.10.2.1 Coastal sites

The DOC with respect to each site sampled varied considerably on each day of analyses (see figure 19). The DOC in each site ranged from levels less than the detection limit of the FIA system to a maximum of 35mg/L. There wasn't any fixed pattern of DOC apart from the wide variation in DOC levels caused by the input from the landmass of Suva.



Note: The rainfall data is given in the appendix with DOC data on each sampling trip

Figure 20 DOC data for the coastal sites

The sites were in fact point sources of organic matter. The sites were in or at river mouths (Tamavua and Vugalei Bridge), in a creek or at its opening (Nabukalou creek and Tradewinds) and near storm water outlets (Nasese and Suva point). There were direct organic discharges into the sites, consequently it was not seen necessary to actually take samples from the land-based sources. The greatest DOC variations were observed in all the sites at sampling trips 1, 3 and 7(see figure 20). In all the above trips the Suva area experienced rainy weather on a range of 1-5mm three days prior to the sampling day (Fiji Meteorological Service, 1998). Consequently, the rain accelerated the input of DOC in to the sites (Clair & Erhman, 1996). The sampling trips 1, 3 and 7 showed on average DOC levels greater than 10mg/L. The preceding DOC level (10mg/L) was usually associated with estuarine water without any obvious pollution (Head, 1976). By taking 10mg/L as the normal DOC level for the sites sampled in this work, it would be appropriate to label all the sites on sampling trips 1,3 and 7 as being polluted from the DOC input from the landmass of Suva. Tamavua river exhibited a nearly consistent DOC level around 10mg/L through out the sampling period apart from the huge drop exhibited by all sites during sampling trip 5. The preceding observation for the Tamavua river was consistent with the assertion by Libes (1992) that DOC levels in rivers tend to show minor changes in DOC levels when there is rain. No specific reasons were given for the consistent levels of DOC in rivers although factors like the rapid movement and coagulation of terrestrial DOC upon mixing with cations like Ca^{2*} and Mg^{2*} associated with rainy weather and saline waters respectively might have diluted the DOC present at the site (Libes, 1992). The Tamavua

river site was within a part of the river that has a constant interchange with the sea (high levels of cations).

During sampling trip 5, all the sites registered very low levels of DOC that were not detected by the FIA system except for the Tradewinds site which had 3mg/L of DOC. In the three days prior to this sampling trip, the Suva area experienced an average of 0.3mm of rain. Consequently, the Suya lagoon received less surface runoff and this factor contributed to the low DOC values registered by the sites. Apart from the rain and the subsequent increase in organic input to the sites, the sites that are near productive sources of DOC (e.g. creeks) seemed to maintain DOC levels greater than the method detection limit of the FIA system. The site near Tradewinds showed a higher DOC level than the other sites probably because of the fact that it was an opening of a brackish creek to the sea, therefore it maintained a reasonable level of DOC in the absence of surface run off. Salt marshes including mangrove swamps are productive sites of DOC (Lal, 1990). Furthermore, the Tradewinds site was close to a hotel, a fishing company wharf and a number of yachts were moored in the vicinity of the site from which organic discharge to the site were very likely. Furthermore, the site had limited interaction with the open sea, consequently the discharge from the creek remained fairly longer at the site, albeit tidal movements.

During sampling trip 2, the Nasese, Tamavua river and Vugalei bridge registered DOC levels around 15mg/L whilst the rest of the sites had DOC levels in the range of 3 to 4mg/L. There wasn't any significant rain (average of

0.1mm) three days prior the day of sampling and it was expected that all sites would register DOC levels less than 10mg/L. On the contrary, Nasese, Tamavua and Vugalei bridge register DOC levels greater than 10mg/L because they have freshwater input from the storm water outlet, a river and a mangrove swamp. These freshwater sources did not necessarily stop discharging into the sites in the absence of any significant form of rain apart from some light showers prior to the time of sampling.

Generally, during the sampling trips 4, 6 and 8 there were no significant rain (0.2mm - 0.4mm) in the last seventy two hours prior the sampling of the sites. Consequently, all sites registered DOC levels less than 10mg/L. Even with these sampling trips, those sites that continually have fresh water discharge like Nabukalou creek, Tamavua river, Vugalei bridge and Tradewinds registered DOC levels greater than the DOC levels for sites like Suva point and Nasese which strongly depend on DOC input from the storm waters apart from the natural background DOC. The freshwater discharges in these sites were generally high in organic matter (Naidu *et al.*, 1989) therefore, higher DOC levels were expected.

The general trend was that fine weather was usually associated with DOC levels less than 10mg/L and wet weather that results in significant surface run off could double or even triple the DOC levels in the sites. It would be incorrect to ascribe the background DOC in the sites to be around 10mg/L because in the absence of significant surface runoff, there were still slight discharges from the storm water outlets and furthermore sites in the creeks and river continually

have freshwater input. Random dissolved oxygen (DO) measurements of the sites registered DO levels in the range of 5-8mg/L. Independent DO measurements around the Laucala bay by the staff of Kinoya sewage treatment plant registered a similar range of DO (Australia, Department of Transport and Construction, 1982). The above range of DO was close to the expected DO level of seawater at 25°C (Manahan, 1994) which is 8mg/L. The sites could not be described as being oxygen deficient because the samples were collected as surface samples, which generally have good aeration due to wave action. The direct dissolution of oxygen in the sites was possible because the sites were shallow, usually less than one meter in depth. However, the registration of DO levels around 5mg/L indicated that DOC oxidation by microorganisms could have utilized some oxygen, although the use of oxygen for animal respiration and poor aeration could also cause reductions in the DO levels in the sites. Furthermore, the slightly warm waters observed at the sites (26°C) might have halted the dissolution of oxygen (Manahan, 1994).

3.10.2.2 Offshore sites

These offshore sites were situated in the Suva lagoon in the range of 0.1km to 5km from the shoreline. The sites sampled with the exception of the site near Centra hotel registered varied levels of DOC on each sampling trip. The large variations shown by these sites indicated the significance of the terrestrial organic input on the levels of DOC present in each site (see figure 21). The above observation was also seen with the coastal sites discussed in the previous section. The input of organic matter into the Suva lagoon was
predominantly through the discharge from the Rewa river, Vunivadra tributary, Kinoya outfall, Tamavua river, Nabukalou creek and the storm water runoff from the greater Suva area (Australia, Department of Transport and Construction, 1982 and Naidu et al., 1989).



Note: The rainfall data is given in the appendix with DOC data on each sampling trip

Figure 21 DOC data for the offshore sites

The site near Centra hotel maintained a DOC level near 0.8mg/L throughout the period of study. The above site was about 300m from the shoreline therefore it was expected to have high levels of DOC on each time of sampling. There are a number of possible explanations for the registration of such low DOC levels by the site near Centra hotel. The fact that the site was situated in one of the

passages where there is constant water movement towards the inner Suva harbor at high tide and outwards to the barrier reefs at low tide could have left this site with consistent low DOC level (Kumar, 1999). In other words, the water movements initiated by high and low tides as well as wind action could have driven the top layer of the seawater (which usually has the terrestrial water input) outwards from the site (Australia, Department of Transport and Construction, 1982). On the other hand, the continual interchange of seawater (more cations like Mg²⁺ and Ca²⁺) and the freshwater from the storm water outlet near the hotel could have coagulated the DOC input from the outlet upon receipt at the site (Libes, 1992). Consequently, lesser DOC was present in the water column of the site near Centra hotel.

During sampling trips 1 and 2, all the sites apart from the site near Centra hotel registered DOC levels greater than 20mg/L. On both trips, the Suva area experienced rain (4mm – 5mm) in the last seventy two hours before sampling resulting in increased surface runoff from the rivers, storm water outlets and creeks in to the Suva lagoon. Therefore most of the sites registered high DOC levels. During the above trips (1 & 2) the site near Mosquito Island and the site 200m from the Nabukalou creek registered the highest levels of DOC than the other sites. The site at Kinoya outfall was expected to have higher DOC levels on the above trips because of the continuous discharge from the outfall (Per comm., Shaihnaz) and the added DOC from the surrounding coastline and the Vunivadra tributary. There is a possibility that the discharge from the outfall dispersed to the surrounding areas giving rise to the high levels of DOC registered at the site 200m from the outfall. Likewise, the

site 200m from the Nabukalou creek registered high levels of DOC during the sampling trips 1 and 2 because of the dispersion of the organic discharge out to the sea caused by wave action and receding tides. Furthermore, with increased surface runoff it was possible that the site 200m from the sewage outfall had in its vicinity higher levels of organic matter originating from the discharge from the Vunivadra tributary given its proximity to the observed path of riverine discharge.

The site at Nukulau passage unexpectedly registered high DOC levels in sampling trips 1 and 2 although it was the furthest site from the landmass of Suva. The high DOC levels registered by the site at Nukulau passage probably arose from discharge from the Rewa river that was usually driven by the southeast trade winds which predominantly blow toward the Laucala bay (Australia, Department of Transport and Construction, 1982 and Kumar, 1999). Consequently, the Nukulau site becomes an entry point for the Rewa river discharge into the Laucala bay. The backward movement of surface water into the bay through the Nukulau passage become more pronounced when the tide comes into the bay (Kumar, 1999). On the other hand, at low tide Nukulau passage and Nukubuco passage become the major exit points of the water from Laucala bay to the open sea. As a result it would be possible to have high levels of DOC on any particular day. Furthermore, surface runoff from Nukulau island increased by rain prior the sampling trips 1 and 2 could also increase the levels of DOC in the Nukulau passage. During the above trips the site near Mosquito island also registered high DOC levels because the site was in a channel that connects the bay of island to the open sea and it is highly probable that the

surface run off from the surrounding coastline pass through this site. On the other hand, the site 200m from the Nabukalou creek also registered high levels of DOC because of the increased discharge from the Nabukalou creek, Suva fish market and the possible re-suspension of organic matter in the water column caused by the movements of ships and motorized boats. The above site was close to the Suva main wharf.

During sampling trip 3, the sites at Nukulau passage and 200m from the Nabukalou creek registered DOC levels between 10mg/L and 20mg/L. The rest of the sites registered DOC levels less than 5mg/L. The effect of surface run off was minimal here, although light showers (average, 0.8mm) occurred within the seventy two hours before sampling. However, the sampling trip coincided with receding tide. Consequently, the sites at Nukulau passage and 200m from the Nabukalou creek experienced high levels of DOC because of the dispersion of organic matter from the continuous discharge from sources like the Kinoya sewage outfall, Vunivadra tributary and the Nabukalou creek. In other words, the outward movement of the surface water caused by the receding tide dispersed the organic discharges from in shore sources to the sites further out in the lagoon. On the other hand, the sites at Kinoya outfall, near Mosquito island, 200m from Kinoya and the site near Centra hotel experienced DOC deficiency.

During sampling trip 4, the sites generally registered one of the lowest DOC range in all the sampling trips in the study. The low DOC levels were probably due to the insufficient surface run off prevalent because of the generally fine

weather that prevailed seventy two hours before sampling although brief showers (0.4mm) occurred. On the contrary, the site at Kinoya outfall was expected to maintain a reasonable level of DOC around 10mg/L, because of the continuous discharge from the sewage outfall.

The sampling trips 5 and 6 took place after a couple of rainy days (0.2mm – 1.0mm) and the rain increased the surface runoff to the Suva lagoon. As a result, most sites generally registered high DOC levels than on sampling trip 4. The above observation is consistent with the work by Clair & Erhman which stated that surface runoff could increase DOC levels in coastal waters (Clair & Erhman, 1996). Furthermore, these two sampling trips were taken at high tide, consequently sites (see figure 10) close to the Suva landmass apart from the site near Centra hotel registered higher levels of DOC than those sites further out into the Suva lagoon. The preceding result was a consequence of the concentration of the surface run off near the Suva landmass caused by the high tide.

Generally, the offshore sites exhibited DOC levels that were influenced by the surface runoff from the Suva landmass. Furthermore, the movements of seawater in the Suva lagoon caused by tides and wind action also influenced the amount of DOC present in a site. In contrast to the coastal sites, tides were equally important as the effect of rain on the level of DOC in any coastal water. More accurate estimates of the DOC levels in the Suva lagoon could be made with a longer DOC monitoring study, which was outside the scope of this project.

3.10.3 Average hydrographic parameters

Table 22

Sites	Temperature/ [#] C (±1SD)	рН (±19D)	Conductivity/m8/cm (±1SD)	Salinity/psu (±1SD)	Average % freshwater dilution
1	27 (1)	7.0(0.9)	50(3)	32(1)	9
2	27 (1)	7.8(0.6)	50(4)	32(3)	9
3	25(1)	7.9(0.6)	49(6)	32(2)	9
4	27(2)	8.0(0.2)	45(11)	29(6)	17
5	28(2)	8.2 (0.2)	45(10)	28(6)	20
6	26(1)	7.9(0.5)	53(2)	33(2)	6
7	27(1)	7.9(0.5)	53(2)	33(2)	6
8	26(2)	7.9(0.2)	39(13)	24(9)	31
9	26(2)	7.8(0.2)	49(8)	32(4)	9
10	26(2)	8.0(0.2)	49(8)	32(4)	9
11	27(2)	8.1(0,1)	53(2)	34(1)	3
12	26(1)	7.9(0.4)	58(3)	34(1)	3

Hydrographic parameters of the sites monitored

Note: The % freshwater dilution was calculated based on the seawater without dilution having a salinity of 35 practical salinity units (psu), see appendix 6 for a sample calculation

All the sites registered salinity values less than the salinity (35psu) of pure marine seawater (Campbell & Meadows, 1988). The above observation indicated that the sites received sigficant levels of freshwater from the landmass of Suva. Those sites that have continuous freshwater discharge from creeks and rivers (Centra hotel, Tamavua river and Nabukalou creek) registered the largest percentages of freshwater dilution (see table 22). The range of pH exhibited by the sites was from pH 7.0 to pH 8.2, the preceding range was close

to the pH of oceanic waters (pH 7.5- pH 8.2) (Campbell & Meadows, 1988 and Fergusson, 1990). However, some of the sites exhibited pH levels as low as pH 7 because of the freshwater input from the landmass of Suva. The offshore sites generally have higher salinity and conductivity than the coastal sites because of the high levels of ionic species such as HCO_3^- , Na^+ and Cl^- present in predominantly marine waters. The temperature remained fairly constant at about 26°C.

3.10.4 General discussion on the Samples analyzed

DOC monitoring of the study area (Laucala bay and Suva harbor) had not been done conclusively in the past except for a preliminary study by (Hansen & Lausten 1995). The accuracy of the data cannot be assured to any extent, however, the above study was the only one in which DOC measurements were carried out. The method they utilized was the one developed by (Koshy *et al.*, 1992). The DOC values for some of the sites monitored in this project were three to five times greater than values obtained by (Hansen & Lausten 1995) for the same sites. The differences could also be a result of the preliminary nature of the previous work and possibly due to the increase in DOC as a consequence of the increase in waste discharged into Laucala bay and Suva harbor usually associated with the increase in population near coastal areas (Stumm & Morgan, 1981).

The lack of established DOC data of the Suva lagoon impaired comparative studies to verify the data obtained in this project. To put some reliability on the

data obtained through this FIA system the samples were also analyzed twice with a Shimadzu 2000-UV HTCO analyzer. Some of the sites like Kinoya outfall (1), Centra (6) and Nukulau passage (3) showed similar DOC values from both methods. On the other hand, the HTCO unit developed many problems like the clogging of the catalyst and the poor maintenance of the baseline after several marine samples were analyzed. The above problems warranted the continuous availability of qualified technicians to attend to such problems. On the other hand, the modified FIA method used in this project did not have the above problems. However, the important aspect of the HTCO results with respect to the results obtained from this FIA method, was that they both showed high DOC levels for polluted sites and low DOC levels for the less polluted sites. The above observation indicated the suitability of the FIA system described in this work for the quantitative determination of DQC in estuarine and coastal waters.

Table 23

Type of sample	Type of instrument/method		[DOC] mg/L	Reference	уеаг
Nearshore Oceanic	Ampoulated pers	ulfate	1.59	Sharp et al.	1993
water	oxidation(WCO)				
*	Shimadzu TOC 500(HTCO)		1.992	-	"
H	Japanese HTCO unit		3,672	*	Lu I
Riverwater	Japanese HTCO unit		2.136	el.	
*	Shimadzu TOC 500(HTCO)		1.320	•	•
Estuarine water	Suzuki HTC unit(HTCO)		4.320	Miller et al.	1993
μ	Shimadzu TOC 500(HTCO)		1.920	•	
-	UV-Persulfate(WCO)		1.80	•	#
#	FIA+ (This project)		6.5		1998
Oceanic water	Shimadzu TOC 5000(HTCO)		0,876	Sharp et al.	1993b
*	Dohrman DC-190(HTCO)		0,744	٩	
*	Persulfate oxidation(WCO)		1.008	æ	•
L	Ionics TC-TOC 555 (HTCO)		0.936	4	-
N	FIA+ (This project)		12.5		1998

DOC data obtained for estuarine and marine water samples

Note FIA: DOC value obtained from the work done in this project: Estuarine (mean, coastal sites), oceanic water (mean, Offshore sites)

In table 23, the average DOC values obtained from the work done in this project were generally higher than those reported in the literature for similar water samples. The high DOC values reported in this project could be a result of the fact that the other DOC data were collected from estuarine and oceanic waters of metropolitan countries that have comprehensive sewage treatment plants. Consequently, most effluents from the land were low in terms of their DOC

levels. On the other hand, most of the organic effluents from the landmass of Suva to the Suva harbor and Laucala bay were not treated.

All the sites studied in this project were close to the land thus, input from it significantly influenced the DOC determined for the sites. The focus of the discussions on the site's DOC levels was based on the input sources from the land than on natural sources of DOC in them. The premise for that approach in the discussions was the fact that this DOC data was reflective of substantial land input (Riley & Chester, 1971 and Stumm & Morgan, 1981) given the large variations on each day of sampling. However, there is little information about the separate contribution from the natural and anthropogenic sources found in the total DOC we have been able to measure in the Suva lagoon.

CHAPTER 4

CONCLUSIONS

The modified FIA method used in this work had a method detection limit (MDL) of 0.8mg C/L, a carbon recovery of 98±9% and a sample throughput of 60 samples per hour. The sample throughput and carbon recovery of this modified FIA method were comparable to the sample throughput and carbon recovery of the FIA manifold described by (Koshy *et al.*, 1992) which were 98% and 45 samples per hour respectively. On the other hand, the modified FIA method had higher MDL than the FIA method described by (Koshy *et al.*, 1992) implying that this modified FIA method was slightly lower in sensitivity than its predecessor.

The modified FIA method also suffered from chloride interference, but the interference by chloride (%Cl_{ox}) was masked to levels as low as 1% with inorganic carbon (IC) tevels greater than 8mg/L. The interference by chloride is related to the level of IC in an estuarine or coastal water sample by the following equation ($\mathbf{Y} = 166\mathbf{x}^{-1.5}$, $\mathbf{Y} = \%Cl_{ox}$ and $\mathbf{x} = [IC]$). Because of the high levels of IC in most coastal and marine waters (Manahan, 1994), the modified FIA method could be used for the determination of DOC in these type of water samples because chloride interference could be reduced significantly.

The combination of the TiO_2 catalyst with the reduced oxidant solution (50% oxidant strength solution) increased both the carbon recovery and chloride

interference. The level of chloride interference was increased by a factor of 12%-51% from the levels of chloride interference observed with the 100% oxidant strength solution alone on different levels of organic carbon. In other words the above combination did not alleviate the interference by chloride but rather it enhanced it.

NH₂OH.HCl could reduce the chloride signal by 81±11%. In the presence of varying amounts of carbon the reducing agent (NH₂OH.HCl) reduced chloride interference in the range of 80% to 98%. In other words, the carbon present in the standards also assisted the reducing agent in dealing with chloride interference. However, the combined capacity of the reducing agent and the level of carbon in the standards to minimize chloride interference was similar to the masking effect of IC on chloride interference alone.

The insertion of the micro-porous tubing immediately after the UV chamber reduced chloride interference to an average level of 5%. This indicated that, the interference by chloride was minimized by an average of 95%. The major drawback of this micro-porous tubing in its application was the fact that any slight irregular flow (increase in the internal pressure of the lines initiated by minor blockage) can result in the permeation of both chlorine gas and the solution passing through it. This had resulted in the reduction of the carbon signal detected by the conductivity detector.

The reducing agent and the micro-porous tubing were adequate to minimize chloride interference, however the above approaches of dealing with chloride

interference were not incorporated into the modified method. Instead of the two options investigated specifically for their reduction capability of chloride interference, the masking effect of IC on chloride interference was incorporated into the modified FIA method. The masking effect of IC on chloride interference was incorporated because of its simplicity in application, superior capacity in reducing chloride interference than the other two approaches and its (IC) generally high concentration in most estuarine and coastal waters.

The baseline DOC study in this work indicated that the Suva lagoon received a significant amount of DOC from the landmass of Suva. Factors like rain, tide and current movements in the lagoon significantly influenced the concentration of DOC present in the water columns of the sites monitored. The sites monitored registered DOC levels in the range of 0.8mg/L to 35mg/L. An average rainfall as low as 0.1mm in the three days prior to the sampling day could double or triple the levels of DOC determined at these sites. Furthermore, the sites near or in the rivers, creeks and storm water outlets which continuously discharge to the Suva lagoon maintained DOC levels greater than 0.8mg/L in the absence of any significant rain.

The modified FIA method measured DOC levels that were comparable to the DOC levels obtained from an established Shimadzu 2000-UV HTCO unit. Although the correlation between the average data from the two different methods was weak, it was still a positive correlation and for some of the sites, both methods showed very similar DOC values on each day of sampling.

Recommendations

Future investigation into the involvement of chloride in the measurement of DOC using the FIA system described in this work should focus on the following areas.

- A second diffusion manifold could be placed after the UV chamber instead of the micro-porous tubing. This manifold should eliminate the gases (including chlorine) formed as a result of the persulfate photooxidation of the DOC present in estuarine and coastal water samples.
- The modified FIA method should be used for the long term monitoring of DOC in the Suva lagoon, so that predictions could be made about the DOC budget of the lagoon and the adverse and positive effects of the DOC like oxygen depletion and the complexation capacity of the lagoon for heavy metals and organic pollutants like pesticides (Stumm & Morgan, 1981).
- The Ghost peaks should also be investigated, to ascertain their origin.

REFERENCES

- Aleprin, M.J. and Martens, C.S., (1993). DOC in Marine pore waters: A comparison of three oxidation methods. Mar. Chem., 41, 135-143
- Alyward, G.H. and Findlay, T.J.V. (1974). SI Chemical Data 2nd ed. John Wiley & Sons Ltd, Hong Kong
- Andrede, M. G. M. Ferreira, S.L.C. Santos, B. F.and Costa, A. C. S.(1992). Sequential determination of Iron and Titanium by FIA. Talanta, 39(10), 1229-1232
- Australia, Department of Transport and Construction (1982). Kinoya sewage treatment plant: Report of receiving water study. Fiji PWD, Ministry of Works and Communication, Suva
- Barber, R.T. and Ryther, J.H. (1969). Organic chelators: Factors affecting primary production in the Cromwell current upwelling. J.Exp.Mar.Biol.Ecol., 3, 191-200

ŧ

Barros, F.G. and Tubino, M. (1992). Conductimetric and Spectrophotometric determination of the volatile acidity of wines by Flow injection. Analyst, 117, 917-921

- Blakemore, C.L, Searle, L.P. and Daly, K.B. (1987). *Methods for chemical analysis of soils*. NZ Soil Bureau, Scientific Report **80**, New Zealand
- Brooksbank, P. and Goulden, P.D. (1975). Automated determination of DOC in lakewater. Anal.Chem., 47, 1943-1946
- Burney, C.M, Johnson, K.M.and Sieburth, J.M. (1981). Diel flux of dissolved Carbohydrate in a salt marsh and simulated estuarine ecosystem. Mar.Bio., 63, 175-187
- Campbell, J.I. and Meadows, P.S. (1988). An introduction to marine science. 2nd ed. Published by Blackie: USA Halsted Press, USA.
- Carlsson. (1999). Structuring of marine phytoplankton communities by humic substances and trophic interactions. Department of Ecology, Lund University, Sweden
- Cardwell, T.J., Cattrall, R.W. and Mitri, M.(1994). Gas Diffusion with Preconcentration for the determination of Fluoride in water Samples by Flow Injection. Talanta., 41, 115-121

ł

Castanares, J.M. and Mundo, F.R. (1995). Sequential Determination of nitrate and Nitrite in natural waters by FIA. KIMIKA., **11**, 9-19

Cauwet,G. (1976). Organic chemistry of seawater particulates: Symposium on concepts in marine organic chemistry. University of Edinburgh, United Kingdom

- Cauwet, G. (1994). High Temperature Catalytic oxidation method for DOC analysis in sea water: Influence of catalyst on blank estimation. Mar. Chem., 47, 55-64
- Chen, W. and Wangersky, P.J. (1993). A High Temperature Catalytic Oxidation method for the determination of Marine DOC and its comparison with UV photoxidation. Mar. Chem., **42**, 95-106
- Chin, Y. and Benoit, G. (1997). Variability in the properties of Dissolved Organic matter and its influence on the speciation of Heavy metals (Cd, Cu, Pb).
 Office of Research and Development, US Environment Protection Agency, Bermuda, USA
- Christian, G.D. and Ruzicka.J. (1992). Exploiting Stopped-Flow Injection method for quantitative chemical assays. Anal.Chimica Acta., **261**, 11-21

- Clair, A.T. and Ehrmann, M.J. (1996). Variations in discharge and DOC and Nitrogen export from terresterial basins with changes in climate: A neutral network approach. Limnol.Oceanogr., **41**, 921-927
- Clark G. D, John, Z, Ruzicka, J. and Christian, G.D. (1991). Flow Reversal Flow injection analysis. Talanta., **38**, 119-124

Clark, R.B. (1992). Marine Pollution. 3th ed. Clarendon Press, United Kingdom

- Collins, K.J. and Williams, Leb.P.J. (1977). *Photochemical method for the determination of DOC in see and estuarine waters*. Mar.Chem., **5**, 123-141
- Damond, R.A Jr. and Harvey, W.R. (1987). *Experimental Design, ANOVA and Regression*. Harper & Row Publishers, New York
- D' Avanzo, C. and Kremer, J.N. (1994). Diel oxygen dynamics and anoxic events in an eutrophic estuary of Waiquiot Bay, Massachusetts. Estuaries, 17, 131-135
- DeBaar, H J.W, Brussaard, C, Hegeman, J, Schijf, J. and Stoll, M. H.C. (1993). Sea Trials of three different methods for measuring non-volatile DOC in seawater during JGOFS North Atlantic Pilot study. Mar.Chem., 41, 145-152

- Doi, T. and Nitta. (1991). Ecological modeling at Osaka bay related to long-term eutrophication. Mar.Pollut.Bull., 23, 247-250
- Druffel, E.R., Williams, P.M. and Suzuki, Y. (1989). Concentrations and radiocarbon signatures of DOM in the Pacific Ocean. Geophys.Res.Lett., 16, 991-994
- Duursma, E.K. (1961). Dissolved organic carbon, Nitrogen and Phosphorous in the sea. Neth.J.Sea Res., 1, 1-48
- Esmadi, Fatima, T, Kharoaf. M, A, Attiyat. and Abdulraham, S. (1990). Indirect determination of chloride and carbonate by Reverse Flow Injection Analysis coupled with Atomic -Absorption Spectrometry and Inline preconcentration by precipitation. Talanta, **37**, 1123-1128
- Fabrizo, De Paulis, and Jussi, K. (1997). Binding of organic pollutants to humic and fulvic acids: Influence of pH and structure of humic material. Chemosphere, 34, 1693-1704
- Ferdandez, V.H. (1968). The action of humic acid of different sources on the development of plants and their effect on increasing concentration of the nutrient solution: In the Study week on organic matter and soil fertility. North Holland Pub.Co., Amsterdam, The Netherlands

Fergusson, J.E. (1990). The Heavy elements: Chemistry, environmental and health effects. Pergamon Press, United Kingdom.

Fiji Meteorological Service. (1998). Suva rainfall data for 1998. Nadi, Fiji

- Fogg, Arnold, G, Cipko, E, Farabella, L. and Tyson, J.F. (1990). Shapes of FI signals: Effect of refractive index on spectrophotometric signals obtained for online formation of bromine from bromate, bromide and Hydrogen ion in a single channel manifold using Large volume time based Injection. Analyst, 125, 593-597
- Gershey, R.M, Mackinon, M.D, Williams, P.J.LeB. and Moore, R.M. (1979). Comparison of three oxidation methods for the analysis of dissolved organic carbon in seawater. Mar.Chem., 7, 289-306
- Giglio, K.D., Green, D.B. and Hutchinson, B. (1995). *Photocatalytic destruction of* an organic dye using TiO₂ and solar energy, a general chemistry experiment. J.Chem.Edu., **72**, 625-630
- Goulden, P.D. and Anthony, D.H.J. (1978). Kinetics of uncatalysed peroxydisulfate oxidation or organic material in fresh water. J.American Chem.Soc., 50, 953-958

- Guittonneau, S, Momege, S, Schafmeier, A, Viacet, P.O. and Maalier, P. (1995). Comparative study of the degradation of bromoxyynil and bromoxynilheptanoate by UV photolysis and chemical oxidation. Rev.Sci.Eau., 8, 201-216
- Guo, L, Santchi, H.P. and Warnken, W.K. (1995). Dynamics of Dissolved Organic Carbon in the Oceanic environment. Limnol.Oceanogr., 40, 1392-1403
- Guardia, M, Khalaf, K.D, Hassan, B.A, Rubio, A.M. and Carbonell, V. (1995). Inline Titanium dioxide catalyst, Ultraviolet mineralization of toxic aromatic compounds in waste stream from a Flow injection based resorcinol analyzer. Analyst, 120, 231-235
- Hall, P.O.J. and Aller, R.C. (1992). Rapid, small-volume, Flow injection analysis for ∑CO2 and NH4+ in marine and freshwater. Limnol.Oceanogr., 37, 1113-1119
- Hansell, A.D. (1995). Determining concentrations of Dissolved Organic Carbon in the oceanic carbon cycle. Bermuda Biological station for Research, Bermuda

- Hansen, P. and Lausten, T. (1995). Flow injection analysis of dissolved organic carbon in seawater. USP Chemistry Department, Suva, Fiji
- Harada, H. (1994). Solid-Solid photocatalytic reactions of organic compounds using TiO₂-based photocatalysts. Res.Bull.Meisei Univ.;Phys.Sci.Eng., **30**, 21-29
- Head, P.C. (1976). Organic Processes in Estuaries: In Estuarine Chemistry (Burton, J.D & Liss, P.S : Editors), Academic Press, New York
- Hedges J.I, Bergamaschi, B.A. and Benner, R. (1993). Comparative analyses of DOC and DON in natural waters. Mar. Chem., 41, 121-134
- Hellebust, J.A. (1965). Excretion of some organic compounds by marine phytoplanktons. Limnol.Oceanogr., 10, 192-206
- Heller, A. (1995). Chemistry and Application of photocatalytic oxidation of Thin Organic films, Acc.Chem.Res., 28, 503-508
- Hung, J.J. and Chang, W.A. (1992). Measurement of Dissolved Organic Carbon:
 A comparison between HTCO method and the Persulfate Oxidation method. Terrestrial, Atmospheric and Oceanic Sciences, 3, 165-181

- Ittekot, V, Brockman, U, Michaelis, W. and Degens, E.T. (1981). Dissolved free and combined carbohydrates during a phytoplankton bloom in the North sea. Mar.Ecol.Prog.Ser., 4, 299-305
- Ivaska, A. and Ruzicka, J. (1993). From Flow Injection to sequential injection: Comparison of methodologies and the selection of Liquid drives. Analyst, 118, 885-889
- Jackson, A.G. (1988). Implications of high Dissolved Organic Matter concentrations for oceanic properties and processes. Oceanography Magazine, 28-33
- Jaffes, R, Cabrera, A, Hajjie,N. and Carvajal, C.H. (1996). Organic biogeochemistry of hyperentrophic tropical freshwater lake. Part 1: Particles associated and dissolved lipids. Org.Geochem.Res., 25, 227-240
- Johnson, B.F, Malick, R.E. and Dorsey, J.G. (1992). Reduction of injection variance in Flow Injection Analysis. Talanta 39, 35-44
- Kaplan, Louis.A. (1992). Comparison of High Temperature and persulfate Oxidation methods for the determination of DOC in freshwater. Limnol.Oceanogr.,37, 1119-1125

- Kennish, M.J. (1997). A Practical Handbook of Estuarine and Marine Pollution. CRC Press, New York
- Kirchman, D.L, Y, Suzuki, C, Garside. and Ducklow, H.W. (1991). Bacterial oxidation of DOC in the North Atlantic Ocean during spring bloom, Nature, 352, 612-614
- Koshy, K, Edwards, R.T, McKelvie, I.D, Ferret, P.C, Hart, B.T.and Bapat, J. B. (1992). Sensitive Flow Injection technique for the determination of Dissolved organic Carbon in natural and Waste water. Anal.Chim.Acta, 281, 287-294
- Koshy, K. (1989). Flow Injection Analysis (FIA): A new analytical technique. Chemical Society South Pacific Newsletter, 4, 3-6
- Kuban, V. and Dasgupta, K.P. (1993). Comparison of photometry and conductometry for the determination of total carbonate by gas permeation Flow injection analysis. Talanta, 40, 831-840
- Kumar, N. (1999). Unpublished MSc Thesis: Water circulation in the Suva lagoon: Definition of the water volume transport and its variation. USP Physics Department, Suva, Fiji

- Lal, P.N. (1990). Conservation or Reclaimation: Economic and ecology interaction within the mangrove ecosystem in Fiji. Ph.D Thesis, University of Hawaii, USA
- Lancelot, C. (1984). Extracellular release of small and large molecules by Plankton in the southern bight of the Northsea. Estuarine coastal shelf Sci.; 18, 65-77
- Lee, Y.S. and Bartlett, R.J. (1976). Stimulation of plant growth by humic substances. Soil Sci.Soc.Am.J., 40, 876-879
- Lee, C. and Wakeham, S. G. (1988). Organic matter in seawater: Future research challenges. Mar. Chem., 39 95-118
- Lee, C. and Henrichs, S. M. (1993). How the nature of dissolved organic matter might affect the analysis of DOC. Mar. Chem., **41**, 105-120
- Leff, G.L., and Meyer, L.J. (1991). Biological availability of Dissolved Organic Carbon along Ogeechee river. Limnol.Oceanogr., 36, 315-323
- Legendre. and Goselin. (1989). New production and export of organic matter to the deep oceans: Consequences of recent discoveries. Limnol.Oceanogr., 34, 1374-1380

- Libes,S.M. (1992). An introduction to Marine Biogeochemistry. John Wiley & Sons Ltd, New York
- Luque De Castro, M.D and Tena. T. (1993). Solid interfaces as an analytical problem solver in Flow injection analysis. Talanta, 40, 21-36
- Mackinon, M.D. (1978). A dry oxidation method for the analysis of the TOC in seawater. Mar.Chem., 7, 17-37

Manahan, S.E. (1994). Environmental Chemistry, CRC press Inc, Florida, USA.

- Mantoura, R.F.C. and Woodward, E.M.S. (1983). Conservative behavior of riverine DOC in the Servern estuary, Chemical and Geochemical implications. Geochim.Cosmochim.Acta, 47, 1293-1309
- Martin, Scott.T, Hoffmann. A.T. and Michael, R. (1995). Chemical mechanism of inorganic oxidants in the TiO₂/UV process :Increase rates of degradation of chlorinated hydrocarbon. Environ.Sci.Technol., 29, 2567-2573
- Matthews, R.W, Abdullah, M. and Iow, Gary.K.C. (1990). Safeguarding the environment: organic carbon analysis in water. Chemistry in Australia, 57, 85-89

- Miller, A E.J., Mantoura, R F.C., Suzuki, Y. and Preston, M.R., (1993). *Preliminary* study of DOC in the Tamar Estuary, UK using UV-Persulfate and HTCO techniques. Mar. Chem., **41**, 223-228
- Minisci, F, Citterio, A. and Giodano, C. (1983). Electron-Transfer Processes: Peroxydisulfate, A useful and versatile reagent in Organic Chemistry. Acc.Chem.Res., **16**, 27-32
- Mopper, K, Zhou, J, Ramana, K. S, U, Passow, Dam, H.G. and Drapeau, D. T. (1995). The role of surface active carbohydrates in the flocculation of a diatom bloom in a mesocosm. Deep-Sea.Res., **42**, 47-73
- Moran, M.A. and Zepp, R. G. (1997). Role of photoreactions in the formation of biologically labile compounds from DOM. Limnol.Oceanogr., **42**, 1307-1316
- Morris, D. P. and Hargreaves, B. R. (1997). The role of photochemical degradation of Dissolved organic carbon in regulating the UV transparency of three lakes on the Pocono plateau. Limnol.Oceanogr., **42**, 239-249
- Motomizu, S, Toei, K. and Oshima, T. M. (1987). Gas Diffusion unit with tubular Microporous poly(Tetrafluoroethylene) membrane for Flow Injection determination of CO₂. Anal.Chem., **59**, 2930-2932

- Naidu, S, Aalbersberg, W.G.L, Fuavao, V, Maata, M, Whippy, P. and Morrison,
 R.J. (1989). Water quality studies on selected South Pacific lagoons, UNEP
 Regional seas reports and studies # 136, SPREP reports and studies # 49,
 Suva, Fiji
- Nissenbaum, A. and Kaplan, I.R. (1972). Chemical and isotopic evidence for the insitu origin of marine humic substances. Limnol.Oceangr., 17, 570-576
- Ogura, N. (1976). *Particulates*: Symposium in concepts in marine organic chemistry, University of Edinburgh, United Kingdom
- Prakash, A, Rashid, M.A, Jensen, A, Rao, D.V.S. (1973). Influence of humic substances on the growth of marine phytoplanktons: Diatoms. Limnol.Oceangr., 18, 516-524

Pavon, J.L.P, Rodriguez, E, Christan, G.D. and Ruzicka, J. (1992). Universial Sandwich membrane cell and detector for optical FIA. Anal. Chem., **64**, 923-929

Peltzer, E.T. and Brewer, P.G. (1993). Some practical aspects of measuring DOC sampling artifacts and analytical problems with marine samples. Mar. Chem., 41, 243-252

- Perdue, E.M, Mantoura, F, Ertel, J, Lee, C, Mopper, K, Peyton, G, Tanoue, E,
 Williams, P.M, Zafirou, O.and Coble, P. (1993). *Mechanism sub-group* report. Mar.Chem., 41, 51-66
- Peyton, G. (1993). The free radical chemistry of persulfate based total organic analysers. Mar. Chem., 41, 91-103
- Porkryfki, L. and Randall, R.E. (1987). Nearshore hypoxia in the bottom water of the northwestern Gulf of Mexico. Mar.Environ.Res., **22**, 75-80
- Portnoy, J.W. (1991). Summer oxygen depletion in a diked New England estuary. Estuaries, **14**, 122-130
- Pramauro, E, Prevot, B.A, Augugliaro, V. and Palmisano, L. (1995). Photocatalytic Treatment of Wastes containing Aromatic Amines. Analyst, 120, 237-242
- Rao, N. N. and Dube, Sangeeta. (1995). Application of indian commercial TiO₂ powder for the destruction of organic pollutants Photocatalytic degradation of 2-4-dichlorophenoyacetic acid(2-4-D) using suspended and supported TiO₂ catalyst. Indian. J.Chem.Technol., 2, 241-248

- Rashid, M.A. (1985). Geochemistry of Marine Organic Compounds. Springer-Verlag, Germany
- Ribeiro, L. M. B.C.A, Machado, A. A. S. C, Alonoso, J, Bartolli, J. and Delvalle,
 M. (1993). Comparison of the simplex and powell methods with a weighted response function for the optimization of FIA system. Talenta, 40, 1113-1126
- Riley, J.P. and Chester.R. (1971). Introduction to Marine Chemistry, Academic Press, New York
- Riley.J P. and Skirrow.G. (1975). *Chemical Oceanography*. Academic Press, New York
- Robards. K, McKelvie, D.I, Benson, L.R, Worsfold, J.P, Blundell, J.N. and Casey,
 H. (1994). Determination of carbon phosphorous, Nitrogen and Silicon species in waters. Anal. Chim. Acta, 287, 147-190
- Rook, J.J. (1977). Chlorination reaction of fulvic acids in natural seawaters. Environ.Sci.Technol., 11, 478-482

- Ruis , A, M. P. Callao. and F. X. Ruis. (1997). Multivariate statistical process control applied to sulfate determination by sequential injection analysis. Analyst, 122, 737-741
- Ruzicka, J, Baxter, P, Hastrup, J, Ole, T. and Scudder, K. (1996). Flow Injection Microscopy: A novel tool for the study of cellular response and drug discovery. Analyst, 121, 945-950
- Ruzicka, J. (1992). The second coming of Flow Injection analysis. Anal.Chim. Acta., **261**, 3-10
- Ruzicka, J. and Hansen, E. H. (1975). Flow Injection Analyses: Part 1 A new Concept of fast continuous Flow Analysis. Anal. Chim. Acta., **78**, 145-157
- Ruzicka, J. and Hansen, E.H. (1981). *Flow Injection Analysis*. John Wiley & Sons Ltd, New York
- Sakamoto, T. and Miyasaka, T. (1987). Study confirming the accuracy of a method for measuring TOC by wet oxidation. Ultra Purewater, 4, 24-31
- Seiki, T, Date, E. and Izawa, H. (1991). Eutrophication in Hiroshima Bay. Mar.Pollut.Bull., 23, 95-99

- Schreurs, W. (1978). An automated colorimetric method for the determination of DOC in sea water by UV destruction. Environmental division, Delta Dept, Rijkswaterstaat, Middelburg, The Netherlands
- Schulze, G, Brodowski, M, Elsholz, O.and Thiele, A. (1988). Dual optimization of gas diffusion in FIA: Determination of ammonium and sulfide. Anal.Chem., 329, 714-717
- Shaihnaz. (1999). (Personal communication, Technician, Kinoya sewage treatment plant), Suva, Fiji
- Sharp, D.W.A. (1990). The Penguin Dictionary of Chemistry, Penguin Books Australia Ltd, Victoria
- Sharp, J.H., Peitzer, E.T, Alperin, M.J, Cauwet, J.W, Farrington, J.W, Fry, B, Karl, D.M, Martin, J.H, Spitzy, A, Tugrul, S. and, Carlson, C.A. (1993a). *Procedures Subgroup report.* Mar. Chem., 41, 243-252
- Sharp, J.H, Benner, R, Bennet, L, Carlson, C.A, Dow, R. and Fitzwater, S.E. (1993b). *Re-evaluation of High Temperature Combustion and Chemical Oxidation measurement of DOC in Seawater.* Limnol.Oceanogr., **38**, 1774-1782

- Sharp, J.H, Suzuki, Y.and Munday, W.L. (1993c). A comparison of DOC in North Atlantic Ocean nearshore waters by High Temperature Combustion and Wet Chemical Oxidation. Mar. Chem., 41, 253-259
- Skoog, A. and Benner, R. (1997). Aldoses in various size fractions of marine organic matter: Implications for carbon cycling. Limnol.Oceanogr., 42, 1803-1813
- Skoog, D.A. and Leary.J.J. (1992). Principles of Instrumental Analysis. Harcourt Brace College Publishers, Sydney.
- Skoog, D.A, Holler,F.J. and Nieman, T.A. (1998). Principles of Instrumental Analysis. 5th ed. Harcourt Brace College Publishers, Sydney
- Smith, K. J. and Pacey, G. E. (1993). Reverse Dual phase Gas Diffusion Flow injection analysis, Talanta., 40, 1961-1966
- Strom,S.L, Benner, R, Ziegler, S. and Dagg, M.J. (1997). Planktonic grazers are potentially important source of marine dissolved organic carbon. Limnol.Oceanogr., 42, 1364-1374

- Stumm, W. and Morgan J. (1981). Aquatic Chemistry: An introduction emphasizing chemical equilibiria in natural waters, John Wiley & son Ltd, Brisbane
- Su, X, Wei, W, Nie, L. and Yao, S. (1998). Flow injection determination of sulfites in wines and fruit juices using a bulk acoustic wave impedance sensor coupled to a membrane separation technique. Analyst, **123**, 221-224
- Sugimura,Y. and Suzuki,Y. (1988). A high temperature catalytic oxidation method for the determination of non-volatile dissolved organic carbon in seawater by direct injection of a liquid sample. Mar.Chem., 24, 105-131
- Sundh, I. (1991). The DOC released from Lake phytoplankton-Biochemical composition and bacterial utilization. ACTA, Universitatis Upsaliens
- Suzuki, Y. and Tanoue, E. (1991). DOC enigma Implication for Ocean Margin.
 In: R.F.C. Manatoura, J.H.Martin and R.Wollast (Editors), Ocean Margin Processes in Global Change.Dahlem Workshop, Berlin. John Wiley & sons Ltd, New York
- Tabata,S, Nishida.H, Masaki.Y. and Tabata.K. (1995). Stoichiometric photocatalytic decomposition of pure water in Pt/TiO₂ aqueous suspension system. Catal.Lett.,**34**, 245-249

- Tang, W.Z. and Huren.A. (1995). Photocatalytic degradation Kinetics and mechanism of acid blue 40 by TiO₂/UV in aqueous solution. Chemosphere, 31, 4171-4183
- Thurman, E.M. (1985). Organic Geochemistry of natural waters. Martinus Nijhoff / DR W.Junk Publishers, Boston, USA
- Tugrul, S. (1993). Comparison of TOC concentration by Persulfate-UV and High Temperature Catalytic oxidation techniques in Marmara and Black sea. Mar.Chem., 41, 265-270
- Tupas, L.M, Popp, B.N.and Karl, D.M. (1994). DOC in oligotrophic waters: Experiments on sample preservation, storage and analysis. Mar.Chem., 45, 207-216
- Volk, J.C, Volk B.C. and Kaplan, A.L. (1997). Chemical composition of biodegradable dissolved organic matter in streamwater. Limnol.Oceangr.; 42, 39-44

- Wangersky, P.J. (1993). Dissolved organic carbon methods: A critical review. Mar.Chem.,41, 61-74
- William, Leb. P. J, Bauer, J, Benner, R, Hegeman, J, Ittekot, V, Miller, A., Norman,
 B, Suzuki, Y, Wangersky, P. and McCarthy, M. (1993). DOC subgroup report. Mar.Chem., 41, 11-21
- Williams, P.N. and Druffel, E.R.M. (1988). Dissolved organic matter in the ocean: Comments on a controversy. Oceanogr.Magazine 1, 14-17
- Yu-Chuanming. and Jiang, W. (1995). Photocatalytic degradation of disperse red solution with different light sources, Zheijiang Gong Daxue Xuebao., 23, 130-135
- Zepp, R.G, Callaghan, T.V. and Erickson, D.J. (1995). Comparison of photochemical behavior of various humic substances in water: III Spectroscopic properties of humic substances. Chemosphare, **10**, 479-486
APPENDIX

A 1.0

Typical plots for 1, 2, 16, 24 mg C/L standards prepared in DDW and 35% NaCl solution

Note:

- The standards were injected (analyzed) at least 4 times, the peak areas of each run was printed immediately after each peak.
- The peaks that were labeled as SSW refer to the standards prepared in the 35% on NaCl solution and the peaks labeled as DDW or D.D.H₂O referred to the standards prepared in distilled deionised water. The peaks were of the corresponding standards prepared in the two different solvents (DDW and SSW) were placed immediately after one another for easy comparison
- · The operating parameters of the integrator were as follows:

Attenuation 2[°]= 10 Chart speed CHT SP= 0.3 Area reject AR REJ= 35000 Threshold THRSH= 0 Peak width PK WD= 0.50

.625 4037053 PU .419 88.42845 1.051 525281 I UH .128 11.57158 TOTAL AREA-4565534 HUL FALTOR+1.0000E+00 • RUN # 170 AUG 8, 1997 10:15:13 START tegent : 2235356 (1PMC DOW RT 0.533 Side 0.730 AUG 8, 1997 10:16:18 20M# 170 82E3# AREA TYPE UIDTH RT AREAX 1398878 PU .181 30,40608 3201774 I UP .293 69,59392 .533 L398878 PU .730 TOTAL AREA+4600653 ۰. MUL FACTOR+1.88808E+68 • RUN h 171 AUG 8, 1997 18:21:35 STRET 時間 8.695 1PPM-C P.D.W/ STOP ŧ RUNH 171 AUG 8, 1997 10:21:35

XA23R

RUN = 155 AUG 8, 1937 11:05:25 STUDE B.595 LPPMC 5:5-4	STOPEN B.70
RUNA 185 AUG 8, 1997 11;06:26	
RI 6224 IVPE WIDIH AREAX .675 10107640 80 .418 93.03334 1.105 754345 I UM .116 8.91616 T0181 AREA+1.09452-07 MUL FRCTOR+1.090002-00	RUNE 192 RUS AREAX RT AREA TYPE .760 10210304 I PH TOTAL AREA+1.02105+07 MUL FACTOR+1.00005+00
* RUM # 186 AUG 8, 1997 11:10:05 START STURE 8.585 (PPM25.5.	TINE 3 INTS 4 9 2 STRET STRET STOP
RUNA 185 AUG 8, 1997 11:10:03 AREAX RI AREA IYPE UIDIN AREAX .242 450978 BP .144 4.54643 .625 9468416 I PH .403 95.45357 IDIAL APEA-3.91942-06 . MUL FACTOR-1.00005-00	RUH# 133 AUG RFE9% RT AREA TYPE T11 9456026 I PH T0TAL AREA=9.45605-06 MUL FACTOR=1.0000E-00
• FIME \$ INTO \$ 9 @ • RUM \$ 187 AUG 8, 1997 11:13:48 \$1387 • 8:698 IPPM & S.S.W	INE I INTO B S B BUINT IST BUG S SIART 0.62
RUME 187 AUG 8, 1997 11+13+48 ARCA: RT ARCA TYPE UIDTH APCA: .698 11031208 I VH .452 100.00000 TOTAL ARCA:1.10310-07 MUL FACTOR:1.00000-00	RUN# 184 RUS AREAX 97 AREA TYPE .539 10781448 I UR Total Area+1.02002-07 Mul Factor+1.00002-09

ς.

TOTAL RAIRA9.11335-06 HUL FACTOR-1.8000E+08 + EUN # 201 SUG 8, 199 5788T 1 pm à 0.705 5 37 RUN # 195 AUG 8, 1997 11:48:35 51881 201 RUNA AUG 8, 1 0.695 2PPMC 0.DW المين بح AREA% RI AREA IMPE WIDT .735 6511354 I UH .44 AUG 8, 1997 11:48:35 RUNA 195 TOTAL AREA:8.5114E.06 MUL FRCTOR+1.000002+00 AREAX. AREA TYPE WIBTH Rī. AREAU 9082746 I UH .440 100.00000 .685 101AL AREA+9.0827E+06 HUL FACTOR=1.0000E-00 * RUN # 202 HUG 8, 199 . START -0.695 2.pp STOR * RSN # 196 AUG 8, 1987 11:51:09 57.8RT RUNH 202 AUG 8, 1 0.789 ZPPMC D.D.N 5702 REERX មរដ្ឋា £1 AREA TYPE .42 .695 9621504 I BH RUN# 196 AUG 8, 1997 11:51:09 · TOTAL RREA-9.62150-06 MUL FACTOR*1,00002+00 BBERX. **8**T AREA TYPE WIDTH ARCAZ 9594672 I PH .477 100.00000 .769 10/AL AREA=9.5847E+06 MUL FACTOR=1.000000.00 8, 195 * RUN # 203 - AUG STRRT 0.725 2PPM RUN # 197 AUG 8, 1997 11:54:23 START **於しわ#** 203 AUG 8, 1 8.683 2PPMC 8.0 W 5.027 AREAX e t RREA TYPE WIDI 9635462 I UH . 4 -.725 RUN# 197 AUG 8, 1997 11:54:23 TOTAL APEA-9.6355E+06 MUL FACTOR+1.0000E-00 RPES: et. AREA TYPE UIDTH AREAZ .683 9039494 I UN .437 108.00000 TOTAL APEA=9.0395E+06

इत्तांचे इंग्लू RUG 8, 1 server appropriate and en-310181 - AREAX еT – AFEA IVPE 0101 .715 14876160 I UH ્ય કે PeN# 210 AUG 8. 1997 12:39:19 101AL RASA=1.48765+97 6xSAX MUL FACTOR+1.00005+00 RT ARES IVPS WIDTH ASEAX. .709 12927964 I UH .465 100.00000 1018L RRES-1.2588E-07 MUL FACTOR+1.0000E+00 Pł. UC G.Z @ A06 8, 1997 RUN # 217 START - 0.720 ł -51071 ★ RUS # 211 806 8, 1997 12:41:39 START 0.718.3PPMC 00. AUG 9, 15 217 EUN# ARE6% BREB TYPE UIDTH еT. RUNA 211 AUG 8. 1997 12:41:30 .718 13738248 I BH .419 t, AREAX TOIAL AREA-1.81502+0? RT RREA TYPE WIGTH SECAX. MUL FACTOR=1.00002+00 .718 13077160 1 UH .461 100.0000 TOTAL REEA-1.8677E+07 MUL FACTOR+1.0000E+00 İ AUS 0. 1997 * RUR 218 . START 0.724 2A1 . 5100 RUN # 212 RUG 8, 1967 12:47:16 START ---- 0,751 2PPMC S.S.W STOPPI AUG 8, 1997 ₽UN# 219 SREAZ ARES IMPE WIDTH RT RUNE 21.2 AUG 8, 1997 12:47:16 .724 13454380 I UH .440 SREA% TOTAL AREA-1.3455E+07 RŤ HIGIU 34YE MIDTH estex. MUL FACTOP+1.0000E+00 .751 13290464 I PH .417 180.00000 TOTAL AREA-1.31905-07 MUL FACTOR-1 BEDGE-68 ♦ RUH # 219 AUG 8, 1997 1./ START -8.719 UPANC STUri * RUN # 213 AUG 8, 1997 12:49:49 START STOPFLY - 0.700 2 PPM S.S.W AUG 8, 1997 . RŲN¤ 219

1.1.1.200

АRCAX RT ARCA ТУРЕ UIOIN ARCAX .176 134967 вр. 117 .51291	9 ⁴⁴ 9953
.417' 88964 PU .112 .33609 1.009 25635664 UU .584 97.42246 2.866 454323 I UP .223 I.72655	RUM# 15 JUN 19, 1997 13,
TÖIRL AREA-2.6314E-07 HUL FRCIOR-1.6000E-00	RT ARER TYPE UIDTH R 1.115 64409184 SBH .530 96.3 1.983 151837 SHH .163 2.2: 2.170 895535 ISHH .138 1.3
	TOTAL ARCA+6.68152-07 Mul Factor-1.00006-00
• RUN # 13 JUN 19, 1997 13:10:16 · Start	
6.528 16 Pimc D.P. H20	
, 24 Olivo,	♥ RUH # 16 JUN 19, 1997 13:28: START
RUNA 13 JUN 19, 1997 13/18/18	
AREAX Rt area type utoth areax	STOP
.115 134698 80 008 22231 .920 40876736 VU 525 95.07111 1.004 1235571 VU 106 2.40341	RUH# 16 JUH 19, 1997 13:20
2.006 1162103 I UH .212 2.26050	RREAX RT AREA TYPE WIDTH ARE
101AL RREA-5.14095-07 1UL FRCTOR-1.00685-60	.306 87782 BP .097 .147 .560 336111 PP .281 .564 1.360 59073664 ISP8 .506 99.287
	- TOTAL AREA-5.94985-07 Mul Factor-1.00005-00
▶ RUH # 14 JUN 19, 1997 13:13:04 Start	
6.943 1611MC 0.0-140	•
4213	• RUN # 17 JUH 19, 1997 13:29:31 START 0_075
20H8 14 JUN 19, 1997 13:13:64	510P
NREAX Ri Area Type Uidth - Areax .943 42967488 I 88 .479 108.008	RUNE 17 JUN 19, 1997 13:2417
01AL AREA-4.29676-07	AREAX RT AREA TYPE WIDTH RREAL
<i>,</i>	.075 58995 88 .137 .09825 .614 52352 PH .072 .08805 1.112 65258200 ISMM .546 99.82978
	TOTAL AREA+6.5370E-97

•

• RUN # 34 JUN 19, 1997 14:28:29 START 222 1.028 16 PPMC S-S H2O STOP RUN# 34 JUN 19, 1997 14:29:29 REAX R1 AREA TYPE WIDTH AREAX .222 4970896 BP .639 4,85024 1.028 95555008 ISPH .617 95.14976 TOTAL AREA-1.0043E-BO HUL FACTOR+1.0000E+80 . RUN # 35 JUN 19, 1997 14:31:29 START 2 8 1 4 1.01516 Port Sister STOP 35 JUH 19, 1997 14:31:29 RUN# AREA% RT AREAX ARCA TYPE W10TH BP .173 .26322 .141 191350 .094 .86859 47197 PP -.\$28 1.015 68668672 ISPH .508 99,66829 TOTAL AREA-6.8897E-87 HUL FACTOR+1,0000E+00 RUN # JUN 19, 1997 14:34:06 36 START Z<u>8.355</u> B. 990 KAPME SS BZO STOP RUN# 36 JUN 19, 1997 14:34:06 AREAX ŔĨ RECA TYPE WIDTH RREAX 66918 8P 73275 PP .215 .082 .10742 .538 .074 .11762 .990 62158016 ISPH 511 TOTAL BREA-6.22962+07 MUL FACTOR-1.00002+00

. •

•

.

2,295 410965 ISHH .146 .45998		
10TAL REEA-8.9315C-87		
MUL FACTOR-1.0000E+00		
	• RUK # 39 AUG 5, 1997 12:03:05 Start	
	ST (16)	
• RVK = 12 AUG 5, 1997 12,14,51		
6.89624 PPM C 0.9.0	RUN# 39 AUG 5, 1997 12:03:0	
	ADERY	
	RT ARCA TYPE UTOTH AREAT	
RUN# 42 RUG 5, 1997 12+14+51 *	.160 195873 80 .100 .15997 .926 64754080 VU .723 97.84326	
ARCAX	2.161 1321489 I UH ,327 1.9967?	
RI AREA TYPE UIDIH AREAX .274 211507 PH .111 23424	TOTAL APCA-6.6191E+07	
.890 88195456 ISHN .725 99.76077	FIDE (HC)UK+1,00002+00	
TOTAL AREA-8.84072+67		
HUL FACTOR+1.8000E+00		
	♦ RUH # 40 AUG S, 1997 12-08-52 Start	
	.95	
	Sto498	
• RUH 1 43 AUG 5, 1997 12:17:53	's≭a⊉98 , -	
RUH I 43 AUG 5, 1997 12:17:53 START 	's≭o¢99 ∕	
• RUN 1 43 AUG 5, 1997 12:117:53 START • ••••• •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	"S≵Q\$99 , ~ ∕ `R⊔H≢ 10 AUG 5, 1997 12±08±53	
• RUN 1 43 AUG 5, 1997 12:117:53 START •	"5¥0#99 `Ruh# 40 Aug 5,1997 12:08:52 Areaz	
RUM 1 43 AUG 5, 1997 12:17:53 START B.878 24 FOM C D.O.W Star2 START AUG 5, 1997 12:17:53	"S¥0,499 . ~ * Ruh# 40 Aug 5,1997 12:08:53 Areax . RT Area 1ype uidth Areax .95 26211 8H .950 .82877	
• RUN 1 43 AUG 5, 1997 12:17:53 START •	"SX0499 "Ruh# 10 Aug 5,1997 12:08:52 Areax - Rt Area type uidth Areax .950 95729500 Shh .700 97.61029 2 200 9729500 Shh .700 97.61029	
• RUN 1 43 AUG 5, 1997 12:17:53 STRT • CD-0-W • ST8#2 RUN1 43 AUG 5, 1997 12:17:53 AREAX RI AREA TYPE LIDIN AREAX ART - COO ART - COO	"S¥0499 	
RUN 1 43 AUG 5, 1997 12:17:53 STRR 0.007 81982 RUN1 43 AUG 5, 1997 12:17:53 REAX RT AREA TYPE LIDIN AREAX .087 5156 68 .037 .00573 .876 69799336 SPH .762 99.67222	"S¥0499 	
RUN 1 43 AUG 5, 1997 12:17:53 START 2	"SYOR498 	
RUN 1 43 AUG 5, 1997 12:17:53 START 	"S¥0499 	
RUN 1 43 AUG 5, 1997 12:17:53 STRF 	"SY0499 "SY0499 "RUH# 10 AUG 5, 1997 12:08:51 AREAX .955 26211 8H .956 .02877 .950 95729588 5HH .780 97.64029 2.298 2265312 I5MH .388 2.33892 TOTAL ARCA-9.80432-97 HUL FACTOR-1.000862-86	
RUN 1 43 AUG 5, 1997 12:17:53 STRF 	"SY0499 "SY0499 "RUH# 10 AUG 5, 1997 12:08:53 AREAX .955 28211 8H .958 .82877 .950 95729588 5HH .788 97.64029 2.298 2265312 I5MH .388 2.33892 TOTAL ARCA:9.80432.47 HUL FACTOR:1.000002-86	
 RUN 1 43 AUG 5, 1997 12:17:53 START 2.007 START 2.009 START 2.009<td>- SY0499 - SY0499 - RUH# 10 AUG 5, 1997 12:08:53 AREAX .955 28211 8H .958 .82877 .950 95729588 5HH .788 97.64029 2.298 2205312 I5MH .388 2.33892 TOTAL ARCA-9.80432-07 HUL FACTOR-1.00000-06 - - - - - RUH # 41 AUG 5, 1997 12:11:54 START</td>	- SY0499 - SY0499 - RUH# 10 AUG 5, 1997 12:08:53 AREAX .955 28211 8H .958 .82877 .950 95729588 5HH .788 97.64029 2.298 2205312 I5MH .388 2.33892 TOTAL ARCA-9.80432-07 HUL FACTOR-1.00000-06 - - - - - RUH # 41 AUG 5, 1997 12:11:54 START	
RUN 1 43 AUG 5, 1997 12:17:53 START 	* RUH # 41 AUG 5, 1997 12:11:54 * RUH # 41 AUG 5, 1997 12:08:52 AREAX .955 95729588 5HH .958 .82877 .958 95729588 5HH .788 97.64029 2.298 2285312 I5MH .388 2.33892 TOTAL ARCA:9.88432.407 MUL FACTOR:1.000002-06 * RUH # 41 AUG 5, 1997 12:11:54 START * RUH # 41 AUG 5, 1997 12:11:54	
RUN 1 43 AUG 5, 1997 12:17:53 START 	* RUN # 41 AUG 5, 1997 12:11:54	
RUN 1 43 AUG 5, 1997 12:17:53 START 	* RUH # 41 AUG 5, 1997 12:08:53 AREAX .87 AREA TYPE UIDTH AREAX .955 28211 8H .958 .82877 .950 95729608 5HH .788 97.64029 2.298 2285312 I5HH .388 2.33892 TOTAL AREA*9.88432*07 MUL FACTOR*1.00082*88	
RUN 1 43 AUG 5, 1997 12:17:53 START 	* RUH # 41 AUG 5, 1997 12:11:54 * RUH # 41 AUG 5, 1997 12:11:54 * RUH # 41 AUG 5, 1997 12:11:54 * RUH # 41 AUG 5, 1997 12:11:54	
RUN 1 43 AUG 5, 1997 12:17:53 START 0.007 813#2 RUN 1 43 AUG 5, 1997 12:17:53 REAX AREAX 087 5156 68 .037 .00573 .876 89799356 584 .752 99 .67222 2.442 290188 ISHH .108 .32209 OTAL AREA-9.0095C-07 UL FACTOR-1.0000E-00 RUN 1 44 AUG 5, 1997 12:20:56 TART 8.532HR7MCD-9.W	* RUH # 10 AUG 5, 1997 12:08:53 AREAX .955 26211 8H .950 .82877 .950 95729600 5HH .760 97.64029 2.298 2205312 I5HH .368 2.33892 TOTAL AREA:9.80432.07 MUL FACTOR:1.00000:00 * RUH # 11 AUG 5, 1997 12:11:54 START 	
 RUH 1 43 AUG 5, 1997 12:17:53 START B.878 24 FOM C D O W RUH 1 43 AUG 5, 1997 12:17:53 RREAX RI AREA TYPE LIDIH AREAX 087 5:158 08 .037 .00573 878 69799356 SFM .762 99 .67222 2.412 290188 ISHH .198 .32209 GTAL AREA.0095C-07 FACTOR-1.9008C-00 RUH 1 44 AUG 5, 1997 12:20:56 TART B.852247700000.000 	* RUH # 41 AUG 5, 1997 12:11:54 * RUH # 41 AUG 5, 1997 12:11:54 * RUH # 41 AUG 5, 1997 12:11:54 START RUH # 41 AUG 5, 1997 12:11:54 * RUH # 41 AUG 5, 1997 12:11:54	

•

· ·

•

.

2

•

Ry4k 196 AUG 6. 1967 17:11 PSEA: BEER 1962 LIDIA APEA: 160 21-51 SU 119 SETSE 1.057 STIFIL SU 119 SETSE 1.057 STIFIL: 00 .557 99.64216 1074L 3823+9.59*6-00 MUL FAITOR: 1.06305-00	- Δυχη = 193 ALB 6, 1997 17125:50
* RUM # 157 AUG 6. 1997 17:20:50 START * SUCH * SUC	* 8:04 8 120 8:08 6, 1997 17:53:48 STAFT
$\begin{array}{rrrr} PUN = 153 & AUG 6, 1597 17:124:28 \\ \hline \\ STRAT \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ 0:0512 \\ STGP \\ \hline \\ RT & 0.972 \\ RT & 0.972 \\ r.133 \\ \hline \\ PUNN & 153 & RUG 6, 1997 17:24:28 \\ \hline \\ AEEA \\ RT & AEZA 179E U107H & A52R3 \\ .425 & 465532 & U1 & .106 \\ .45553 \\ .562 & 2596353 & U4 & .053 \\ .584553 \\ .952 & 38256214 & 34H & .252 & 42.03624 \\ \hline \\ 1.133 & 45966912 & IEHF & .438 & 56.10850 \\ \hline \\ IOTHL RACA-8.96942-07 \\ rUL FACTURATION$	* PUM R 151 RJG 6, 1757 17:57:12 STAFT J. J. 255 At PONC SS RUMA JSL RUG 6, 1997 17:27:23 AREAN ASEA TYPE UISON AREAN JSG SEAST 89 .072 .02273 1.355 9:52:6592 PU .904 97.71:21 2.1307 2027714 5 UN .361 2.12091 TOTAL APEAN9.22:592-07 HUL FACTORPI 00064:00

· · ·

i

A 1.0

Typical plots for 1, 2, 16, 24 mg C/L standards prepared in DDW and 35% NaCl solution

Note:

- The standards were injected (analyzed) at least 4 times, the peak areas of each run was printed immediately after each peak.
- The peaks that were labeled as SSW refer to the standards prepared in the 35% on NaCl solution and the peaks labeled as DDW or D.D.H₂O referred to the standards prepared in distilled deionised water. The peaks were of the corresponding standards prepared in the two different solvents (DDW and SSW) were placed Immediately after one another for easy comparison

.

· The operating parameters of the integrator were as follows:

Attenuation 2°= 10 Chart speed CHT SP= 0.3 Area reject AR REJ= 35000 Threshold THRSH= 0 Péak width PK WD= 0.50

sample Anderer's / Standards for alleration (DDW) 30/4/97

.

Pawer failed MRV 9, 1998 11:18:11 . A PLAK # LUSIE LINE PLAK NAPARATYS (2244 ANDER - RUMANA AND нац 21 🗉 1 11 их KHI SP = ны нет 📼 3511444 ERSKE RUSSE स्टार्थ्य = संदर्ध Ψ., PtutΓ ः चार्यः – * RUN & BUS MAY 9, 1998 11153136 STREE STUP ON ZAPARE DOW EDNA DHS MRY 9, 1998 TLASSISE нктих HREN IVPE លេះជាវអ ΗF HREHZ 76й тякбазаа г.8н. ъИК тий инини UTHE HEFTAL RESATARZ ^{та}ць т ногленствения

* RHN # 146 MBY 9, 1998 11.155:41

* RIN & THS MAY Y, TYRE IVINE NE START STOP

ПОНЕ ЯКЕНИТ ИЅЯ 26 + И2 ПОЕТНОТКИ ЕТНОВИК + ИИ

88092 FT - 98614-3926 - 60000 - 88692 875 - 14582358 - 684 - 554 - 146 809016

улла ТИК — ЦИХ АЙТАНИ ПОРАСНА

SUP BY STACDON

★ KUR II (NS - DHY H, INHS I):SHESS
STHEL

ТИТИГ ККЕН≖Ч 2420БЭ95 ЛЛП ТИТТИК≖Т ККИИЕ+ИИ

Ная адаайзе и ала ула иними На, нбен адае, палай иними Нбен адае, палай иними

PHUT 187 247 9, 1998 11:92:06

FRM = ЭМИ – ПАМ Ч, 1998 - ЭТТЯЗИВА

STRFL STURNER STRACTOR

MU FROIDE I BRANFFOM

ККНХ: КТ НКЕВ (УР) МОШЛН НКЕНХ КЧК ТЕКЧКАК Г.ВН КИХ ТИЙ ИЙВИЙ ПОГИГНКЕНКЕТ ТКЧКГ+ИИ

RUNE THE DRY 9, 1998 11(55:4)

¥ ⊭क्षा≢ ।।।सं लनप च, । वचते । ⊻क्षसः वय 51681 STOP H HAS SPOME SOW -, , ның жыңы MHY 9, 1998 17:08:49 ۰. ^۱ некн⊽ . RT HEEF IVER MULTE HEERS . - 894 - 219405 CK C PH - 574 - 144 ЛИЦИИ титып, некінах, тматлай. ми тыттысты министии . # FUN # 111 MHY 9, 1998 12:09332 STREE STUP N 447 SPPMC DDW нли≖ тл'ŕ MHY 4, 1448 12+84117 ዞሥኈዘጽ Ρ1 HREN IVPE LITERA 相關局部发 ម សនុសម្ភ 295 526 45 36173 THITHE REENEZ SEVELADY MUL FRCIOREL GOODLEDD * YON # 113 MAY 9, 1998 12:11:36 STHRE STUP N. HER SPAME DDW RIPHE LLZ MHA A' FAAR TXIFFIRE REERS HREATYPE MEDIA Areanaithe araite мc HRERS .ร่ผู่สามเหตุ แหน่ แหน่ NEW ZIBZMMAC L RH 14113位,日尾蛇路=2,1623位+67 МИС ГИКТИК≠1 .ИКИЙ€+ЙИ

÷

.

танин нийн≠х заатинил мастылаг≠а имин+ии

* KNU DI FFY - WAA AF TAAN FYJELMA ราษต์เ W Sha DPPMC DDW STHP yung ils NHY 9, 1998 12:16:08 HEFERX HPERIVEL LIDIE ЮB неснх NES SULLARAG (SCH THINK RECHARMATING Mar'tHeiox:1.40MMF+04 ٠. * MIN # 114 - LIMA A, 1348 17138123 51681 N. NYH LOPPALE DOW ฐานค 213N2 L14 MRY 9, 1998 12;18:53 HPERX НКСЯ ТҮРК ШКШИН E L HELH ANN SIXA7520 ISPH ւելել էրին երեն 11174L HREAPS 12881-07 MUL FREIGREI "NUMMERUM . ж ким и гле – ынд ай гаан гүзчтээд STREE 4.888 IOPPMCDDW SEUP RONA . LLG MHY 8, 1898 12721735 никна аараны, кырты ачуг негин Каракы, кырты ачуг такта Hr. HPERT ASS ANDER ISPH (DITHE REENAN, 4052E407 MUL FREIDREI MAGGEFNA . * KHM IF LLK - MRY 9, 1998 12:24:22 STHEFT ----

.

,

7148 MHY 4,1498 12/24/22 ะและ เมล REFER ет ағын түрі, шалғы несер 812 100 UUUUU THING HEARTH MAYREFMY THE THEIDERT DECKERENCE * FOU T IF, UHA A' FARE IT/SETT ST APT WOR SMAR I A MARKE A STDP. ныма въу NKY 9, 1990 12020011 ныкна NE HEER IVER DERIN HEERS NAR ARKETER FREE เหมณ์ เมษายน INTEL RECORD STREET MUL FRETOR=1.00008E+90 * WIN A LIN MHY A LAAN LY 33.53S FREI W. 871 SPPMC DDW ច ជាម ENNE 118 URA A³ FAAR 15133128 HHCHY HREN TYPE - MEDIN ИТ HREHX ART PERSENT TABL 111184 НЕСНЕК КАЗАС+И7 MUR LUCIONATIONAS+DB

* PUN & 114 RHY 4, 1998 12136157 STREE STUD ы.^{тарат} ...^{......} жалаажжа гари тара алары Кырг тара тара алары .8%6 THTHE HELHER BESKERBY MUL FHUIWRAL BUDBLABU * KRM IL 1770 - UHA A[°] 14AR 151%A*2F VIARE - 4.28 Dppace DDW erup ดเล่น เป็น URA A' TAAM TI'RA'RI RREAZ NEER IVER DIDTH REFERS Signa war ing doodd ы ANA YMRRANA INFR THILL BREBAY MASSERAY MAR THEIDER, MANAGERAR * KIN # FSF NHA A' FAAR TS'4SFRA STRET ---- WITHL ISPOMC DOW STUP E44748 1.21 NAY ATTARS 15145.88 BESHX. аларын таруун таруулаг алардаа алардаа Таруун таруун таруун таруун .781 68909696 18PH DUTHE REERAE REINEARY MAR LARCED. LOUDAL+UN * KOM # 122 MBA A' 1AAB 12(4%)14 S18PT W.SEY LOUPINC DDW SINP 840**4** 1.22 MHY 9, 1998 12:47:14 ығсах ард жаржүүүй сайб таан гайтаараа Ал тарах сабс тоолч нурмуу Ал тарах сабс тоолч нурму "另户者,另有已路受望的现在已已有 титны неслая азязыных

\$1821 ----- HING LOPPMCDDW STOP VARE LEK UMA A' TAAM IX:44:34 RECHK -РАЖ ЖАНААКТА СКРИ -РГА ТИКИМИРИ Б. Жари сабр тега тикими Г IDIGE REFERRANCERS MUL THETHER - L. GUMME+UM * NAK # 124 - NKA A⁵ 1888 15:25:10 VERME w. 414 20pmc DDW STUP 2UN# 124 MAY 9, 1998 12:52110 5645 KT HEEN TABE VIDTH HPLHX. .635 100.00000 WIN SWIYZAIK ISER TUTHE RPERAS STYREE МИЦ ККСТОК•1 МИМИЦ+ИМ . * MAN & FYR. MMA A' FAAR FYFRYFY **MOREL** K. S/Y 20 ppmc DOW STOP FARD 125 MMA A' TAAR ITIREIRE REALEX нc якся гурс ніста RECHX .879 74889394 FURH ADMAN FINT 224. THTHE HMEHAY REMARKED MAR FHEIDERT GRANEFON

.

* NOW I LIS MAY A, 1998 12:49:35

N-NNG 65PPMCDDW ST NP ente tus MRY 9. 1998 13:00:50 ынсах RREN LYPE GLUTR Rι RREHE SES LISIANSED ISER .654 100.00000 TRIBL BRENET. 16192408 MUL FREIDHELLBUNGE+BU * HOM & ISA - MMA, A' IAAR IRANGARA SIMEL H.HSY ZEPPMEDOW SLOP 90%**0** 127 WHA A' FAAR TRIMBIRA 再发发出的 ныят ΗL REFEATIVES TITATH .XXY LUYAANNU LYPH .s.s.e Luid Juddidu TITLEL HALRAL MARYLAWS THE FREIDERLINGBERGE - Абрана Год — ШАА А° ГААЯ ГА:Метер AT HET ----- W. YUZ THE XADWEDDW STUR e0aa t⊻s MRV 9, 1998 13:06:52 HEVER 2 £ t HREN LYPE DIDIN 日日に日か .ESN TAN'NAMON AAAA KAPAMASMU TARK 1211月11日代汇和61.2%共同2+112 COL FREIDPEL MOUNEFEE * EUN = 178 - MMA A' 1888 19104-55 STREE W.HSH DEPMC DON 4111

A 3.0

A Typical set of data for DOC analysis on a set of samples

Note:

- The seawater samples were injected (analyzed) four times, the peak area of each run was printed immediately after each peak.
- The peaks that were labeled as "No oxidant" referred to the runs that involved the acidification of the samples to guantify the measure inorganic carbon (IC_m).
- The peaks that were labeled as "Full FIA system referred to those runs (peaks) where the total carbon measured (TC_m) were quantified (both the acid and the oxidant were used).
- The difference between TC_m and IC_n gave the peak area (carbon signal) equivalent to the DOC present in the seawater sample prior to correction for chloride interference.

÷

The operating parameters of the integrator were as follows:

Attenuation 2⁺= 10 Chart speed CHT SP= 0.3 Area reject AR REJ= 35000 Threshold THRSH= 0 Peak width PK WD= 0.50

* RIN & ISN MHY 4, 1448 ISINAIAN STARI N 844 Ught house as (50

или тистикат кимираки или тистикат кимираки

1

Ì

миг хистэтк=э ммине+ин

нелих Гет нере отого нерех Уно котости стри бил тип инини

KINGH PRE DHK AT LARE LETERNE

STUP N. YAN Light house & 130

* RIIN # 141 MHY 9, 1998 13:18:18

нима там мну 4, таая татеал негих вт вкратура болта вкрах хи загиатах серь бит тим мюими тили времая стичками

HAY 9, 1938 13:12:24 KERENK * WIN # LON MAY 9, 1998 15:15:42 STRET STRET N H71 LIGHTHOUSE US SELACED

ТИТНЕ НЕСК=Ч.2415С+97 ППС ГНСТОР=1.00000С+90

4

FOURY FAILAR

Sample Analysis

.

-

÷

×1.6Z ાતમ બ, રબપ્સ ક્રિફ્ટ્રાયક્રમ PRACTICE AND A CONTRACTOR OF A HEFHY 844 REARING TORE - PAR FINE RANNING OTHE REPRESENCES AND SPECIES ПШЕ КЫСТИРЖТ КИЙИЙЕ+ИМ # PRIN TO 1.5.5 (CHY) 9, 1998 1.4.2.4.2.8 STREE H XVII Lighthouse on 120 N CSALIM 9069 135 MHY M, 1998 13123428 нка нх ¥Ι HREN IVPE ы стр. н **马台托马**洛 КЧИ КНУЧЦАЧИ USPH **ุ**ด⊿ ∖ุงห ห**ม⊎ห**ตุ THERE BEERS STREAMY MULTELINE*1 HUNE+HN ■ MIN # 134 MHV 9, 1948 1.5:29:41 START - 1 4114 Walnutelow opp/fur a 130 110.0 STIP Рани≖ т.⊰ч ાતમજ બ, હયુવસ્ હડા જુલ્લા HPA, HX ет нисн бунк шорун нисну 5-35 100 MIRENO SHM SHVARASZ LSPH DOM: BRIERS STREET мин гиссонка) инингэни . * MIN # 135 NHV 9, 1998 15:42125 STREET H HUI Habutelou applom A 100 STHP PHN# 1.55 NHY 9, 1998 1.5:32125 нкгих - Η F HEFH LARK MUDUH нкі нх RHA DEGRACHE POPE ази тий иниий

_{अस्तित} म्रान्स । तस्त लस्त⊽ सं, 1998 । तस्त⊳स्तम S HEL - M HAN Natoukalow ogg fra as 130 7 STHE enna 136 MHY 9, 1998 13:35:19 FRA HK ниян түрү шаран төргөх Булуу сунат бүт төм ийини ÷Π. SHY BASEZASZ CSEN LUCHT HMFH#5 SNAPP+NY กาก กละากคื≖า หนุกณา+หน . 137 MHY 4, 1998 13:58:13 * R1H1 4 мтны HALLAGE CAPER a 130 STOP Folix 137 NHV 9, 1998 13:58:15 REAX HEFE CYPE LOACE 21 HPEHS 895 - SM972978 - ISBP **БИХ ТИЙ ИННИИ** DUBL HPERS NS/SEENY лал кактикат имине÷ни - NOR # 138 MHV 9, 1998 13141584 STHEE H X45 Nabulation opplan as 130 STILL ¥141± MHY भ, १४५४ । ४: 4३ : स्व 1.68 REFERS E' f вина сурк молта нгу нх SSZ TAM ANAMA HHN ANTRATIC COMP TUTRE REFEAR BURSTARY мні Кналіцева мимиании

ТОГАС АМТАНЬ АМХИКНИЙ ИЛИ КИСТОВНЕ ИМОЙКНИЙ

STREE H BRA TRAVEL LODGE STIP 814N# 1.5M MHY 4, 1948 13:58:09 HEFE HA наян бүрт майсн ET. REFIEX над кайгаан (кар ธรร าหยุ่มนุกกล таты велн⊧у бирырниг так кактект инингзии ۰. ۱ ચાર્યોય πંદ્ર કરેલાય વ્યવસાય કરેલાયો વધ્ય ; STRPL - M BAS TRAVEL LODGE ON 130 SIDP P111010 144 HRENC екти таки полон E' I HRINX SSS STARSAR БУЗ ТИЙ ИМИИИ UTUAL BEFHAN INCREMENT កាម វាអក្សមុខ។ សិចិតិតំណា ♥ ≌ামন হাৰ। । ।।।রপ্রার্থর । বালরারের \$1981 - N RUS TRAVEL LODGE & 130 w faire PHN2 141 MAY 4, 1448 14-03-34 нян нд E L BRAH ANYA' MILITAH REFER 898 SIS89216 FORP сат тим иници UTTHE REFRES ISSAFLAR мні тинаток») ийрархии 🖷 МИМ 🛱 ТАХ 🗧 МНУ НУ ТАМИ ТАХИРХХХ STHEF - " HAS TRANELLOODE ON 130 1...

ини щ тим — лим ч, тими тими; каказына

14646 несяно уурьскул Мар растары арымский

жат жааляяле деы беда гая изаяля и, ныснулыс пісты нысит нысна илла гаа бйл а́глаан іалетаà

* RIN = 149 NHY 4, 1448 14415+144 STOP 4 898 SWA point n DO

.

THILD REFERENCES ANALYSIN THILD REFERENCES

нреля Вт. нрек сурб штата, акънх Уил Белбжита (урб) бър имини

RIN42 148 MAY 4, 1498 14:12:52

STAPI

ини и 143 мнч Ч, 1998 14:12:52

ARFERS BI REFE INE DIDIE HERE ARE RESARDE LARE FAR ING ROBOR MULTETIOKET ROBOREEN WILTETIOKET ROBOREEN MULTETIOKET ROBOREEN

MINUM 14% DHA ATTACT TAMAPING

ЫНГ ЦИСТОВСТ ГОДОВСТВИ 1111нг ньев-4 "Хезерстван" Кала Хазерстван (дер 146°нарааа Кала Саветски табел Кала 148 ина 148 Кала 148 ина 148 ина 148 года 1494 годалаа Кала 148 ина 148 ина 148



токаяраа,ткаріскі тым макараасткаріскі тым

ала салаан (1279) настала саласан (1279) настала (1279)

ландалар:техотону лим ландалар:техотону лим

аналы нараларын каларын аларын каларын калаларын калалар жылы каларын аларын аларын аларын каларын каларын кала аларын каларын аларын каларын каларын каларын каларын кал

REFILTED REAL FR ARM RET DRUGH

цинд туру пин-я ______ тинна яната жела с лем чел в лим * RIN I LAA MAN A, LAAS LAISZINS NAKI SINP H. SAS NOKADAN PANNAG SINP

ПЛИНГ ЖЕЕН-1/444де-04 Кал дааадаа гами тека голтлялал Малия и ниси илис ліпін жыенх Плия гаа ынд ай гала галадіяя

Tanana R

E RICH I LEA MAY 4, LAUS LAUSSILS

KARNX NUNX TZA WHA A' FAAM FAIRPITM

хизий илт тали дал найн ти Вовругил хэм нүст хүүх боос

TUTHE RECHEY SERVACENY THE FREIDREY DUDGEEUN

THE INCLUSE LUNDEFUN

* HUN # 151 NAY 9, 1998 14141,29 STARI STARI STUDY W. JANY NOVEN (RENAR ON 130

RINKE LEL MAY 9, 1998 14,41:29

HEEHX

- ME HREA (VPE LICEH HREAK 100000,000 KEA LICEH SRAFER

ПЛІЯЦ НАСА:8.81456+07 Пац Гасірк-1.90006+09

RIN # 182' MAY 9. LANS LAIAAIZA H. MAR Naver hubro 130

RHHA 152 NHA AF FRAM THIRAISA HREHX HREA (VPE DIDIR R C HFERZ чик изсечный ссей NUSAN, NUT 223. LUIAL BREAMS CASSAC-MZ MUL FRETOR=1 DAGGE-00 * NUL # 183 DHA A' 1948 14448:32 STARE 1.905 Vavesi Rover . SUP . MAY 9, 1998 14:49:25 FUNE 153 HRENZ ¥Γ HPEA CYPE UCOTH HREHZ .៩៩៖ សេច.សេខធម .905 87431552 (588 KUTHE HREAFE V432C+07 NUL FRETUREL, DODDE-DU ■ KIN # LS4 MAY 9, 1998 14:52:12 S CREI W. SHU Nami Porer STUM FUN# 154 MHV 4, 1448 14:5Z:17 нысна wг HEER IVER LICUTA BREAK .894 KR268922 (S2P 533 100 66668 FUTHE HREH-B .B2E9E+87 RUL FACIOR=1.000002+00 ★ Kith # FRE UNA A* TAAN F4+25+38 STHRE - H. HAV Naver Rus Tradamaha 730 SCOP KUNZ 155 URA AT 1688 14165188 4950-

i.

W DATE RI BRUER DYPEN MUSICE Adia RATESBAR ISSH 735 เหตุเลยลดส CUITHE HPERSHIELSER MUL FACIOR-1.000002+30 ុ មុខនេត 51.45 a NDM 2 198 MAY 9, 1992 15141(B1 STARE - H.SIS TRULEWING MIND -----STOP , N ⊭ian≖ 1≦6 URA A' 1448 1819191 មមួយមិន PC неся суре церти нревх BIN NEELYZYK ISPH .633 100.00000 THYRE RECHESING 290 + 47 MUL TRC/08=1.00000E+00 ★ MURIE 197 MRV 9, 1998 15:04:18 STREET STUP MHA સે ાગેટલ કટેકેશનાટલ MARA 157 HEFERZ HPEN (YPE UIDIN 6PCHX Юľ .632 134.06886 .448 55657828 (SCH THING REERES RESERVED. MAL LACIDES, BERRESHE . # KRW F ISS - MMA A' ISAN ISINATIS START W. SHY Traderfinds รานศ NHA A³ TAAR IR:MAIJA RANA PAN HMENZ SECH IVER LIDTE некна R.C NUMBER OF SEA. HERE

RUN # 159 MHV 9, 1995 15:10:14 ÷ ्र संस H. YHY Trudentings 11J m 5 TS12 TRA ાત્રપુ છે, દેવલે દેવરાયરાય ан ГНХ HEER CARE NIGLE нрени $R \in$ ธาวมีเสรม เรียม нич сов.цизии .947 TATCHE REERES TAMAGENAR MAL PACIOPEL CONDEPON -* REAL & LEG MAY 9, 1998 15-18:44 STHPE W. NHA Tradewinds Full FIA SWITTM STUP FINE LEA MHV 9, 1998 1912144 REARS HF CH xĸr HREN TYPE LITUTH WAR SARAASSE CEPH PUCHE RECHAS WERRENT THE FRETOPEL DEGELAGE * RUD & 151 MBY 9, 1998 15/21/55 STREE William Wildles 3 415 5.524 5 721 7 634 8 440 4.574 14:19:4 行行 โรเมชา ธณะ

KUNT 161

.

MHY 9, 1998 15:21:58

THE LET					
55 72NB?	. 및 님 날	268	ы у былым	8.45	
	. ы. ы. ы.	SPB	ストオヨマス	, Mil€	
1.4.4478	1.556	E(1)	1/40254	મ કે લોવ	ų
1.28365	. 598	10Q	8488893	ւտ . գ.լ.ա.	ጉዞ
N. NZSLY	.481	1315	្រានដង្គមម	11.125	ι
-44us7		FO	4เปลี่ยศ7	11.445	۱IJ
.59255	792	0.0	718311	LZ Mal	23
.લન ડ્યા	414	υP	<u>स</u> ४७४४५	14.434	ι.
11.22718	.584	SPH	L-AL/528	13.811	$\mathbf{L}_{\mathcal{C}}$
12.42694	1,655	ыны	151455134	14.635	۱÷
.44767	.HIX	1386	1144446	15.887	ւս

насн гуме птоти

THITHE RECEAL 21296+18 FULL FREIDELLOUDE+03

PΓ

ዝሥታትአ אר אצפא נקר חנונות אצפא געע אנשטאג נסט געע געע געע געע אנייע אנייע איז געע אונטעע

алт бисійк=1 тарарғад. 1.11 сиг Насик=1 тарарғад.

STHEL

MUNIT 16.5 NAV 9, 1992 15:43:67

REFERS

มหมือเพียง มากอาการสารา หมือเพียง เป็นไปประเทศ รัฐษา (492) มหมือชารสรา

СИГНЦ НРЕН»7.4879Е+47 ПИК ГАСТОР=1.000006+00

* RUN & 264 MRY 4, 2448 15145145 START N.NZS Full PAR Suptem MUL FREIDR=1.80802+48 * FUN # 168 MHV 9, 1998 15:57:08 sraer. W. Waves herer 41.11 Full Fin System ត្តារកដ មេង MMY 4, 1998 15157:08 a de s 21 HPER LYPE LITCIN HÉERS ∴∕г войчибчай хевр .372 **198.00**000 **,** 1 .แ:ละ ละและเ...นชุมณะพอช ниц гнатонат. аврисаци * 550 B JEA _ MHA AP 1988 12126128 STREE. --- Win Namesi Rover Full RIA Super NAV. A. FAAM FRIPAIPA PORT 161 HEER RPER INFE MENTH HRENZ - 2 ALT IPPARISAN DERN (414 INN RAAAM THING HEREAL SUBSEVER. որը է եք։ ներ։ Դորբութող . ● ANR IS FUN - LERA AF FARR IPPRAIRA - W.1555 Nukulan Pansage Ruh PIA VEREI SLUP A SHOULD AND A MHY 4, 1988 18:64:59 NUMBER DOM HECKY нися туре атогн HPERX ъr .421 1.00.00000 NEW LEVELAND CSPH THTHE HEIGHT . 278 (E+ 68 MUL FREIDREL GADAL+AM

, pars--

NHY 4, 1948 18:07:51 RUN R 171 STRET Nukulan Parsage - N.856 Fuel Fin sutte STREE RING LYL THA A' TAAN TP:MA:21 ar £ 4 X HEER IVPE HIGH неенх RE SAR INERARE IZER .451 IRE URBAN THIRE HETHER READER Autually Tamavaai R HUL FACTOR=1.04400+00 ۰, SCH & FAX SHAA A' FAAR FFIJMIAR STREET " NUK Nukulan Kessage Full FIA System SIL FANE 172 - NHV 9, 1998 16:10:55 H F F H X ниен түрс птрін HREEX ×1 456 **เมน ปนุชม**น 848 172219698 (SPB HITHE RECHEL 2022C+18 мыц ГАСТОР-1,80000(+00 + RIIN # 173 MAN 4, 1448 18113129 \$1661 Nukulan Panage. Full Find Sigita <u>и ван</u> SIDP PURE 175 MMA A' TAAS ISTISTS HHEHE мę HEEN TYPE WIDTH RECEZ 84W 119954280 (SEW ុកកម្ម សេច សេចសារ LUTHL RECR.1.1985C+88 COF (HC:OK=1 'RROOF+DR KUR E L/4 MBY 9. 1998 15:12:27 មារអន់រ N. 85% sura points Full PVR Signam. STUP ġ

HFFFガ REFER LANF TOTOLOG КL HPLEZ TU:RE REEREV.V239E+WV AND THEIDREL BUDDEFUN * ANN T FAR, MHA A' FRAR FRANK, TY START - BASSESUVA Pend Full FIA system TUP ۰. FUNE 175 MRV 9, 1998 16:20:12 HH CHT AL HALFULADE DIDGLU HAFAX เมษณ์เมา ณหษะ ศระวาศ เรื่อง มหาริศษณฑร ระห THITHE RECRET SUBSCOUT MUL FACIOR: 1.000006+00 * RUN # 176 MHY 4, 1948 16:22:54 STAP1 - MUBBE Surapout Full Firstern STOP KIINE FVP MHA AFFAAR TPISTIAN HFCHX M | HEEN IVEL DIDIE HELBY WEL PERMIT ISER .รรจ เมช. มหมมม THERE REPART A LABOR MY HUL FREEDERL BOODEFOU * PON 2 177 MHY 9, 1998 18:27:43 21881 - W. MAN Naturkalon gro 15m Jull FIA supteus Sing MUNU 177 MAX 4, 1498 16:17:03 HRAHZ RC HEER CYPE MERCH. RPERT

service of a substantian

TUTRE BREARS .1453E+N7 THE FACIOR 1. AUGREFED & BRN B FAR - UNA AP FARE FRITAIRE 516871 Nelakelun opp/fr Fill Fit Erden • U.ST5 <u>s i ur</u> WHA A' IAAM IPITAIPE gin± 178 吊肘医肘关 Ρī REER IVEL ULUIH HPLHZ 1.876 чуашидан такк .546 LUU.UUUUU TRUCHE HERENEY COUNTERNY MUL PHOLORAL DUUDE+UU ₩ MUN π 1/9 ' MHY 9, 1998 1.5:32:22 STREE - 10 185.5 Naturalon app / Bu hill Aus-system. STOP 20N# 179 - WHA A' IAAR IPIRIS HYEN% Рì. PRER IVEL ដោះជាមេ REERZ WES VILLEREZ LEER REE LEE DUBLE LUING HPERSY,LISEE+07 MUL FREIDREI JUUDDEFDD ► RUN # 186 WHA A' TAAR TPIRPINT SINCE - N. NrsNiballalan opp/Sen Full Fip syptem STOP 计时间 เธน MHY A, LAAR TRIKE: BI A DESCRIPTION OF A DESC REAL $\mathbf{R}T$ REER IVPE ысигн HPERZ WAA PREPARE LEBH .ร71 โมษ์ เมษุบมษ FUTCHE HEERES SSAUE+ BY MUL FACTOR≠1.0000€+00

STREET. 19.1075 hight blem full First Synthem. CONTRACTOR OF MAY 9. 1998 LEISSIE 2688 181 BREBX ^ Нарани, воду турь, лісти, нарани, Карани, воду ула, чур, тура, нара THERE BREADS AREAST MUL (HLIUK=1.00001-00 . • * PURT 183 MHV 9, 1998 16141141 STREE. = H IS TH Lighthouse full FIA Sus have SLOP ROND 182 . DHA A' 1848 TRIAT HPENX HRER LYPE LITUTH R.1 нренх SYN KELZELAA LEN .596 138 .04000 TUTTE HEARS STATE MUL FHELDERL. HUNDERNE · RON B 184 MAY 9, 1998 16144114 ST 881 STORE 10, 545 hight heuse Fuel Fild cyptery PDRE 183 UNA A' TABE TRIANITE нысна R C RPER CYPE LIDTH RPEHZ .571 100.00000 NARE RETERED TOOR THERE HPERES CLEEKER THE FREINFEL NUMBERON ★ KIN ■ 184 , MRY 4, 1998 18147115 STREE SUP 10.825 highthome Full & Ne syoka
NUL FACTOR FERENCE NR JATEN NR+38088. F=9 CF13A JATEN

ж.

STRATE ISH MAY 9, 1998 16:58:24 STRAT STRAT STRATE N.BER NOSEAR FULFOR Sylem n

RUNT 184

.

narth Hard Lard True Meric Na Hard Lard True Meric Nae Vitelisen ert for Harde

ЫМР ЦНГІЛБаі АМАМРАМП ІПІНГ НАЕМах ТЛРАГАМ

* SDN Z 188, 1064 A* 1888 19121104 \$1481 H. 876 Norene Full FIA System ្រាល់ខ , × MAY 9, 1998 16151104 2000 185 HEFE BPCH CVPC LIGCH 25 RECENT WTE SELVANEA (SPH เรษฐ เลย เลยบอม THINK HEREY STARSEN HUL FREIDP+1.00000+00 ■ PUN 1 186 GHY 9, 1998 15:52:58 \$1881 - Nosere Full Ford size the STUP มาเทส 126 กษุ จุ้ารจร ระเรรารม RFLHZ RE HREN IVPE MEDIN HELEX .555 LUB.00000 WES STYRULDS LEFT THIRE HEEREAL CONDENSES MUL FHEIGREL MAGNERG

* RUR & LAZ MAY 4, LAAN LEISSIGE STRET NUM 4.841 NODELL MUL FOA System

KL REFULTE FLATE FRAME HARMY FRAME FRAME MINE FRAME FRAME FRAME

```
WARN ASCARZZ USER . SEA LAN MANA
```

A 4.0

Typical "Ghost Peak" plots for selected sites

Note:

- The seawater samples were injected (analyzed) four times, the peak area of each run was printed immediately after each peak.
- The seawater samples were neither acidified (measure IC_m) nor analyzed using the "Full FIA" system (measure TC_m).
- The seawater samples were analyzed under certain conditions specified on the peaks "untreated" (injected directly after filteration), "bubbled with nitrogen gas for 15 minutes" (degassed) and "bubbled with nitrogen gas for 15 minutes + moderately heated" (degassed and heated). The UV source was also switched on and off.
- The operating parameters of the integrator were as follows:

Attenuation 2[^]= 10 Chart speed CHT SP= 0.3 Area reject AR REJ= 35000 Threshold THRSH= 0 Peak width PK WD= 0.50

= 1 511 Light House No obsidant & accd hiv off 248 (0. 1992) 34:57:11 e na Ažk 357A' арла у ял цтала аяла ÷ ' - cornersontes - Prot 2 201 - APE 10, 1998 - DECEMBER The HERA Light House conditions as in 601 11443 NO oncidant & acid uv off (unrected) REP 10, 1998 04:59145 2.000 4.65. Arca√ at SPE 3 өөгө түрл, ЦТАТН 131 4764447 BP 418 188 83666 ... ғастағын айаағ+ай ■ FUN ± ANT APE (A. 1498 AE) ₽7.4FT still a data Light House as 601 acids uv off \$7.05 (Univerted) · 海岸中 王治, 王帝与王 《明书》的"王帝 ÷ (#5 407 10111 nista, appelaterente ったら、デニアでの第三日 みのみの日本の時 Proto a posto della 13, 1346, 65,64,57 11 A S 1 STAR AND Light House us Gel (univerted)

Ref 204 ALCO 14月 1日中午日 自用于自由于日本 2018 алары арара тарыны арары. Дарара пл тар ай тарарады - NAME LEARSAGE AND A SER REAL FERTAPES FORMAFFER And a 200 APR 200, 2493, 05:007:04 11487 in the light Hause as 601 No window & aicd, woff (Unrestal) 2046 - 20F APA IG INAP DE PIEIDA おおさんし AFT BEER INFE HIGTH AREAN 477 4463487 85 475 198 00000 TATA: APPALAGETERS. NUM PACTNERS DODDERPORT · FIRE E ROA APPENDED TO THE TO THE PARTY OF STREET CETTER Light House as No anidant & acid, in on, when the stee STRAT cunnected) PUBLE AGA BPR 10, ISBN 051101177 APPAL арға таға шілғы арғал E T FIR RARAD74 SP SEA 100 DODDB 1974) Areasteacora hup FACEAREL GGODE-OB FINE 445
AFF 16, 1958, 36411,133 STADE and a case Lighthouse as 606 NO oxidant & arid , us on interted) POINT SAC ARRING IGAS ARTICLES APF.6%

ge gerg right offite Affa and STEARID : BR 197 tan ang ta чулы дреантлеаата The FATTAPEL BOGOTERS , end a Aba Aba Aba the test the set 5.5 A 6 7 - Jerna Light House an 600 NO medant & acid, unin (univertal) APP 33, 1395, 05, 14,42 auna - 595 42231 AF ARRA MAR WIDIN ARRAS STHAATS I BR 357 600 49450 445 101A: APER.2246A77 194 7867798=1 000087+00 P(0) = 369
AFR 10, 1998
OS(16)37 START The a sea Light house as 606, No condent & Aul, Won (unwested) FINE ROG APP 10, 1998 - 95-14480 APEA (P.T ARKA JURE STOTE ARKAN HAR RECENTED CAR SER LOD BOADD FOTAL APPEARSTANCE PHR FRETOREL PRODUCED * ⁶100 # Atā — Apē 15, 1998 0512110 5162+ (River) and connected and condition on in 600, No verdou . (River) arm, connected) Ruus · 海南县 王莽、 主体有效 - 道式于2115年代 ARTA ÷۲ 998 - 2003 1199 - 200 - 200 9987 - 38036421 7 86 - 266 - 200 0.0000 APPEN IN ME HIDIN APPEND TAL SPEARED SEAL farturel Gassfron

L DIN B ARE ARE IN ARR USERALLY 27427. CRIVER CLIVER Code as 606, NO andant & mich CRIVER) in an CUMM-F-11 a coar Alter ARP 10, 1943, 05024615 2774 LT APPA CER LITATA APPA 177 ALEARTE AN EIL LAA AAAAA And a second seco SHARE FATTERS FOODERSO ▲ FOR # AND APP 10, 1998, 05,106,100 (River) WO OKIDANT A Kide START. uron, (unreated) Page 412 - APP 18, 1969 - ASSPASIA 4674 -INTRO APPRERENDANCE DIR FACTORIN DAGGELDA FOR 2 ASR ARR 10, 1998 05:07:46 STATE and Tamavue Dudge 45606, NO exchant a aid < 37.54 Prine 212 APA 18, 1943 AS(17)49 APLA. R T AREA INFER WIDIAN AREAN ARA ARITTA RE JAR YAN ANDON TRIA. REPARSANTON MUL FACTORAL ADDOTADS

山田市 (明山) (1934) - 20年11月7日) 日本 ବଳମ୍କ୍ ⊺ାଳନ ଘାରିମିନ କ୍ଳନେର୍ '୍ରେକ୍କଅପ୍ ଅନ 'ଟେ ରେଜ ରହନରେ ムカガキ : 7 . . . المراجع المواجع والمراجع والمراجع The area Tanavia Bridge 614 No oxidant, un off - F.A. 2 - 416. ADD 16. 1948 AR(30)49 17257 AF9 (A. 1942 A5:33:43 승규들과 지수는 제조합에는 수준물수가 LICE. 27 142 1447.198 L RP 304 (80 30000 e teas lastas Restrica. 963 FACTOR: DOADE+OA (TWW) Port = ATE AFE ID 1998 05140:00 arger. APE 10, 1993 051+7,00 F 20 5 5 5 42/2 207 A 1 ER ARTA TURK HIGTH 505 STI4'SK CEP 141 103 30000 total gapiliansaise Phil Fantopylo AAAAF-AA 프로그램 프로그램 프로그램 1444년 관람(19년)11 The Part Nabouxdon MH NO onidat & acid 55°C UV 23 37425 (untreated) 290 10 1944 06,45 PT Face 475 AFFA. AREA 1285 NOBTA APER . ē i 444 เดิด ดิติถิติมิ SAL COCLOSS 1 SP

ġ.

1016L PPT # 5361869 1.121、14年1月1日(1993年) 1.121、14年1月1日(1993年) 1.121、14年1月1日(1993年) L FRA E FIN APA 10 1998 ABLATIE 4 T 44 T is a Naboukelon MH as 620 No oridantaaich , w off (Untraction) 5 P.1.1 - APE - 2 G - 2 935 - 65447495 1224 - AFT - AFTA TVAE VIETA - AAPEAU 73-4 - TTA-4717 1 VA - TTA - 100.000000 HERADI ARE GREEFERED 11/1 FROTOR + 1 PODOE-00 Fills # 62.2
APR 100, 1998, 30(49)82 £ * 4 = ⁷ B 400 Naba Kalon Mit & 620 No wiedant & aich w off CUNKNELED) ÷ 1 1 E (H-B 45 g A . APER TYPE VIETH AFEAS TIT1152 I BP 405 100.90000 ÷ * 7014L AREALTINISS PHUL FASTDRAL GRADS-00 Polyter # 1812 HER 1881 1998 051951951 11411 TE BLASE Nabourkalou MH as 620 ----No condent parcil, w off (inherital) HAR 10, 1495 05:51151 ត ្ប_{ាង} 123 4×6×. APER TURE UISTH APERU 100000 001 195 198 199 100 = * 43E 10тец, АР дан токтери MUL FAIT DEAL GODEL-00

-

11445 Naboukelow m H & GLO No oudant a arid, wog CUNTRACT 468 30, 1986 - 09:65:45 4-2-1 AREA TIRE NIGTH AREA. ÷ 7 5.75 TA09875 1 8P 400 100,00000 10141 APER+1004979 801 Fastores 00000-00 - FUL - SIS - AFR 10, 1998 - 05:56:47 staer The 0.53" Natonkalow MH UN on No and Leverdand Jo"c (Univertal) - ARR 10. 1000 - 65:56:47 #000a 815 45 2 4 27 аяра түре, мерти 49547 1897 S112888 BU 1840 186 00003 TOTAL AREAWENDIESS NEL FRETORIS (80065-00) Rom a construction construction approximation 37.4d t ETTER U.SEE Naboukalou MH & 625 (Univertal) RPF 10, 1993 00168:65 PU la - 61e PFEA • • 1014C ARCAMIGN:138 MAR F-110F-1 00002-00 PDH & 61* AFR 10. 1993 05:01:00 START that we have by (Unreated)

No account raid won AFR 10. 1990 - 08-01-00 S 10 g 4 HREA THE NEETH AFER e 2 -3 1911-1998 2 AP 1916 1960 1960 ±.... = ±19 - AFR 10, 1936 -06:03:01 . 1 - 2.5 JESS Nahulaha MH A 625 5 No vecdant & aied; upon (Unheated) *Gran - 404 AFR 10, 1998 - 06:03:01 수준 근원. с т AREA TURE DESTR AREA -515 : 3 **2 2** * C. (AL) A REAL SQLUED. 39492 FAIT TORMIL 0000E+00 - Plus a gip - APP 10, 1992 - Od 106/10 e T 22 f Volantalese not, No exclant acid, uron (Universited) ಷ -_ ಸಿತಿ APP 10, 1990 - 06:03:110 4.1.1 ⇔ = ε = 9459 T 45 -11579 - 8556 z -E 4 5 4441747 68 1788 168 80000 F 2144 - 415444666797 17 44 7 - 1 - J - J - 1 60802+00 • Фу Фланца - 130 Анг (11, 1535, 06/10/11 Фланца With Not and No merchant and and un 50

P UPA - AFR 100, 1978 - 061133411 656

Neh Liled

LAND MARTH TOPE PERCH. AREA. 4.4 4004875 I EF 1154 1200.000000 1.441, 441,444005876 , дум и 681 — АРР 10, 1998 - 06:11:50 1-22 TTOP 1 FIL Nabulabu mit a 620, NO oudant & and No. bubbled, was 822 19. 1996 - 96:11:59 ಕ್ರಾಸಿಕ ಕನೆಸಿ 1224 2.7 APEA 7/PE NIDIH AREA/ 1511 0073801 T PP - 567 100.00000 10141 885845873802 MOL FACTOR=1.000005+00 Fight & GSE
APP 10, 1998 06-11-14-15 1744 T The Disis Naboulalou a 630, No undert kacid No-bubbled UV OA Puble 480 APP 10, 1999 06/15/51 AREA. # 1 9858 SYRE 112075 A254. REF HORRESH 2 EF 1840 100000 7014. 34244 A077524 1400 F4110F41,00000E+v0 And a size
AND 10, 1998, 08418-181 23424 The o set Wabarkalon mH a 630, NO onedant kacid N2-bulled, una. PUNE ESS APPLIO, LAPP DELEVEL Rec. 4.5 - AREA INPE HEREAL SPEAL -524 4086138 T 86 - 565 100.000000 SE TOTAL ADDA TOTAL

. FUR # 344 APP 10, 1998 07:03:11 The a see lighthouse or 643, No-bothed, No oxident a circle 17491 822 19, 1498 - 07:03:11 a jiya isaa 4=2A) 71 AREA 178E UIDIN AREA Geboolge tas, 95 i Seconds .530 TITAL APEARST70045 The U.SET lighthouse on 643 No-bulled, No onedant & Arch . Pun ⊨ 645 - 6PR 10, 1998 -07:05:02 etae C AFER? TOTAL APEARASSOGGO NUL FACTOF=1 0000E-00 * Post # 348 APP 10, 1998 07:08.50 N2-billed, No cuidant & red NV. off. The a set lighthouse & 643 ereet FUNA 346 288 10, 1943 07:06:50 APIA . aata. FT BEER TURE HEDTH .544 4370701 E 88 434 110 00000 TOTAL AFEA44970701 NUL FECIDE#1,0200E+00

♥ Run # 647 666 10, 1998 07.10,139 Start

L = 10 x 651 AAA 10, 1000 07:17:16 : - 2 2 -APP 10, 1998 -07:17:16 1 ALE - 151 4868) 11 ::: 9524 1.PE WIDIH SP24/ 427 3303285 1 86 260 100.00000 1997-10 455545303885 FILEN & LEI APP 10, 1395 UTILISILI TOPO 400 Wabarkabar Mith 45 651, NO orecident + arcul, Nr. bubbled + baled Reve 450 888 10, 1995 07:19:10 SPEA: IOTAL AREA-BOTESAL 1991 FACTOR : 000055+00 For a station here to, 1996 of (20) as 57 AR 1 - Naturaladou min a bit, No andante And , W on No- buddled + birled. Puna 255 APE 10, 1938 07:10:39 RESEL ÷ * 144 TEP: 221 1 SA 102 102 00000 TOTAL AALA-SETTALL MUL FACTOR : SHOAE-DO

A 5.0

Raw DOC data for the sites on each day of sample analysis

Note:

÷

- The DOC values tabulated were the actual DOC levels measured in each site on each sampling
- trip The rainfall data given were the actual data for the 3 days before the sampling trip. The sampling trips were intentionally made on fine days. ٠

A 6.0

Statistical analysis + sample calculation of the average freshwater dilution of the seawater samples collected

- Square root transformation
- F-Test
- ANOVA (Analysis of variance)
- Average freshwater dilution

Square root transformation

The raw DOC data had to be transformed statistically because the raw means and their errors in terms of their standard deviations (SD) were dependent on each other. For example, a large mean will have a large standard deviation whilst a small mean will have a small standard deviation. Furthermore, the errors were in some cases equivalent to the raw means. Because of the above factors, the data was transformed through square root transformation to stablish the errors (SD) and to ensure that their values are smaller than the transformed means.

Sample calculation

All the individual datum for DOC at sites monitored were transformed in the above manner. From the transformed data, the square roots means (SRM) and square root standard deviations (SSD) were calculated.

To revert to the original form of the data, the SRM and SSD were squared.

(SRM)²...... Transformed mean

(SSD)².....Transformed standard deviation

F - Test

The test was to determine any differences in the variances $(SD)^2$ of sample populations, (e.g. variances in the carbon recoveries of the FIA method used in the project and the FIA method used by (Koshy *et al.*, 1992).

FIA method used in this project :

Variance: 82.81

FIA method (Koshy et al., 1992)

Variance: 24.01

Ftest=82.81/24.01 = 3.44, F critical 6,6 = 4.2

Ho = The variances of the two sets of recoveries are equal, at 95% confidence interval. Since F_{test} is less than F _{ortifical}, we accept Ho.

Raw DOC data:

Variance: 36.60

Transformed DOC data:

Variance: 30.25

Ftest=36.60/30.25=1.21, Fcriticel=2.82 (95% confidence interval)

 $F_{\text{test}}{<}\,F_{\text{critical}}$, Therefore, there is no significant difference between the two sets of data

Raw DOC for each day of four replicate analysis for the sites monitored in the project

Note: <MDL, the DOC present was below the method detection limit of the FIA system.

The rainfall data was the average for the 3 days before sampling, the sampling of the sites was intentionally done on fine days. A period of 3 days was chosen because there was no information available on the flushing rate of the Suva lagoon. The rainfall data was obtained from the (Fiji Meteorological Department, 1998) in Nadi.

Sites	DOC jevels (mg C/L) on each sampling trip							
Date and sampling trip #	12/4 1	30/4 2	9/5 3	28/5 4	11/6 5	28/7 6		
Rainfail/mm	5.1	4.0	0.8	0.4	1,1	0,2		
Kinoya outfall	22.22	23.22	0.89	<mdl.< td=""><td>18.36</td><td>16.24</td><td></td><td></td></mdl.<>	18.36	16.24		
200 m Kinoya	32.02	28.31	2.81	<mdl< td=""><td>20.43</td><td>8.46</td><td></td><td></td></mdl<>	20.43	8.46		
Nukulau passage	22.80	23.63	10.60	1.13	10.24	2.40		
Centra	0.88	0.78	0.48	0.84	0.82	0.76		
200 m Nabukalou	25.37	21.57	16.96	0.18	22.23	14.27		
Mosquito Island	33.59	29.17	2.10	3.43	4.28	5.42		
Date and	5/4	20/4	5/5	19/5	20/6	27/6	5/8	29/8
sampling trip #	1	2	3	4	5	8	7	8
Rainfall/mm	5.1	0.1	1,3	0.4	0.3	0.4	1.8	0.2
	ļ					(
Nabukalou creek	19.30	0.97	18.35	3,92	<mdl< td=""><td>4,71</td><td>6.20</td><td>10.40</td></mdl<>	4,71	6.20	10.40
Vugalei bridge	6.88	18.07	5.90	2.39	0.19	0.05	0.40	4.69
Tradewinds	10.62	2.92	32.49	4.85	3.41	0.25	5.21	3.42
Tamavua river	12.06	15.98	10.15	9.05	<mdl< td=""><td>3.08</td><td>8.23</td><td>7,82</td></mdl<>	3.08	8.23	7,82
Suva point	22.6	4.20	20.49	2.09	<mdl< td=""><td>0,70</td><td>6.19</td><td>2.16</td></mdl<>	0,70	6.19	2.16
Nasese	16.31	14.23	13.91	3.71	<mdl< td=""><td>3,14</td><td>17.21</td><td>2.89</td></mdl<>	3,14	17.21	2.89
	ļ							

Analysis of Variance (ANOVA)

DATA FOR THE EFFECT OF HYDROXYLAMINEHYDROCHLORIDE ON CHLORIDE SIGNAL

А	В	С	D	A= DDW standards
2.398	2.88	2.795	2.856	B= SSW standards
5,139	5.635	5.338	5.528	C=SSW (IC) standards +
				Hydroxylaminehydrochloride
6.802	7.023	7.01	6.942	D=SSW (KHP) standards +
				Hydroxylaminehydrochloride
8.688	8.874	8.939	8.801	- • -
9.714	9,849	9.926	9.881	

Anova: Two-Factor Without Replication

SUMMARY	Count	Sum	Average	Variance
Row 1	4	10.929	2.73225	0.0509349
Row 2	4	21.64	5.41	0.0477247
Row 3	4	27.777	6. 94425	0.0102549
Row 4	4	35.302	8.8255	0.0115803
Row 5	4	39.37	9.8425	0.0083383
Column 1	5	32.741	6.5482	8.4688832
Column 2	5	34.261	6.8522	7.5894017
Column 3	5	34.008	6.8018	8.1421883
Column 4	5	34,008	6.8016	7.6724583

*	A 8.	~~	14	
- 24	പ	1.21	11	ε.
				۰.

w..

Source of Variation	SS	đf	MS	F	P-value	F crit
Rows	127.3876 02	4	31.8469	3673.099	2.06632E-18	3,25916005
Columns	0.282449	3	0.09415	10,858891	0.000978664	3,4902996
Error	0.104043 7	12	0.00867			
Total	127.7740 96	19				

CARBON RECOVERIES OF MODEL ORGANIC COMPOUNDS VIA THREE METHODS

Compound	FIA (Project)	KOSHY	BECKMAN
Citric acid	102.8	106	108
Thiourea	101.9	101	100
Sodium	94,9	102	106
acetate			
кнр	105	103	0
Urea	105.9	104	102
D-Giucose	93,4	96	102
Nicotinic acid	80.3	92	100

Aneva: Two-Factor Wilhout Replication

SUMMARY	Count	Sum	Average	Variance
Row 1	3	316.8	105.6	6.88
Row 2	3	302.9	100.9 66 7	0.903333333
Row 3	3	302.9	100.9667	31.60333333
Row 4	3	208	69.33333	3606.333333
Row 5	3	311.9	103.9667	3.803333333
Row 6	3	291.4	97.13333	19.45333333
Row 7	3	272.3	90.76667	98.16333333
Column 1	7	684.2	97.74286	82.20952381
Column 2	7	704	100.5714	23.95238095
Column 3	7	618	88.28571	1524.571429

Source of Variation	SS	ď	MS	F	P-value	Forit
Rows	2829.666 667	6	471.6111	0.813738365	0.57926739	2.99611713
Columns	579.5466 667	2	2 8 9.77 3 3	0.499987538	0.618631967	3.88529031
Error	6954,733 333	12	579,5611			
Total	10363.94 667	20				

MEASUREMENT OF CHLORIDE INTERFERENCE ON CARBON SIGNAL

DDW	SSW
0.384	1.023
0.595	1.209
0.951	1.655
0.964	1.363
1.268	1.692
1.778	2.378
3.479	3.686
6.319	6.597
8.843	8.943

Anova: 7wo factor r	without eplication			
SUMMARY	Çount	Sum	Average	Variance
Row 1	2	1.407	0.7035	0.2041605
Row 2	2	1.804	0.902	0.188498
Row 3	2	2.606	1.303	0.247808
Row 4	2	2.327	1.1635	0.0796005
Row 5	2	2.96	1.48	0.089888
Row 6	2	4.156	2.078	0.18
Row 7	2	7.165	3.5825	0.0214245
Row 8	2	12.916	6.458	0.038642
Row 9	2	17.786	8.893	0.005
Column 1	9	24.581	2.731222	8.774995444
Column 2	9	28.546	3.171778	7.770679694

ANOVA	_					
Source of Variation	\$5	đf	MS	F	P-value	F crit
Rows	132.1837 81	8	16.52297	727,8036567	1.2365E-10	3.43810314
Columns	0.873401 389	1	0.873401	38.47157161	0.00025871	5.31764499
Error	0.181620 111	8	0.022703			
Total	133.2388 025	17				

•

FIA SYSTEM (TRANSFORMED DOC AVERAGES) AND AVERAGE DOC DATA FROM $^\circ$ SHIMADZU 2000-UV HTCO UNIT

Site	FIA method DOC mg/L	Shimadzu 2000-UV DOC mg/L	HTCO unit
Kinoya outfall	13	12	
200m Kinoya outfall	16	11	
Nukulau passage	9	9	
Centra hotel	0.8	0.8	
200m Nabukalou creek	18	1	
Mosquito island	18	Ó	
Tradewinds	8	3	
Vugalei bridge	5	3	
Tamavua river	8	2	
Nabukalou creek	7	11	
Nasese	4	Ó	
Suva point	7	1	

Anova: Two-Factor With

Without Replication

SUMMARY	Count	Sum	Average	Variance
Row 1	2	25	12.5	0.5
Row 2	2	27	13.5	12.5
Row 3	2	18	9	0
Row 4	2	1.6	0.8	0
Row 5	2	19	9.5	144.5
Row 6	2	18	9	162
Row 7	2	11	5.5	12.5
Row 8	2	8	4	2
Row 9	2	10	5	18
Row 10	2	18	9	8
Row 11	2	4	2	8
Row 12	2	8	4	18
Column 1	12	113.8	9,48333	31.13061
Column 2	12	53.8	4.48333	22.76697

ANOVA

Source of Varia	ation SS	dī	MS	F	P-value
Rows	356.8733333	11	32.443	1.512175	0.252037
Columns	150	1	150	6.991525	0.022824
Error	236	11	21.4545		
Total	742.8733333	23			